AGENDA
BREVARD CITY COUNCIL – REGULAR MEETING
Tuesday, January 21, 2020 – 7:00 P.M.
City Council Chambers
A. Welcome and Call to Order
B. Invocation
The Rev. Anne Bridgers, Interim Rector, St. Philips Episcopal Church

C. Pledge of Allegiance
D. Certification of Quorum
E. Approval of Agenda
F. Approval of Minutes

1. November 18, 2019 Regular Meeting ............................................................................................ 4
2. December 2, 2019 Organizational Meeting ................................................................................. 16

G. Certificates / Awards / Recognition - None
H. Public Hearing(s) - None
I. Public Participation
J. Special Presentation(s)

1. City of Brevard Annual Independent Audit for Year Ending June 20, 2019 ................. 30

K. Consent and Information
1. Staff Reports:
a. Financial Report for month ending December, 2019 ................................................. 130
b. Public Works Monthly Report, October & November, 2019 ................................... 152
c. Brevard Fire Department Annual Report ........................................................................ 217
2. Resolution Approving Property Tax Releases December 2019....................................... 220
3. Tax Settlement Report for month ending December 2019 ............................................... 222
4. Chapter 160(d) Statute Update ..................................................................................................... 227
5. Ordinance-FY19-20 Budget Amendment No. Three .............................................. 241
6. Cathey’s Creek Stream Restoration Contract Award ............................................. 244
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7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.

Council Public Safety Committee Minutes-March 12, 2019 ............................................. 282
Council Downtown Master Plan Committee Minutes-September 25, 2019 ............... 287
Council Parks, Trails & Recreation Committee Minutes-October 16, 2019 ................ 290
Council Finance & Human Resources Committee Minutes-October 17, 2019 .......... 299
Mary C. Jenkins Community Center Task Force Minutes-October 22, 2019 .............. 302
Mary C. Jenkins Community Center Task Force Minutes-November 19, 2019 ......... 305
Council Parks, Trails & Recreation Committee Minutes-November 20, 2019........... 308
Correspondence (No Action. Offered as information only.)
a. City-County Building Permit Activity Report Year Ending Dec. 31, 2019 ......... 343
b. Save the Date-Arts in March ................................................................................................. 354

L. Unfinished Business - None
M. New Business
1. Resolution-Fixing a Date of Public Hearing-Transylvania County Historical
Society...................................................................................................................................................... 358
2. Update on Skate Park ........................................................................................................................ 362
3. Appeal of William Robinson – Junk Cars ................................................................................... 381
4. Board and Committee Appointment(s): ................................................................................... 386
 ABC Board
 Parks, Trails & Recreation
 Planning Board

N. Remarks / Future Agenda Considerations
O. Closed Session(s)
1. Economic Development: GS § 143-318.11. (a)(3) (4) ...............................................................
2. Potential Litigation: GS § 143-318.11. (a)(3) ...............................................................................
3. Property Acquisition: GS § 143-318.11. (a)(3)(5) .....................................................................

P. Adjourn
Agenda Posted, Website, Sunshine List (January 14, 2020)
J. Murray, City Clerk

To review Agenda materials, go to the City’s website www.cityofbrevard.com. Select “Your Government” tab
followed by “Council Agenda Packet” tab. Agenda packet materials are posted on Thursday afternoon prior to
Council’s Monday meeting.
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MINUTES
BREVARD CITY COUNCIL
Regular Meeting
November 18, 2019 – 7:00 PM
The Brevard City Council met in regular session on Monday, November 18, 2019,
at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers of City Hall with Mayor Jimmy Harris presiding.
Present – Mayor Jimmy Harris, Mayor Pro Tem Mac Morrow, Council Members
Charlie Landreth, Maurice Jones, Maureen Copelof, and Gary Daniel.
Staff Present – City Attorney Michael Pratt, Jim Fatland, Finance Director and
City Manager, City Clerk Jill Murray, Deputy Finance Director Tom Whitlock, Executive
Assistant to City Manager Denise Hodsdon, Fire Chief Bobby Cooper, Planning Director
Paul Ray, Planner Aaron Bland, Police Officer Will Creasman, and Public Works Director
David Lutz.
Press – Matthew McGregor, Transylvania Times
A. Welcome and Call to Order – Mayor Harris called the meeting to order,
welcomed those present and introduced Council members, Manager, Attorney and City
Clerk.
B. Invocation – Pastor Richard Jelley of Brevard Wesleyan Church, offered an
invocation.
C. Pledge of Allegiance – Mayor Harris led in the Pledge of Allegiance.
D. Certification of Quorum - The City Clerk certified a quorum present.
E. Approval of Agenda – Michael Pratt asked that a deed of correction for
property that is being given to the City be added to Consent and Information and two
property acquisitions and one personnel matter be added to Closed Session. The Mayor
also added Board and Committee Appointments to the agenda. Mr. Landreth moved,
seconded by Mr. Jones, the agenda be approved as amended. Motion carried
unanimously.
F. Approval of Minutes – Mr. Morrow moved, seconded by Mr. Daniel, the
October 21, 2019 minutes and the November 6, 2019 Fall Retreat minutes be approved
as presented. Motion carried unanimously.
G. Certificates / Awards / Recognition –
G-1. Proclamation 2019-17. I Heart BC Day. Mayor Harris read the
proclamation aloud and presented it to President David Joyce and Director of
Development Jeff Joyce.
PROCLAMATION NO. 2019-17
I Heart BC Day on December 3, 2019
WHEREAS, the Tuesday following Thanksgiving is being celebrated as I Heart BC Day, a day to
celebrate the vital role that Brevard College plays in the artistic and educational culture that makes the
city of Brevard unique; and
WHEREAS, Brevard College strengthens our city by serving as an economic engine, employing
over 200 people, hosting more than 700 students who patronize local businesses and non-profits, and
generating over $36.4 million annually*; and
WHEREAS, Brevard College also serves as a front porch to the City of Brevard and Transylvania
County by welcoming residents and visitors to experience the beauty and hospitality of the campus and
partnering with many local organizations to bring outstanding speakers and arts events to our city
throughout the year; and
WHEREAS, The City of Brevard promotes and supports education for its citizens and Brevard
College, the “School of Opportunity in the Mountains,” is committed to educating a future generation of
students who will continue to serve Western North Carolina;
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NOW, THEREFORE, I, Mayor Jimmy Harris and the Brevard City Council do hereby proclaim and
recognize that Tuesday, December 3, 2019 is I Heart BC Day, and encourage all citizens in Brevard to
demonstrate their appreciation of Brevard College.
Adopted and approved this the 18th day of November, 2019.

H. Public Hearing(s) –
H-1. Proposed Amendments to UDO Chapter 15-Boards and Commissions
& Chapter 16-Administration.
Mr. Ray explained that following the Board’s retreat meeting in February,
Planning Board Chair Jimmy Perkins submitted a letter to the Mayor and City Council
advocating for the reinstatement of the Technical Review Committee (TRC) and the
Community Appearance Committee (CAC). In 2014, the TRC was abolished by
Ordinance 2014-25 after complaints from the development community that the
Committee was slowing down the permit review process. Staff believes that overall the
additional time reviewing major projects is time well spent. Furthermore, the lack of
this committee places undue burden upon Planning Staff by forcing them to make
decisions that others are more qualified to address. Reinstating the TRC with the
proposed modifications will increase accountability for Staff and from every committee
member.
Public Hearing Public Participation – None.
Public Hearing Closed – There being no further questions or comments, Mayor
Harris closed the hearing at 7:34 PM.
H-2. Official Zoning Map Amendment-Finkl.
Mr. Bland explained that on May 16, 2019, an application was submitted by
Connie Chase on behalf of Lillian Finkl to request a map amendment (rezoning) for two
parcels of land in the ETJ on Deavor Road in Pisgah Forest. The request is to eliminate
the split zoning and make all of both parcels CMX. Staff believes the current zoning,
despite the split-zoning, is rational given the very different natures of Hendersonville
Highway and Deavor Road. The Planning Board heard this request and tabled the
request for further consideration.
Mayor Harris said this property is not in the City limits and to make the land
usable, it would require to bring sewer and water there which automatically triggers an
annexation. Normally, they ask for voluntary annexation and I think that’s a smoother
track for you and your client.
Public Hearing Public Participation – None.
Public Hearing Closed – There being no further questions or comments, Mayor
Harris closed the hearing at 7:53 PM.
H-3. Official Zoning Map Amendment-Tannery & Silversteen Parks.
Mr. Bland explained that City staff has initiated a map amendment (rezoning) for
multiple parcels of land that make up SIlversteen Park and the future Tannery Park,
located on Cashier Valley Road, Silversteen Drive and Hillview Street from General
Residential and Neighborhood Mixed Use to Intuitional Campus. The rezoning of this
facility to IC would allow more recreational uses, such as indoor and outdoor recreation
facilities, meeting facilities and a live performance theater. Staff recommends approval
of the rezoning as submitted and the Planning Board unanimously recommended
approval as well.
Public Hearing Public Participation – Ken Adamson of 159 Burrell Mountain
Road, said we just had the skate park turned down for insurance issues. Are there any
insurance issues here? I think that should be the number one concern before permits
Minutes – Brevard City Council Meeting – November 18, 2019
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are issued. Did someone check? Mr. Fatland explained that all City properties have
insurance. If we own or lease a property, we have insurance. We’re just changing the
zoning district.
Public Hearing Closed – There being no further questions or comments, Mayor
Harris closed the hearing at 7:58 PM.
H-4. Proposed Moratorium on Electronic Display Signs.
Mr. Ray explained that the City’s ordinance prohibits moving content on “electric
display signs” including scrolling, flashing or other distractions to motorists. Staff has
found that electric display signs, have become a popular advertising platform. Once
permitted, enforcement of the minimum 5 second display interval becomes extremely
difficult and that scrolling messages and animated graphics are distracting. Staff
recommends City Council adopt an ordinance enacting a six month moratorium on
electric display signs and instructing staff to work with the Planning Board on a
recommendation to City Council within that period of time.
Public Hearing Public Participation – None.
Public Hearing Closed – There being no further questions or comments, Mayor
Harris closed the hearing at 8:06 PM.
I. Public Participation –
Kevin Jones of 135 Maple Street said that he is simply here to congratulate those
that were reelected, as well as, Ms. Dinkins who is newly elected. Thank you.
Susan Sunflower of 102 College Station spoke on climate change. Ms. Sunflower
felt the City could work many areas but that mitigation and adaptation are new avenues
which she encouraged the Council to focus on and she wondered where the City stood
on her proposal. She felt that the City should form a committee that includes youth
representation, adult representation and using our community center to gather countywide involvement. She would like to hear a response from City Council, as well as, the
County and Rosman.
Ken Adamson of 159 Burrell Mountain Road spoke on paid parking downtown.
He asked if people come to pay a water bill or do something quick like getting popcorn,
will there be something set aside for those people? In other words can you entertain
the thought of having spaces for 15 minutes to do something like that?
Charles Johnson of College Drive spoke on climate change. He said that he is a
second year student at Brevard College and majoring in criminal justice. I came to this
college because of the mountains, the scenery, everything you have in this town is just
so unique. The climate started to get abnormal this year and it made me feel unsure
about what’s going to happen next year. It was 90 degrees in October which is not right.
There’s trash flowing down the French Broad, there’ s trash in the creek where I go to
my classes every day and every time I go for a hike, I see trash on the hiking paths. I
can’t love it if it’s thrown with trash.
Gavin Ray Morgan is from Haysville, NC and is an environmental science major
at Brevard College. I’m really passionate about raising awareness of the effects of
climate changes especially here at a local level. One thing I’ve noticed here is the effects
that climate change is having on our local farmers. I have seen these effects at a
firsthand level. Climate change has created an abnormal amount of flooding on the
coast but also here in our own town and these floods are extremely difficult on the
farmers because it destroys fields, it can kill livestock and ruin farmers equipment. This
extreme amount of precipitation has also wreaked havoc on our community causing
local roads to be flooded and making travel inefficient for the community. You can see
an example of this by the flooding we have seen last year in the DuPont area where
bridges and roads were closed and I just want to let you guys know that there’s people
Minutes – Brevard City Council Meeting – November 18, 2019
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out there who really care about these sort of issues and the people that it’s affecting.
My last point is if climate change is a hoax, wouldn’t you still like to have a cleaner
option than coal and oil and help the community.
J. Special Presentation(s) – Oath of Office of Planning Director Paul Ray.
City Clerk Jill Murray presented the Oath of Office to Paul Ray.
State of North Carolina
County of Transylvania
City of Brevard
I, Paul C. Ray , do solemnly swear that I will be faithful and bear true allegiance to the State of North
Carolina and to the Constitutional powers and authorities which are or may be established for the
Government thereof; and that I will endeavor to support, maintain and defend the Constitution of the
United States, to the best of my knowledge and ability and that I will faithfully and impartially discharge
the duties of the Planning Director for the City of Brevard imposed upon me by law, so help me God.
/Paul C. Ray
Paul C. Ray
Oath Administered by:
/Jill Murray__________________
Jill Murray, CMC
City Clerk
Date: November 18, 2019
~~At 8:28 P.M. Mayor Harris called for a ten minute break. ~~

K. Consent Agenda and Information - Consent Agenda items are considered
routine and are enacted by one motion. Mayor Harris read aloud the items listed, and
asked if Council desired to remove an item for discussion, or, to add an item(s) to the
Consent Agenda. Charlie Landreth motioned, seconded by Mr. Morrow, to add New
Business items M1, M6 and M8 to Consent and be approved as amended. Motion carried
unanimously.
K-1. Staff Reports:
a. Financial Report for month ending October 2019.
b. Public Works Monthly Report, September, 2019.
K-2. Ordinance No. 2019-29 Twilight Tour & Christmas Parade Street
Closure.
ORDINANCE NO. 2019-29
AN ORDINANCE DECLARING A ROAD
CLOSURE FOR TWILIGHT TOUR
FESTIVAL AND CHRISTMAS PARADE
WHEREAS, Brevard City Council acknowledges a tradition of providing an annual Twilight Tour Festival
and Christmas Parade for the pleasure and enjoyment of its citizens and visitors; and,
WHEREAS, Brevard City Council acknowledges this festival provides an opportunity for family-oriented
activities; and,
WHEREAS, Brevard City Council acknowledges this festival requires a portion of Main Street (US Highway
276) and Broad Street (US Highway 64), and Country Club Road (SR 1116) to be closed for setup, activities, and
cleanup; and,
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH
CAROLINA THAT:
SECTION 01. Pursuant to authority granted by G.S. 20-169, the City of Brevard herby declares the following
temporary road closure during the day and times set forth below on the following described portion of a State
Highway System route:
Twilight Tour Festival
Date:
Time:

Saturday, December 7, 2019
12:00PM – 7:30PM

Minutes – Brevard City Council Meeting – November 18, 2019
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Route Description:
Christmas Parade
Date:
Time:
Route Description:

Main Street (US 276) from Caldwell Street to Johnson Street, and Broad Street
(US 64) from Probart Street to Morgan Street.
Saturday, December 7, 2019
2:00PM – 7:30PM
Country Club Road (SR 1116) from the Brevard High School entrance to
Morgan Street.

SECTION 02. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after the date of its adoption.
Adopted and approved this the 18th day of November, 2019.

K-3. Ordinance No. 2019-30 Fixing Compensation and Terms of
Employment for City Manager.
ORDINANCE NO. 2019-30
AN ORDINANCE FIXING
COMPENSATION AND
THE OTHER TERMS OF EMPLOYMENT
FOR CITY MANAGER JIM FATLAND
WHEREAS, in accord with Chapter 2, Article III of the Brevard City Code, the compensation of the City
Manager and other terms of his employment are to be fixed by ordinance; and
WHEREAS, Council now desires to set forth the terms of such employment in this Ordinance;
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BREVARD,
NORTH CAROLINA:
Section 1. RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT. Mr. Jim Fatland (herein after referred to as the “City Manager”)
was duly appointed to the Office and position of City Manager of the City of Brevard, effective as interim City Manager
on April 1, 2015, and has served since that date, becoming permanent City Manager effective August 17, 2015.
Section 2. SALARY AND BONUS. The City Manager’s base annual salary is hereby set at $131,004.00, which
includes a raise in the amount of $5,000.000, retroactive to July 1, 2019. In addition, the Manager shall receive a onetime bonus in the amount of $5,000.00, upon enactment of this Ordinance. This Ordinance will be effective until July
1, 2020 (but shall remain in effect after that date, month to month, until it is replaced by a new Ordinance or unless
earlier terminated by Council).
Section 3. EQUIPMENT USE AND ALLOWANCES.
(a) MOTOR VEHICLE MAINTENANCE AND GAS ALLOWANCE. In addition to the City Manager’s salary, the
City of Brevard has been paying and shall continue to pay to him monthly the sum of $200.00 as compensation for
providing a vehicle for his use in connection with the conduct of his office. This payment shall be designated as a
motor vehicle maintenance and gas allowance, and shall be paid in lieu of any reimbursement for actual mileage
traveled in the course of the conduct of his office, except as mileage for attending those Professional Growth and
Development meetings contemplated in Section 8, and other meetings or events job-related, outside of Transylvania
County, which shall be subject to mileage reimbursement at the then-current rate paid by the City.
(b) STANDARD OFFICE EQUIPMENT. The City of Brevard has been providing and shall continue to provide,
for the use of the City Manager, all standard and reasonably necessary office equipment, including but not limited to a
cell phone and a laptop computer, which shall be provided for business use at no cost to the City Manager.
Section 4. NO RESIDENCE REQUIREMENT. The City Manager shall not be required to reside within the city
limits of the City of Brevard or within the Extra-Territorial Jurisdiction of the City, provided that the City Council
retains the right to change this requirement upon due notice to the City Manager.
Section 5. ANNUAL EVALUATION. The City Manager’s ongoing job performance will be reviewed in 2020.
The evaluation shall include a written report and presentation by City Council to the City Manager.
Section 6. FUTURE INCREASES. The City Manager shall not qualify for or participate in any longevity pay raise or
Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA) pay raise plan. Any salary raises will be individually considered by City Council and
shall be based on performance, as well as other factors which are deemed relevant by City Council.
Section 7. PERSONNEL POLICY AND BENEFITS.
(a) 401K PLAN CONTRIBUTION. The City of Brevard shall contribute an amount equal to three percent
(3%) of the City Manager’s salary to his 401K plan, annually.
(b) VACATION. The City Manager shall accrue vacation as per the provisions of Section 7 of the Personnel
Policy, but Section 8 thereof shall not apply to him, and he shall be entitled to accumulate 320 vacation hours, instead
of the limits imposed on employees pursuant to Section 8 of the Personnel Policy.
(c) OTHER BENEFITS. The City of Brevard Personnel Policy shall not apply to the City Manager. However,
the Personnel Policy shall be followed for certain benefits to which he shall be entitled, to wit:
·
·
·

Health Insurance/Health Savings Account for the City Manager and his family;
Sick leave and payment therefor;
Paid holiday schedule;

Minutes – Brevard City Council Meeting – November 18, 2019
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·

Group life insurance, short term disability insurance and dependent life insurance.

Section 8. PROFESSIONAL GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT. The City Manager shall be permitted, and is encouraged
to attend appropriate professional and municipal functions, meetings, conferences, etc., as a legitimate travel expense
in accordance with the travel policies of the City. These may include the North Carolina League of Municipalities, the
International City Management Association, the North Carolina City and County Management Association, and other
professional organizations.
Section 9. COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT. The City Manager is encouraged to be active and involved in all positive
and appropriate facets of the community, including in his discretion, participation in civic organizations, charitable
events, speaking engagements and the like. Upon the request of the City Manager, City Council will consider an
allowance for participation in civic organizations.
Section 10. STANDARDS FOR BEHAVIOR AND CONDUCT. The City Manager shall at all times, and in all locations,
present himself in public and in the presence of others, in such manner as is appropriate to the person who is the
primary spokesperson and manager for the City of Brevard. In this regard, his conduct shall at all times be that of a
competent, truthful, ethical and moral individual, and shall be beyond reproach. Any conduct in violation of this
provision, including but not limited to a criminal misdemeanor or felony conviction of any kind, shall be grounds for
immediate dismissal.
Section 11. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT.
(a) VOLUNTARY SEPARATION. In the event that the City Manager voluntarily terminates his employment, no
severance of any kind shall be paid by the City of Brevard.
(b) INVOLUNTARY SEPARATION. City Council retains the absolute right to terminate the City Manager’s
employment at will. In the event that the City Manager’s employment is terminated by act of City Council:
(1) He shall receive six (6) months’ salary as severance pay in lieu of any other remaining salary. Severance pay
shall be terminated immediately upon his acceptance of any other employment. Severance pay may be paid in lump
sum or over the regularly scheduled pay days, in the discretion of City Council; and
(2) He shall receive an amount of money designed to allow him to keep his health insurance policy in effect during
the six (6) month severance period, or until he becomes insured by another employer, whichever occurs first. This
provision could be fulfilled by continuing him on the current policy, if feasible; or by paying for another policy with
similar benefits; or by paying him the funds Council determines to be appropriate to comply with this provision,
whichever Council determines to be most appropriate at the time. This provision will be null and void if he is eligible
for Medicare upon termination, and shall be voidable as of the date he becomes eligible for Medicare if within the six
(6) month severance period.
(3) No other benefits shall be paid or continued in effect following termination except as may be required by law.
Section 12. RATIFICATION AND EFFECTIVE DATE. This Ordinance shall be retroactively effective as of July 1,
2019.
Adopted and approved this the 18th day of November, 2019.

K-4. Amend 2019 City Council Meeting Schedule to Remove the December
16, 2019 City Council Meeting.
K-5. Adopt 2020 City Council Meeting Schedule.
Brevard City Council
2020 Meeting Schedule

Day / Date
Tuesday, January 21, 2020
Monday, February 17, 2020
Monday, March 16, 2020
Monday, April 20, 2020
Monday, May 18, 2020
Monday, June 1, 2020
Monday, June 8, 2020
(If Needed)
Monday, June 15, 2020
No Meetings Are Scheduled For July
Monday, August 17, 2020
Monday, September 21, 2020
Monday, October 19, 2020
Monday, November 16, 2020
Monday, December 21, 2020
(If Needed)

Time
7:00 PM
7:00 PM
7:00 PM
7:00 PM
7:00 PM
5:30 PM
5:30 PM

Type
Regular Meeting
Regular Meeting
Regular Meeting
Regular Meeting
Regular Meeting
Budget Work Session #1
Budget Work Session #2

Location
Council Chambers
Council Chambers
Council Chambers
Council Chambers
Council Chambers
Council Chambers
Council Chambers

7:00 PM

Regular Meeting

Council Chambers

7:00 PM
7:00 PM
7:00 PM
7:00 PM
7:00 PM

Regular Meeting
Regular Meeting
Regular Meeting
Regular Meeting
Regular Meeting

Council Chambers
Council Chambers
Council Chambers
Council Chambers
Council Chambers

Adopted: November 18, 2019
Distribution: November 19, 2019
J Murray, City Clerk
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K-6. Ordinance No. 2019-31 FY19-20 Budget Amendment No. Two.
ORDINANCE NO. 2019-31
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE FY2019-2020 BUDGET
AMENDMENT NO. TWO
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Brevard previously approved the Annual Budget (Ordinance No. 2019-14);
Budget Ordinance No. 1 (Ordinance No. 2019-XX) and
WHEREAS, it is necessary to make amendments to the budgets to reflect additional revenue, appropriation of fund
balance, and expenditures for Fiscal Year 2019-2020.
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
THAT:
SECTION 01) General Fund Revenue is hereby increased $136,032 from $10,993,425 to $11,129,457 as shown as
follows:
Increased Sales Tax
Transfer from Bjerg Trust Fund
TOTAL REVENUES

$ 130,532
$ 5,500
$ 136,032

SECTION 02) General Fund Expenditures are hereby increased $136,032 from $10,993,425 to $11,129,457 as
shown as follows:
Transfer to Pedestrian Path Fund
Recreation: French Broad Community Center
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

$ 130,532
$ 5,500
$ 136,032

SECTION 13) Bjerg Fund Revenues are hereby increased $5,500 from $1,000 to $6,500 as shown as follows:
Appropriation of Fund Balance
TOTAL REVENUES

$
$

5,500
5,500

SECTION 14) Bjerg Fund Expenditures are hereby increased $5,500 from $1,000 to $6,500 as shown as follows:
Transfer to General Fund
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

$ 5,500
$ 5,500

SECTION 23) Multi-Use Path Fund Revenues are hereby increased $130,532 from $887,702 to $1,018,234 as
shown as follows:
Transfer from General Fund
TOTAL REVENUES

$ 130,532
$ 130,532

SECTION 24) Multi-Use Path Fund Expenditures are hereby increased $130,532 from $887,702 to $1,018,234 as
shown as follows:
Railroad Avenue Project
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

$ 130,532
$ 130,532

SECTION 33) That Revenues and Expenditures Section 1 through Section 32 of the Ordinance Amendment have
increased $272,064 from $24,720,505 to $24,992,569 as follows:

General Fund
Water & Sewer Utility Fund
Utility Capital Projects Fund
Capital Reserve Fund
Fire District Fund
Terrell L. Scruggs Scholarship Fund
Bjerg Fund
Other Post-Employment Benefits Fund
Health Insurance Fund
Heart of Brevard MSD Fund
Housing Trust Fund
Multi-use Paths Fund
Wayfinding Project Fund
911 Communications Fund
Narcotics Task Force Fund
Rosenwald Revitalization Fund
Downtown Master Plan Fund
TOTAL BUDGET APPROPRIATIONS

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Budget
11,129,457
6,415,167
1,460,120
80,000
1,471,468
22,000
6,500
30,000
1,520,300
157,000
2,820
1,018,234
7,702
56,972
59,100
800,000
755,729
24,992,569
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Adopted and approved this 18th day of November 2019.

K-7. Parking Fees In Lieu.
K-8. Mary C. Jenkins Community Task Force Minutes-August 20, 2019.
K-9. Parks, Trails & Recreation Committee Minutes-August 21, 2019.
K-10. Council Finance & Human Resources Committee Minutes-September
12, 2019.
K-11. Mary C. Jenkins Community Task Force Minutes-September 17, 2019.
K-12. Tax Settlement Report for Month Ending October, 2019.
K-13. Resolution No. 2019-29 Approving Property Tax Releases October,
2019.
RESOLUTION 2019-29
A RESOLUTION APPROVING PROPERTY TAX RELEASES
WHEREAS, The City of Brevard has previously determined to collect
property taxes for the City of Brevard and the Heart of Brevard and it is necessary to release the below shown
amount from the city tax records.
BE IT NOW, THEREFORE, RESOLVED THAT: The Tax Collector is hereby authorized to remove October
releases for property values from the tax scroll of the City of Brevard in the amount of:
$_116.03
Adopted this the 18th day of November 2019.

K-14. Correspondence (No Action. Offered as information only.)
a. TCarts Gallery Walk-October, 2019.
b. October 2019 City-County Building Permit Activity Report.
c. City Council Organizational Meeting-Monday, December 2, 2019.
K-15. Deed of Correction-Lenze Real Estate and City of Brevard.
K-16 (M-1) Ordinance No. 2019-27 Proposed Amendments to UDO Chapter
15-Boards and Committees and Chapter 16-Administration.
ORDINANCE NO. 2019-27
AN ORDINANCE REINSTATING THE TECHNICAL REVIEW COMMITTEE (TRC)
UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE
CHAPTER 15 BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS
CHAPTER 16 ADMINISTRATION
WHEREAS, a public hearing was conducted on November 18, 2019, to amend Unified Development
Ordinance Chapter 15, Boards and Commissions, and Chapter 16, Administration; and
WHEREAS, the amendment was considered by the Brevard Planning Board at their October 21, 2019
meeting and recommend City Council approve the amendments as presented; and
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Brevard finds that the proposed amendment is consistent with the
City of Brevard Comprehensive Plan, specifically the following sections:
ELEMENT 4: LIVABLE COMMUNITIES
POLICY 4.1.I: Evaluate the City of Brevard’s current design review process to streamline procedures; clarify
roles, responsibilities, and authorities of the various review boards; and improve the overall quality of new
development.
and
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WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Brevard, after hearing all persons wishing to comment on the
amendments, desires to approve said amendment.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH
CAROLINA THAT:
SECTION 1. In accordance with N.C.G.S 160A-364, as amended and Brevard City Code, the Unified
Development Ordinance is hereby amended as described on the attached Exhibit A.
SECTION 2. If any provision of this Ordinance is for any reason held by a court of competent jurisdiction to
be unconstitutional or invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions of this
Ordinance.
SECTION 3. This Ordinance shall become effective upon its adoption and approval.
Adopted and approved upon first reading this the 18th day of November, 2019.

K-17. (M-3) Ordinance No. 2019-26 Official Zoning Map AmendmentTannery & Silversteen Park.
ORDINANCE NO. 2019-26
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP
OF THE CITY OF BREVARD TO REZONE SEVERAL PROPERTIES
IN THE VICINITY OF CARVER STREET AND CASHIERS VALLEY ROAD
WHEREAS, Brevard City Council requests that the Official Zoning Map of the City of Brevard be amended by
rezoning certain real properties, from General Residential and Neighborhood Mixed Use to Institutional Campus,
such properties are identified by the Property Identification Numbers 8585-39-1604-000; 8586-20-6574-000; 858538-1389-000; 8586-21-4208-000; 8586-21-5192-000, and which are hereafter referred to as the “Subject
Properties” and,
WHEREAS, a public hearing was conducted November 18, 2019 in consideration of this rezoning request;
and,
WHEREAS, the City of Brevard Planning Board considered REZ-19-007 on October 15, 2019 and
unanimously recommended approval; and,
WHEREAS, in accordance with North Carolina General Statute 160A-382(b), Brevard City Council finds the
following:

1) The proposed zoning map amendment is consistent with the following polices The Board forwards this

recommendation to City Council with a finding that the proposed zoning map amendment is consistent
with the following elements of the City's adopted plans and policies:

2015 Comprehensive Plan, Livable Communities Element:
OBJECTIVE 4.3: Creation of new opportunities for citizens and visitors to experience recreation and nature.
POLICY 4.3.E: Develop Rosenwald Community Park on the old Transylvania Tannery property.
POLICY 4.3.G: Create small parks within neighborhoods that provide all citizens opportunities to
connect with and experience the natural world.
The 2002 City of Brevard Land Use Plan, Future Land Use Map recommends use of two of these properties
for Public/Semi-Public/Institutional.

2) The proposed zoning map amendment is inconsistent with the following elements of the City's 2002 Land
Use Plan:

The 2002 City of Brevard Land Use Plan, Future Land Use Map recommends use of three of these properties
for Residential – Medium Density and Mixed Use – Neighborhood.

3) That the size of the tracts and the proposed uses are reasonable and appropriate within the context of the
existing zoning districts and the prevalence of uses in the vicinity of the Subject Properties;
and,
WHEREAS, the City of Brevard, after hearing all persons wishing to comment on this request desires to
approve said request.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH
CAROLINA THAT:
Section 1. The Official Zoning Map of the City of Brevard is hereby amended as described herein (Exhibit
A).
Section 2. This Ordinance shall become effective upon its adoption and approval.
Adopted and approved this the 18th day of November, 2019.

Minutes – Brevard City Council Meeting – November 18, 2019
Page 12 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

K-18 (M-4) Ordinance No. 2019-28 Proposed Moratorium on Electronic
Sign Display.
ORDINANCE 2019-28
AN ORDINANCE ENACTING A MORATORIUM PROHIBITING
APPROVAL OF APPLICATIONS FOR ELECTRONIC DISPLAY SIGNS
FOR A PERIOD OF NOT MORE THAN SIX MONTHS
WHEREAS, City Council called for a public hearing to be held on November 18, 2019 to consider the
enactment of a moratorium to prohibit approval of applications for electronic display signs, including LED flashing or
moving signs, and signs with moving or changing text, for a period of not more than six months, to allow time for the
Brevard Planning Board to review, study and recommend any changes to the existing Unified Development Ordinance
regarding such signs, including but not limited to changes to Section 12.9.D of the Unified Development Ordinance,
entitled, “Electronic Display Signs.”
WHEREAS, the City’s Planning Staff, responsible for the enforcement of Chapter 12 of the Unified
Development Ordinance, has encountered repeated violations of this chapter which, in part, attempts to regulate
electronic display signs but instead demonstrates an inadequacy of the ordinance at preventing moving graphics and
images with changes alternating less than five-second intervals, and where the brightness of electronic display signs
is also problematic and distracting to motorists, necessitating this moratorium. The alternative to a moratorium is to
continue permitting new signs while preparing any necessary amendments, but given the potentially detrimental
impact that any one sign could have upon the safety of motorists and the character of the community, Council has
deemed this alternative to be unacceptable.
WHEREAS, this moratorium shall only include electronic display signs, as described in Sections 12.6.E and
12.9.D and those which are capable of displaying graphical images and scrolling or changing messages with various
degrees of intensity to allow time for the Brevard Planning Board to review, study and recommend any changes to the
existing Unified Development Ordinance with the expectation that City Council will enact an amendment to the Unified
Development Ordinance appropriate for addressing electronic display signage in the City of Brevard by the expiration
of this moratorium.
WHEREAS, the City has complied with the requirements of General Statutes Section 160A-364 regarding
notice and hearing requirements.
WHEREAS, moving and flashing signs can create safety concerns by distracting drivers. Such signs have
dramatically grown in numbers as a result of Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals decisions holding that there are First
Amendment restrictions on the regulation of such signs because all such regulation must be “content neutral,” and that
regulating moving and flashing signs could almost never be “content neutral” if it is the moving or flashing that is being
regulated. More recent Fourth Circuit decisions and a decision from the United States Supreme Court now make it
appropriate for City Council to review this matter again, as these recent decisions have re-examined the meaning of
“content neutral,” and potentially allow City Council more leeway in regulating such moving and flashing signs from a
standpoint designed to enhance the health, safety and general well-being of the public and to take appropriate actions
with regard to safety concerns occurring as such signs distract drivers.
WHEREAS, alternative actions, such as undertaking a lengthy study of this matter which is necessary to
appropriately examine alternatives and make legislative changes which must go through the Planning Director’s office,
the Planning Board, Public Hearing and then to Council for action, would allow the number of potentially unsafe signs
to continue to expand and multiply, to the detriment of the public, without a moratorium on applications for such signs.
WHEREAS, from evidence at the public hearing, the City Council hereby finds that it is in the best interest of
the City of Brevard and its residents that:
1. City Council hereby imposes a moratorium upon the permitting of any electronic display sign, which are
described in the City of Brevard Unified Development Ordinance.
2. This moratorium shall prohibit approval of applications for electronic display signs as described in the
City of Brevard Unified Development Ordinance, Chapter 12, Sections 12.6(E) and 12.9(D), and shall begin upon
November 18, 2019 and end upon May 18, 2020.
3. The moratorium ending May 18, 2020, is reasonably necessary so that Chapter 12 of the Unified
Development Ordinance can be adequately and appropriately addressed by the Planning Board and by City
Council.

4. During the period of the moratorium, the City Council instructs the City Manager and City Planning Director
to assist the Planning Board in making a thorough but expeditious review of Chapter 12 of the Unified Development
Ordinance and provide recommendations to City Council for further action by City Council.
NOW, THEREFORE, based upon the foregoing findings of fact, be it hereby ordained:
Section 1. A moratorium is hereby implemented, effective November 18, 2019, and continuing through
May 18, 2020, during which moratorium period no new applications for electronic display signs as described in the
City of Brevard Unified Development Ordinance, Chapter 12, Sections 12.6(E) and 12.9(D), shall be accepted for filing.
Section 2. During the moratorium period, the Planning Board and City Council shall expeditiously review
Chapter 12 of the Unified Development Ordinance, with the expectation that City Council will have enacted an
amendment to the Unified Development Ordinance for electronic display signage in the City of Brevard by the
expiration of this moratorium.
Section 3. This Ordinance shall become effective upon its adoption and approval.
Minutes – Brevard City Council Meeting – November 18, 2019
Page 13 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Adopted and approved this the 18th day of November, 2019.

K-19 (M-5) Board and Committee Appointments. City Council reappointed
Tad Fogel to the Board of Adjustment, term ending November, 2022, we well as
reappointing Eric Edwards to the Brevard Housing Authority, term ending November,
2024.
L. Unfinished Business – None
M. New Business –
M-2. Ordinance-Official Zoning Map Amendment-Finkl.
Mayor Harris said he thought that it needs to happen by becoming part of the
City through annexation to get sewer service. Mr. Morrow motioned, seconded by Mr.
Daniel, City Council supports the motion and denies the request, which was the same
recommendation by the Planning Board. Motion carried unanimously.
N. Remarks / Future Agenda Considerations
Mayor Harris thanked Charlie Landreth for being who he is.
Maureen Copelof said that it was an honor to host our local Girl Scout troop and
thanked staff and the Mayor for coming. Those young women looked so good sitting in
these seats and some day we might actually get that. I think it is important to make
outreach to get input from younger people. Also, this past weekend, I made a trip to
Athens, Tennessee because they have a program called Civic Saturday that increases
civic involvement across their community. I have some ideas to look at how we can get
our community involved in civic matters.
him.

Gary Daniel thanked Charlie Landreth for his service and for the help he offered

Mac Morrow said to Charlie Landreth that it’s been wonderful sitting next to you.
I would also like to announce that the reality is when you look at our sales tax, when
our September is equal to June that says something. It’s wonderful.
Maurice Jones said to Charlie Landreth that it has been a privilege sitting next to
you. You are a bright and intelligent individual. Thank you and I appreciate everything
you’ve done and I wish you the best of luck.
Charlie Landreth said that since he was introduced as leaving during the October
meeting, he doesn’t have much left to say except that there are a lot of good things
happening in this community. Thank you for this opportunity and I may try this again
someday.
Attorney Michael Pratt said to Charlie Landreth that it has been a real pleasure
and honor to serve with you on City Council.
Jim Fatland extended his thanks to Charlie and wished him the best and told him
to feel free to give us a call with any questions or ideas that he may have.
O. Closed Session(s) – Mayor Harris asked the City Attorney if it would be
appropriate for Council to hold a closed session to discuss a matter of property
acquisition. City Attorney advised pursuant to GS § 143-318.11. (a)(3)(5) It would be
appropriate to convene a closed session on the matter. A closed session requires a
separate motion, second and vote to discuss the matter. Council will enter and exit
regular session for each closed session.
Closed Session #1 - At 9:04 p.m. Mr. Landreth moved, seconded by Mr. Morrow
to enter into closed session to discuss a matter of property acquisition and clear Council
Minutes – Brevard City Council Meeting – November 18, 2019
Page 14 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Chambers. Motion carried unanimously. Authorized to remain for the closed session
with Council and the Attorney were the City Manager Jim Fatland, City Clerk Jill Murray
Public Works Director David Lutz, Planning Director Paul Ray and Planner Aaron Bland.
(A two minute break was taken to allow Council Chambers to be cleared.)
Council Returned to Regular Session – At 9:44 p.m. Council resumed the meeting
in regular session. No official action was taken in closed session and the Minutes of the
closed session are authorized to be sealed.
Closed Session #2 – At 9:45 p.m. Mr. Landreth moved, seconded by Mr. Jones, to
enter into closed session to discuss a matter of property acquisition. Motion carried
unanimously. Authorized to remain for the closed session with Council and the
Attorney were the City Manager Jim Fatland, City Clerk Jill Murray Public Works
Director David Lutz, Planning Director Paul Ray and Planner Aaron Bland the City
Manager.
Council Returned to Regular Session – At 9:47 p.m. Council resumed the meeting
in regular session. No official action was taken in closed session and the Minutes of the
closed session are authorized to be sealed.
Closed Session #3 – At 9:47 p.m. Mr. Landreth moved, seconded by Mr. Jones, to
enter into closed session to discuss a matter of property acquisition. Motion carried
unanimously. Authorized to remain for the closed session with Council and the
Attorney were the City Manager Jim Fatland, City Clerk Jill Murray Public Works
Director David Lutz, Planning Director Paul Ray and Planner Aaron Bland the City
Manager.
Council Returned to Regular Session – At 9:53 p.m. Council resumed the meeting
in regular session. No official action was taken in closed session and the Minutes of the
closed session are authorized to be sealed.
Closed Session #4 – At 9:53 p.m. Mr. Landreth moved, seconded by Mr. Jones, to
enter into closed session to discuss a matter of potential litigation. Motion carried
unanimously. Authorized to remain for the closed session with Council and the
Attorney were the City Manager Jim Fatland, City Clerk Jill Murray Public Works
Director David Lutz, Planning Director Paul Ray and Planner Aaron Bland the City
Manager.
Council Returned to Regular Session – At 10:00 p.m. Council resumed the
meeting in regular session. No official action was taken in closed session and the
Minutes of the closed session are authorized to be sealed.
P. Adjourn – There being no further business, Mr. Landreth moved, seconded
by Mr. Daniel, the meeting be adjourned. Motion carried unanimously. Meeting
adjourned at 10:00 p.m.

Jimmy Harris
Mayor

Jill Murray, CMC
City Clerk

Minutes Approved: January 21, 2020
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MINUTES
BREVARD CITY COUNCIL
Organizational Meeting
December 2, 2019 – 5:30 PM
The Brevard City Council met for their Organizational meeting on Monday,
December 2, 2019 at 5:30 p.m. in the Council Chambers of City Hall with Mayor Jimmy
Harris presiding.
Present - Mayor Jimmy Harris, Mayor Pro Tem Mac Morrow, Council Members
Maurice Jones, Charlie Landreth, Maureen Copelof and Gary Daniel.
Staff Present – City Manager and Finance Director Jim Fatland, City Attorney
Mike Pratt, City Clerk Jill Murray, Deputy Finance Director Tom Whitlock, Executive
Assistant to City Manager Denise Hodsdon, Fire Chief Bobby Cooper, Police Chief Phil
Harris, Public Works Director David Lutz and Human Resources Director Kelley Craig.
Press – None
A. Welcome and Call to Order – Mayor Harris called the Organizational
meeting to order and welcomed those present.
B. Invocation – Mayor Jimmy Harris, offered an invocation.
C. Pledge of Allegiance – Mayor Harris led in the Pledge of Allegiance.
E. Induction of Council Members – Oath of Office
E-1 Administration of the Oath of Office to Council Member Maurice Jones –
Maurice Jones, accompanied by his wife and children, was administered the Oath of
Office by City Clerk Jill Murray. (An original is deposited with Transylvania County Clerk of
Superior Court, and a second original is on file in City Clerk’s office.)
State of North Carolina
County of Transylvania
City of Brevard
I, Maurice Jones, do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support and maintain the Constitution and laws of the
United States, and the Constitution and laws of North Carolina not inconsistent therewith, and that I will
faithfully discharge the duties of my office as a Brevard City Council Member, so help me God.
s/ Maurice Jones
Oath Administered by:
Jill Murray, City Clerk
December 2, 2019

E-2 Administration of the Oath of Office to Council Member Gary Daniel –
Gary Daniel, accompanied by his wife Diane, was administered the Oath of Office by City
Clerk Jill. (An original is deposited with Transylvania County Clerk of Superior Court, and a second
original is on file in City Clerk’s office.)
State of North Carolina
County of Transylvania
City of Brevard
I, Gary Daniel, do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support and maintain the Constitution and laws of the
United States, and the Constitution and laws of North Carolina not inconsistent therewith, and that I will
faithfully discharge the duties of my office as a Brevard City Council Member, so help me God.
s/ Gary Daniel
Oath Administered by:
Jill Murray, City Clerk
December 2, 2019
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E-3 Administration of the Oath of Office to Council Member Geraldine
Dinkins – Geraldine Dinkins, accompanied by her husband Jacob and son Gus, was
administered the Oath of Office by City Clerk Jill Murray. (An original is deposited with
Transylvania County Clerk of Superior Court, and a second original is on file in City Clerk’s office.)
State of North Carolina
County of Transylvania
City of Brevard
I, Geraldine Dinkins, do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support and maintain the Constitution and laws of
the United States, and the Constitution and laws of North Carolina not inconsistent therewith, and that I will
faithfully discharge the duties of my office as a Brevard City Council Member, so help me God.

s/ Geraldine Dinkins
Oath Administered by:
Jill Murray, City Clerk
December 2, 2019

Council Members Seated - Council Members Jones, Daniel and Dinkins took their
seats at the dais.
F. Certification of Quorum - The City Clerk certified a quorum present.
G. Agenda – The Agenda was accepted as presented.
H. Resolution No. 2019-28 Appreciation for Council Member Charlie Landreth
– Mr. Morrow moved, seconded by Mr. Jones, Council adopt Resolution No. 2019-28 as
presented. Motion carried unanimously.
RESOLUTION NO. 2019-28
A RESOLUTION OF RESPECT AND APPRECIATION FOR
COUNCIL MEMBER CHARLIE LANDRETH
WHEREAS, Charlie Landreth having served from 2011-2019 on the Brevard City Council is
leaving with a record of positive achievements; and
WHEREAS, Charlie Landreth supported the creation of City Council Committees which has
improved the decision making process for the betterment of the community; and
WHEREAS, Charlie Landreth was appointed by Mayor Jimmy Harris to serve as the Chairman of
the Council Finance and Human Resources Committee and Vice Chairman of the Downtown Master Plan
Committee from 2015-2017; and
WHEREAS, Charlie Landreth was appointed by Mayor Jimmy Harris to serve as the Chairman of
the Council Downtown Master Plan Committee and Vice Chairman of the Council Public Safety (Police and
Fire) Committee from 2017-2019; and
WHEREAS, Charlie Landreth also served on the Land of Sky Regional Council, Land of Sky Rural
Planning Organization (RPO), Transportation Advisory Committee and the Tourism Development
Authority; and
WHEREAS, Charlie Landreth served as Chairman of the Downtown Master Plan Committee and
during his tenure the design for Clemson Plaza was completed; additional parking spaces were
completed including the completion of the City’s first pay for parking lot on Jordan and Caldwell; over
$700,000 in Main Street grants were received for downtown revitalization; and
WHEREAS, Charlie Landreth, during his tenure, the Probert Street sidewalk was completed
allowing pedestrians to walk safely from Downtown to the Brevard Music Center; additional trail
connections were added connecting neighborhoods to the city-wide Brevard Trail System; NC DOT Grant
Award was received for the installation of the Davidson River Pedestrian Bridge; supported the
establishment of the City’s first dog park; supported a new Mary C. Jenkins Community Center and
supported the three-year plan for the Estatoe Trail; and
WHEREAS, Charlie Landreth supported City Council’s decision to reinvest in the City’s existing
Water Treatment and Wastewater Treatment facilities which resulted in a savings of over $50 million.
Supported City Council’s long range goal of addressing Sewer System Overflows with the installation of
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over $20 million in wastewater system improvements with funding from low interest and “no” interest
loans; and
WHEREAS, Charlie Landreth supported City Council’s decision for financial support to the Cindy
Platt Boys and Girls Club, Bread of Life, Transylvania Farmer’s Market, Heart of Brevard, Sharing House,
and Transylvania Arts Council and;
WHEREAS, Charlie Landreth supported City Council’s decision to make repaving City streets a
high priority with over $1.4 million spent on paving the past four years; and
WHEREAS, Brevard City Council desires to recognize and express appreciation of Charlie
Landreth and his invaluable service provided to Brevard City Council and to the community which he has
served.
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Mayor and City Council of the City of Brevard,
North Carolina, express to you, Charlie Landreth, on behalf of our citizens and officials, our respect,
appreciation and gratitude for your unselfish, devoted and invaluable service and contributions rendered
to the City of Brevard and its citizens.
Adopted and approved this the 2nd day of December, 2019.

I. Recognizing Departing Council Member Charlie Landreth - Mayor Harris
called former Council Charlie Landreth forward and expressed his and Council’s
appreciation for Mr. Aldreth’s service to Council and the citizens of Brevard. Mayor
read aloud the Resolution and then presented to Mr. Landreth a small desk clock with
the engraved message, “In appreciation for your time and guidance while serving on
Brevard City Council. Charlie Landreth 2011 – 2019”, along with a framed original of
Resolution No. 2019-28 signed by the Mayor, members of Council, Manager, City
Attorney and City Clerk.
Mr. Landreth expressed his appreciation to City staff members for the assistance
and help they gave him while he served on Council, and expressed his appreciation for
the gifts.
J. Acknowledge receipt of the Transylvania County Board of Election
abstract of Votes for the Municipal Election November 5, 2019. Results of the 2019
Municipal Election have been certified and the following were elected: Office of Council
Member, Mr. Maurice L. Jones (4 years); Office of Council Member, Mr. Gary L. Daniel (4
years) and Office of Council Member, Ms. Geraldine Dinkins (4 years); (Exhibit A)
K. Appointments to Boards - Mr. Morrow moved, seconded by Mr. Jones, the
following Appointments be approved. Motion carried unanimously.
a. Land of Sky Regional Council – Primary Maureen Copelof, Alternate Mac Morrow
b. Land of Sky Rural Planning Organization (RPO) Transportation Advisory
Committee – Primary Maureen Copelof, Alternate Mac Morrow
c. Tourism Development Authority – Mac Morrow
d. Council Downtown Master Plan Committee – Chair Maureen Copelof, Vice Chair
Gary Daniel
e. Council Finance and Human Resources Committee – Chair Geraldine Dinkins,
Vice Chair Mac Morrow
f. Council Parks, Trails and Recreation Committee – Chair Mac Morrow, Vice Chair
Maureen Copelof
g. Council Public Safety Committee – Chair Gary Daniel, Vice Chair Maurice Jones
h. Council Public Works and Utilities Committee – Chair Maurice Jones, Vice Chair
Geraldine Dinkins
i. Mary C. Jenkins Community Center Task Force - Chair Maurice Jones, Vice Chair
Gary Daniel
L. Adjourn – There being no further business, Mr. Morrow moved, seconded by
Mr. Daniel, the Organizational meeting be adjourned. Motion carried unanimously.
Meeting adjourned at 5:31 PM.
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M. Reception – Immediately following was a reception to extend appreciation
to departing Council Member Charlie Landreth and to welcome incoming Council
Members Maurice Jones, Gary Daniel and Geraldine Dinkins..

Jimmy Harris
Mayor

Jill Murray, CMC
City Clerk

Minutes Approved: January 21, 2020
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Honorable Mayor and Members
of the City Council
City of Brevard
Brevard, North Carolina

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the City of Brevard, North Carolina, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements
as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not
audit the financial statements of the City of Brevard ABC Board, which represents 100 percent of the
assets, net position, and revenues of the discretely presented component unit. Those financial statements
were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates
to the amounts included for the City of Brevard ABC Board, is based solely on the report of the other
auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. The financial statements of the City of Brevard ABC Board were not audited in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
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Auditor’s Responsibility

Pending LGC Approval
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions.

Opinions
In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Brevard, North Carolina, as of June 30, 2019, and the
respective changes in financial position and cash flows, where appropriate, thereof and the budgetary
comparison for the General Fund for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s
Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 through 13, the Law Enforcement Officers’ Special Separation
Allowance Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability and Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of
Covered Payroll on page 59, the Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios and
Contributions on pages 60 and 61, the Local Government Employees’ Retirement System’s Schedules of
the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) and Contributions, on pages 62 and 63,
respectively, and the Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund’s Schedule of the
Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability on page 64 be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.
We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Supplementary and Other Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the basic financial statements of the City of Brevard, North Carolina. The combining and
individual fund statements, budgetary schedules, and other schedules are presented for purposes of
additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.
The combining and individual fund statements, budgetary schedules, and other schedules are the
responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and
other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America. In our opinion, based on our audit the procedures performed as described
above, the combining and individual fund statements, budgetary schedules, and other schedules are fairly
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

As management of the City of Brevard, we offer readers of the City’s financial statements this
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended June 30,
2019. We encourage readers to read the information presented here in conjunction with additional
information that we have furnished in the City of Brevard’s financial statements, which follow this
narrative.
Financial Highlights








The assets and deferred outflows of the City of Brevard exceeded its liabilities and
deferred inflows at the close of the fiscal year by $28,439,403 (net position).
The City’s total net position increased by $816,033 primarily due to diligent
management of the budget.
As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City of Brevard’s governmental funds
reported combined ending fund balances of $6,496,801, an increase of $481,030, in
comparison with the prior year. Approximately 38% of this total amount, or
$2,440,292, is nonspendable or restricted.
At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was
$2,843,382. This represents approximately 35% of total general fund expenditures for
the fiscal year.
Outstanding direct placement governmental installment obligations decreased by
$245,140 due to repayment of principal.
Outstanding direct placement installment and revolving loan debt in the Water and
Sewer Fund decreased by $1,273,184, due to repayment of principal.

Overview of the Financial Statements
This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Brevard’s basic
financial statements. The City’s basic financial statements consist of three components; 1)
government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial
statements (see Figure 1). The basic financial statements present two different views of the City
through the use of government-wide statements and fund financial statements. In addition to the basic
financial statements, this report contains other supplemental information that will enhance the reader’s
understanding of the financial condition of the City of Brevard.
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City of Brevard
Required Components of Annual Financial Report
Figure 1

Management’s

Basic

Discussion and

Financial

Analysis

Statements

Government-wide

Fund

Notes to the

Financial

Financial

Financial Statements

Statements

Statements

Summary

Detail

Basic Financial Statements
The first two statements (Exhibits 1 and 2) in the basic financial statements are the Government-wide
Financial Statements. They provide both short and long-term information about the City of Brevard’s
financial status.
The next statements (Exhibits 3 through 11) are Fund Financial Statements. These statements focus on
the activities of the individual parts of the City’s government. These statements provide more detail than
the government-wide statements. There are four parts to the Fund Financial Statements: 1) the
governmental funds statements; 2) the budgetary comparison statements, 3) the proprietary fund
statements and 4) the fiduciary fund statements.
The next section of the basic financial statements is the notes. The notes to the financial statements
explain in detail some of the data contained in those statements. After the notes, individual fund
statements and schedules are provided to show details about the City’s individual funds. Budgetary
information required by the General Statutes also can be found in this part of the statements.
Government-Wide Financial Statements
The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide the reader with a broad overview of
the City’s finances, similar in format to a financial statement of a private-sector business. The
government-wide statements provide short and long-term information about the City’s financial status as
a whole.
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City of Brevard
The two government-wide statements report the City’s net position and how they have changed. Net
position is the difference between the City’s total assets and deferred outflows of resources and total
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. Measuring net position is one way to gauge the City’s
financial condition.
The government-wide statements are divided into three categories: 1) governmental activities; 2)
business-type activities; and 3) component units. The governmental activities include most of the City’s
basic services such as public safety, parks and recreation, and general administration. Property taxes,
sales taxes and grant funds finance most of these activities. The business-type activities are those that the
City charges customers to provide. These include the water and sewer services offered by the City of
Brevard. The final category is the component unit. Although legally separate from the City of Brevard,
the ABC Store is important to the City because the City exercises control over the Board by appointing its
members and because the Board is required to distribute 75% of its profits to the City.
The government-wide financial statements are on Exhibits 1 and 2 of this report.
Fund Financial Statements
The fund financial statements (see Figure 2) provide a more detailed look at the City’s most significant
activities. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that
have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City of Brevard, like all other governmental
entities in North Carolina, uses fund accounting to ensure and reflect compliance (or non-compliance)
with finance-related legal requirements, such as the General Statutes or the City’s budget ordinance. All
of the funds of the City of Brevard can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary
funds, and fiduciary funds.
Governmental Funds – Governmental funds are used to account for those functions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. Most of the City’s basic services
are accounted for in governmental funds. These funds focus on how assets can readily be converted into
cash flow in and out, and what monies are left at year-end that will be available for spending in the next
year. Governmental funds are reported using an accounting method called modified accrual accounting
that provides a short-term spending focus. As a result, the governmental fund financial statements give
the reader a detailed short-term view that helps him or her determine if there are more or less financial
resources available to finance the City’s programs. The relationship between government activities
(reported in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) and governmental funds is
described in a reconciliation that is a part of the fund financial statements.
The City of Brevard adopts an annual budget for its General Fund, as required by the General Statutes.
The budget is a legally adopted document that incorporates input from the citizens of the City, the
management of the City, and the decisions of the Council about which services to provide and how to pay
for them. It also authorizes the City to obtain funds from identified sources to finance these current
period activities. The budgetary statement provided for the General Fund demonstrates how well the City
complied with the budget ordinance and whether or not the City succeeded in providing the services as
planned when the budget was adopted. The budgetary comparison statement uses the budgetary basis of
accounting and is presented using the same format, language, and classifications as the legal budget
document. The statement shows four columns: 1) the original budget as adopted by the council; 2) the
final budget as amended by the council; 3) the actual resources, charges to appropriations, and ending
balances in the General Fund; and 4) the difference or variance between the final budget and the actual
resources and charges.
Proprietary Funds – The City of Brevard has two kinds of proprietary funds. Enterprise Funds are used
to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial
statements. The City uses an enterprise fund to account for its water and sewer operations. This fund is
the same as that function shown in the business-type activities in the Statement of Net Position and the
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Statement of Activities. Internal Service Funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate
costs internally among the functions of the City. The City uses an internal service fund to account for its
self-insured employee health insurance program. Because this operation benefits predominantly
governmental rather than business-type activities, the internal service fund has been included with the
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.
Fiduciary Funds – Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties
outside the government. The City of Brevard has two fiduciary funds: the OPEB reserve fund, which
holds accumulates and holds assets to pay current and future costs associated with retiree health care
benefits; and the T.L. Scruggs Scholarship fund, which accumulates donations and awards scholarships in
honor of former City employee T.L. Scruggs.
Notes to the Financial Statements – The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to
the financial statements are on pages 26 through 58 of this report.
The City of Brevard’s Net Position
Figure 2
Governmental Activities

Business-Type Activities

Total

Total
Percentage
Change

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

$ 7,328,060

$ 6,768,382

$ 1,269,307

$ 1,432,502

$ 8,597,367

$ 8,200,884

5%

7,423,243
14,751,303

7,585,862
14,354,244

36,728,508
37,997,815

37,747,533
39,180,035

44,151,751
52,749,118

45,333,395
53,534,279

-3%
-1%

Deferred outflows of resources

1,038,645

691,493

249,103

160,517

1,287,748

852,010

51%

Long-term liabilities
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

2,544,839
893,116

2,325,678
1,086,657

20,372,928
1,631,985

21,538,611
1,648,721

22,917,767
2,525,101

23,864,289
2,735,378

-4%
-8%

3,437,955

3,412,335

22,004,913

23,187,332

25,442,868

26,599,667

-4%

136,792

142,268

17,803

20,984

154,595

163,252

-5%

6,744,320

6,661,799

15,452,160

15,198,001

22,196,480

21,859,800

2%

2,335,295
3,135,586
$ 12,215,201

2,002,305
2,827,030
$ 11,491,134

772,042
$ 16,224,202

934,235
$ 16,132,236

2,335,295
3,907,628
$ 28,439,403

2,002,305
3,761,265
$ 27,623,370

17%
4%
3%

Current and other assets
Capital assets
Total assets

Deferred inflows of resources
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total net position

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as one useful indicator of a government’s financial
condition. The assets and deferred outflows of the City of Brevard exceeded liabilities and deferred
inflows by $28,439,403 as of June 30, 2019. The City’s net position increased by $816,033 for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2019. The largest portion (78%) of net position reflects the City’s investment in
capital assets, less any related debt still outstanding that was issued to acquire those items. The City of
Brevard uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not
available for future spending. Although the City of Brevard’s investment in its capital assets is reported
net of the outstanding related debt, the resources needed to repay that debt must be provided by other
sources, since the capital assets cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. An additional portion of the
City of Brevard’s net position (8.3%) represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on how
they may be used. The remaining balance of $3,907,628 (13.7%) is unrestricted.
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Several particular aspects of the City’s financial operations influenced the total governmental net
position:
 Continued diligence in the collection of property taxes by maintaining a tax collection percentage
of 99.93% for the year ending June 30, 2019, property tax revenues increased slightly over the
prior year as a result of continued economic improvements leading to growth in the tax base.
 Local option sales tax revenues increased $141,403 or 9.0%, mainly due to growth in local retail
sales as a result of continued economic improvements since 2011.
 Total expenses decreased by $310,585 or 3.3%.
City of Brevard Changes in Net Position
Figure 3
Governmental Activities

Business-Type Activities

Total

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

$ 1,281,825
363,401

$ 1,289,503
314,195

$ 5,750,281
-

$ 5,559,485
-

$ 7,032,106
363,401

$ 6,848,988
314,195

62,173

559,621

-

-

62,173

559,621

5,524,675

5,436,337

-

-

5,524,675

5,436,337

1,705,015
1,172,749

1,563,612
1,293,450

-

-

1,705,015
1,172,749

1,563,612
1,293,450

10,109,838

10,456,718

15,860,119

16,016,203

1,692,322

1,708,802

-

-

1,692,322

1,708,802

3,629,890
3,286,608

3,617,595
3,476,434

-

-

3,629,890
3,286,608

3,617,595
3,476,434

498,324
55,398

483,549
190,953

-

-

498,324
55,398

483,549
190,953

23,229

19,023

-

-

23,229

19,023

Revenues
Program revenues:
Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions
General revenues:
Property taxes
Sales taxes
Other
Total revenues
Expenses
General government
Public safety
Public works
Economic and physical development
Culture and recreation
Interest on long-term debt
Water and sewer
Total expenses

-

-

9,185,771

9,496,356

924,067

960,362

5,750,281

5,559,485

5,858,315

5,072,658

5,858,315

5,072,658

5,858,315

5,072,658

15,044,086

14,569,014

486,827

816,033

1,447,189

Increase in net position
before transfers
Transfers

(200,000)

-

(108,034)
200,000

-

-

-

Increase in net position

724,067

960,362

91,966

486,827

816,033

1,447,189

Net position, beginning

11,491,134

10,530,772

16,132,236

15,645,409

27,623,370

26,176,181

$ 12,215,201

$ 11,491,134

$ 16,224,202

$ 16,132,236

$ 28,439,403

$ 27,623,370

Net position, ending
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Governmental activities. The City’s net position increased due to governmental activities by $724,067.
This increase can be attributed to repayment of property liens, increased ABC revenue, and keeping
departmental expenditures below budget.
Business-type activities: Business-type activities increased the City of Brevard’s net position by
$91,966. This increase can be attributed to revenue increases generated by a 4% rate increase.
Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds
As noted earlier, the City of Brevard uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with
finance-related legal requirements.
Governmental Funds. The focus of the City of Brevard’s governmental funds is to provide information
on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of usable resources. Such information is useful in assessing
the City of Brevard’s financing requirements.
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City of Brevard. At the end of the current fiscal year,
available fund balance in the General Fund was $3,534,200, while total fund balance reached $5,166,410.
City Council has determined that the City should maintain available fund balance of 30% of general fund
budgeted expenditures in case of unforeseen needs or opportunities, in addition to meeting the cash flow
needs of the City. The City currently has an available fund balance of 32% of general fund budgeted
expenditures, and total fund balance represents 47% of the same amount.
At June 30, 2019, the governmental funds of City of Brevard reported a combined fund balance of
$6,496,801 with a net increase of $481,030, which results from a $290,203 decrease in the General Fund
and a combined increase of $771,233 in the other governmental funds. The decrease in the General Fund
can be attributed primarily to departmental salary adjustments and transfers to various capital project
funds. The increase in other governmental funds can be attributed to budgeted transfers from the general
fund in the amount of $1,194,319.
Proprietary Funds. The City of Brevard’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found
in the government-wide statements but in more detail. Unrestricted net position of the Water and Sewer
District at the end of the fiscal year amounted to $772,042. Other factors concerning the finances of this
fund have already been addressed in the discussion of the City of Brevard’s business-type activities.
Budgetary Highlights. For the year ended June 30, 2019, the City of Brevard revised the overall budget
several times. Generally, budget amendments fall into one of three categories: 1) amendments made to
adjust the estimates that are used to prepare the original budget ordinance once exact information is
available; 2) amendments made to recognize new funding amounts from external sources, such as Federal
and State grants; and 3) increases in appropriations that become necessary to maintain services.
Capital Asset and Debt Administration
Capital assets. The City of Brevard’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business–type
activities as of June 30, 2019, totals $44,151,751 (net of accumulated depreciation). These assets include
land, construction in progress, buildings, infrastructure, equipment and vehicles.
Capital Asset Additions. Assets purchased included: a 2019 Ford F250 pickup truck, a John Deere
Compact Loader, a 2020 Western Star tandem axle dump truck, and a Retrofit Video Camera System.
The most significant additions were associated with the completion of several projects related to the city’s
efforts to upgrade existing water and sewer facilities as well as projects to improve infrastructure,
sidewalks, and trails in and around the downtown area. There were no major demolitions or disposals
recorded this fiscal year.
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City of Brevard’s Capital Assets
(net of depreciation)

Figure 4
Governmental Activities
2019
Land
Construction in progress
Buildings and infrastructure
Equipment
Vehicles and motorized equipment
Total capital assets

$

397,687
1,579,161
3,842,448
679,243
924,704
$ 7,423,243

Business-Type Activities

2018
$

397,687
1,399,951
3,981,536
745,149
1,061,539
$ 7,585,862

2019
$

212,891
35,088,439
1,322,260
104,918
$ 36,728,508

Total

2018

2018

Total
Percentage
Change

610,578
1,399,951
39,854,397
2,257,931
1,210,538
$ 45,333,395

0%
13%
-2%
-11%
-15%
-3%

2019

$

212,891
35,872,861
1,512,782
148,999
$ 37,747,533

$

610,578
1,579,161
38,930,887
2,001,503
1,029,622
$ 44,151,751

$

Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be found in Note 4 of the Basic Financial
Statements.
Long-term Debt. As of June 30, 2019, the City of Brevard had no outstanding bonds. Debt decreased
for Governmental Activities by $245,140 due to principal repayment. For Business-Type Activities, debt
decreased by $1,273,184, also due to principal repayment.
City of Brevard’s Outstanding Debt
Figure 5
Balance
June 30, 2018
Governmental Activities
Installment contracts
Total
Business-Type Activities
Installment contracts
Revolving loans
Total

Additions

Retirements

Balance
June 30, 2019

$

924,063

$

-

$

245,140

$

678,923

$

924,063

$

-

$

245,140

$

678,923

$

381,136
22,168,396

$

-

$

63,405
1,209,779

$

317,731
20,958,617

$

22,549,532

$

-

$

1,273,184

$

21,276,348

The City of Brevard continues to strive to strengthen its financial position by maintaining a strong fund
balance, reducing debt, and conservatively managing its budget.
North Carolina General Statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt that a unit of government can
issue to 8% of the total assessed value of taxable property located within that government’s boundaries.
The remaining legal debt margin for the City of Brevard is approximately $57 million. The City has no
bonds authorized or un-issued at June 30, 2019.
Additional information regarding the City of Brevard’s long-term debt can be found in Note 8 of the
Basic Financial Statements.
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Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates
The following key economic factors reflect the growth, prosperity and challenges facing the City of
Brevard.


Recent employment statistics are shown in the table below.
June 2019 Unemployment Rates
Labor
Number
Unemployment
County and State
Force
Unemployed
Rate
Transylvania
15,261
657
4.3%
Buncombe
147,289
5,022
3.4%
Henderson
57,591
2,213
3.8%
North Carolina
5,148,929
229,035
4.4%
Source: NC Department of Commerce – June 2019 Not Seasonally Adjusted



Tourism remains a vital and growing part of the Brevard economy. Domestic tourism in
Transylvania County generated an economic impact of $106.32 million for the calendar year
2018. This was a $6.47 million increase from 2017.
Transylvania County

Year

Tourism Revenue ($ millions)

% Growth (Decline)

2014

86.41

3%

2015

88.86

3%

2016

94.62

6%

2017

99.85

6%

2018

106.32

6%

Source:



Property taxes for the City of Brevard are collected by Transylvania County. The collection rate
has remained steady. The collection rate for the City, excluding motor vehicle collections,
remains above the statewide average for municipalities as illustrated in the numbers below.

City of Brevard
Statewide
Source:



Economic Development Partnership of North Carolina

2014
99.88%
98.33%

2015
99.93%
98.87%

2016
99.98%
99.01%

2017
99.89%
99.06%

2018
99.93%
99.18%

State Treasurer’s Office, Local Government Commission

Within the City, sales tax generated from taxable sales increased 9.0% from $1,563,612 in the
fiscal year 2017-2018 to $1,705,015 in the fiscal year 2018-2019.
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Budget Highlights for the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2020
General Fund


The general fund budget as adopted for fiscal year 2019-2020 increased from $10,421,050 to
$10,881,245, including transfers. The significant factors affecting this increase are: capital
improvements and increases in appropriations necessary to maintain services.

Water and Sewer Fund


Management expects water usage in fiscal year 2019-2020 to remain consistent with fiscal year
2018-2019 or slightly increase. The charges for services were budgeted at a 4.00% increase to
offset increased debt service.



The City of Brevard has in place a 20-year Capital Improvement Plan for the Utility Fund which
describes in detail the revenue increases necessary to fund the renovation of aging plants and
replacement of deteriorating water/sewer lines.

Other Information:
The following statistics were provided by the Transylvania County Building Permitting and Enforcement
Department for the calendar year ending December 31, 2018:
Detailed Residential Construction Value 2018
New home value: City - 32 homes - $10,892,993
New home value: County – 88 homes - $38,069,594
Addition/Remodel Value: City - 116 homes - $4,028,821
Addition/Remodel Value: County - 277 homes - $22,520,067
Manufactured Homes: City - 1 homes - $61,000
Manufactured Homes: County - 48 homes - $2,119,542
Detailed Residential Construction Value 2017
New home value: City - 31 homes - $8,227,516
New home value: County – 81 homes - $31,684,282
Addition/Remodel Value: City - 114 homes - $4,099,678
Addition/Remodel Value: County - 248 homes - $15,460,875
Manufactured Homes: City - 1 homes - $67,367
Manufactured Homes: County - 25 homes - $1,175,087
Construction Values for last 5 years in the City of Brevard
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 -
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Requests for Information
This report is designed to provide an overview of the City’s finances for those with an interest in this area.
Questions concerning any of the information found in this report or requests for additional information
should be directed to the City Finance Director as follows:
James Fatland, CPFO, NCCLGFO, City Manager and Finance Director
City of Brevard
95 W. Main Street
Brevard, N. C. 28712
828-885-5600
828-883-2853 - Fax
jim.fatland@cityofbrevard.com
www.cityofbrevard.com
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Exhibit 1
CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2019
Primary Government
Governmental
Activities
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Taxes receivable, net
Accrued interest receivable on taxes
Accounts receivable, net
Due from other governments
Inventories
Prepaid items
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

$

Non-current assets:
Long-term notes receivable
Capital assets:
Land, non-depreciable improvements &
construction in progress
Other capital assets, net of depreciation
Total capital assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Salaries and payroll taxes payable
Payable from restricted assets:
Customer deposits
Accrued interest payable
Current portion of long-term liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Net pension liability (LGERS)
Total pension liability (LEOSSA)
Net OPEB liability
Due in more than one year
Total long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
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$

266,607

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension deferrals
OPEB deferrals
Total deferred outflows of resources

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension deferrals
OPEB deferrals
Total deferred inflows of resources
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Stabilization by State statute
Streets
Economic and physical development
Public safety
Perpetual maintenance
Unrestricted
Total net position

5,379,440
6,112
497
86,041
1,021,394
49,557
518,412
7,061,453

Business-type
Activities

$

642,843
544,153
82,311
1,269,307

Total

$

6,022,283
6,112
497
630,194
1,021,394
49,557
600,723
8,330,760

-

Component
Unit
City of
Brevard ABC
Board

$

266,607

254,264
434,366
13,198
701,828
-

1,976,848
5,446,395
7,423,243
7,689,850
14,751,303

212,891
36,515,617
36,728,508
36,728,508
37,997,815

2,189,739
41,962,012
44,151,751
44,418,358
52,749,118

140,143
140,143
140,143
841,971

1,022,669
15,976
1,038,645

245,110
3,993
249,103

1,267,779
19,969
1,287,748

48,002
48,002

254,336
212,672

109,680
45,078

364,016
257,750

339,102
-

35,119
1,000
389,989
893,116

82,311
47,700
1,347,216
1,631,985

117,430
48,700
1,737,205
2,525,101

339,102

1,201,734
506,819
271,873
564,413
2,544,839
3,437,955

300,433
67,969
20,004,526
20,372,928
22,004,913

1,502,167
506,819
339,842
20,568,939
22,917,767
25,442,868

56,936
56,936
396,038

97,845
38,947
136,792

8,067
9,736
17,803

105,912
48,683
154,595

294
294

6,744,320

15,452,160

22,196,480

140,143

1,661,512
34,709
391,803
241,034
6,237
3,135,586
12,215,201

772,042
16,224,202

1,661,512
34,709
391,803
241,034
6,237
3,907,628
28,439,403

119,661
233,837
493,641

$

$
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Exhibit 2
CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
Program Revenues

Functions/Programs
Primary Government:
Governmental Activities:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Economic and physical development
Cultural and recreation
Interest on long-term debt

Charges for
Services

Expenses

$

1,692,322
3,629,890
3,286,608
498,324
55,398
23,229

$

4,740
1,249,799
27,286
-

Operating
Grants and
Contributions

Capital
Grants and
Contributions

$

$

141,492
221,909
-

62,173
-

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position
Component
Unit
Primary Government
City of
Governmental
Business-type
Brevard ABC
Activities
Activities
Board
Total

$

(1,692,322)
(3,483,658)
(1,814,900)
(436,151)
(28,112)
(23,229)

Total Governmental Activities
Business-Type Activities:
Water and sewer
Total Business-Type Activities
Total Primary Government

9,185,771

1,281,825

363,401

62,173

(7,478,372)

5,858,315
5,858,315
$ 15,044,086

$

5,750,281
5,750,281
7,032,106

$

363,401

$

62,173

(7,478,372)

Component Unit:
ABC Board
Total Component Unit

$
$

$
$

4,045,745
4,045,745

$
$

$
$

-

3,883,794
3,883,794

-

General revenues:
Taxes:
Property taxes, levied for general purpose
Sales taxes
Other taxes
Grants and contributions not restricted to a specific program
Unrestricted investment earnings
Gain on sale of capital assets
Miscellaneous
Total general revenues
Transfers
Total general revenues and transfers
Change in net position
Net position, beginning
Net position, ending
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$

5,524,675
1,705,015
644,897
205,793
94,521
488
227,050
8,402,439
(200,000)
8,202,439
724,067
11,491,134
12,215,201

-

$

(108,034)
(108,034)
(108,034)

-
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$

-

$

200,000
200,000
91,966
16,132,236
16,224,202

(1,692,322)
(3,483,658)
(1,814,900)
(436,151)
(28,112)
(23,229)

$

(7,478,372)

-

(108,034)
(108,034)
(7,586,406)

-

-

$

-

5,524,675
1,705,015
644,897
205,793
94,521
488
227,050
8,402,439
8,402,439
816,033
27,623,370
28,439,403

161,951
161,951

$

82
82
82
162,033
331,608
493,641
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Exhibit 3
CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Balance Sheet
June 30, 2019
Major Fund
Total Non-Major
Funds

General Fund
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents, unrestricted
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted
Taxes receivable, net
Accounts receivable, net
Due from other governments
Due from other funds
Inventories
Notes receivable
Total assets
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Salaries and payroll taxes payable
Payable from restricted cash
Due to the general fund
Total liabilities

$

$

3,726,384
226,204
6,112
73,817
948,836
560,000
49,557
5,590,910

$

170,597
212,672
35,119
418,388

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Taxes receivable, net
FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT)
Nonspendable:
Inventories
Perpetual maintenance
Restricted:
Stabilization by State statute
Streets
Public safety
Economic and physical development
Perpetual maintenance
Committed:
Capital projects
Assigned:
Subsequent year's expenditures
Unassigned
Total fund balances (deficit)
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and fund balances (deficit)
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$

$
$

28,146
560,000
588,146

$

$
$

5,007,247
518,412
6,112
80,118
1,021,394
560,000
49,557
266,607
7,509,447
198,743
212,672
35,119
560,000
1,006,534

6,112

-

6,112

49,557
-

55,440

49,557
55,440

1,582,653
34,709
156,376
-

78,859
84,658
391,803
6,237

1,661,512
34,709
241,034
391,803
6,237

364,733

716,117

1,080,850

(2,723)
1,330,391

135,000
2,840,659
6,496,801

135,000
2,843,382
5,166,410
$

1,280,863
292,208
6,301
72,558
266,607
1,918,537

Total Governmental
Funds

5,590,910

$

1,918,537

The accompanying
notesPacket-Brevard
are an integralCity
part
of these
financial statements.
Agenda
Council
Meeting

16

$

7,509,447

January 21, 2020

Exhibit 3 (cont.)
CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Balance Sheet
June 30, 2019
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement
of net position (Exhibit 1) are different because:
Total fund balance, governmental funds

$

6,496,801

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore
are not reported in the funds.
Gross capital assets at historical cost
$
16,744,284
Accumulated depreciation
(9,321,041)

7,423,243

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions are not reported in the funds

1,022,669

Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB are not reported in the funds

15,976

The assets and liabilities of the internal service fund, which is used by management to charge
the cost of insurance to individual funds, are included in governmental activities in the
statement of net position.

322,523

Long-term liabilities used in governmental activities are not financial uses and therefore
are not reported in the funds.
$
(678,923)
Installment obligations
(271,873)
Net OPEB liability
Net pension liability - LGERS
(1,201,734)
(506,819)
Total pension liability - LEOSSA
(275,479)
Compensated absences

(2,934,828)

Taxes and interest receivable are considered deferred inflows of resources in the funds

6,609

Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions are not reported in the funds

(97,845)

Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB are not reported in the funds

(38,947)

Other long-term liabilities (accrued interest) are not due and payable in the current period
and therefore are not reported in the funds.
Net position of governmental activities
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(1,000)
$
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Exhibit 4
CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
Major Funds

General Fund
REVENUES
Ad valorem taxes
Other taxes and licenses
Unrestricted intergovernmental
Restricted intergovernmental
Sales and services
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Total revenues

$

5,042,533
1,747,525
808,181
290,817
1,281,825
93,197
24,965
9,289,043

Total Non-Major
Funds

Total Governmental
Funds

$

$

483,399
134,757
1,324
202,085
821,565

5,525,932
1,747,525
808,181
425,574
1,281,825
94,521
227,050
10,110,608

EXPENDITURES
Current:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Economic and physical development
Cultural and recreation
Capital outlay
Debt service:
Principal retirement
Interest and other charges
Total expenditures

1,674,296
2,892,485
3,309,766
181,415
-

604,711
140,833
357,491

1,674,296
3,497,196
3,309,766
140,833
181,415
357,491

111,132
16,321
8,185,415

134,008
7,608
1,244,651

245,140
23,929
9,430,066

Revenues over (under) expenditures

1,103,628

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers from other funds
Transfers to other funds
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balance
Fund balances, beginning
Fund balances, ending
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(423,086)

(1,394,319)
488
(1,393,831)

1,194,319
1,194,319

(290,203)

771,233

481,030

559,158

6,015,771

5,456,613
$

680,542

5,166,410

$

1,330,391
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Exhibit 5
CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities
(Exhibit 2) are different because:
Net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However,
in the Statement of Activities the cost of those assets is allocated over
their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.
This is the amount by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation in
the current period.
Capital outlay expenditures which were capitalized
Depreciation expense for governmental assets

$

$

446,159
(608,778)

481,030

(162,619)

Contributions to the pension plan in the current fiscal year
are not included on the Statement of Activities

302,871

Benefit payments paid for the LEOSSA are not included
on the Statement of Activities

17,333

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current
financial resources are not reported as revenues in the funds.
Change in unavailable tax revenues

(1,257)

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require
the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported
as expenditures in governmental funds.
Compensated absences accrued
Pension expense - LGERS
Pension expense - LEOSSA
Other postemployment benefits

(13,434)
(338,546)
(19,181)
(32,726)

(403,887)

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to
governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term
debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds.
Neither transaction has any effect on net position. This amount is the
net effect of these differences in the treatment of long-term debt and
related items.
Principal payments on long-term debt
Decrease in accrued interest payable

245,140
700

245,840

The internal service fund is used by management to charge the cost
of health insurance to the individual funds. The net revenue
(expense) of the internal service fund is reported with governmental
activities.
Total changes in net position of governmental activities
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Exhibit 6
CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
GENERAL FUND
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019

Original Budget
Revenues:
Ad valorem taxes
Other taxes and licenses
Unrestricted intergovernmental
Restricted intergovernmental
Sales and services
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Total revenues

$

Expenditures:
Current:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Cultural and recreation
Debt service:
Principal retirement
Interest and other charges
OPEB expense
Total expenditures
Revenues over (under) expenditures

$

4,958,800
1,686,600
781,500
279,000
1,368,150
90,100
9,000
9,173,150

$

5,042,533
1,747,525
808,181
290,817
1,249,423
93,197
24,965
9,256,641

$

83,733
60,925
26,681
11,817
(118,727)
3,097
15,965
83,491

2,180,755
2,916,499
3,368,753
178,548

1,813,355
2,971,599
3,538,253
223,548

1,662,296
2,892,485
3,309,766
181,415

151,059
79,114
228,487
42,133

202,605
16,321
12,000
8,875,481

202,605
16,321
12,000
8,777,681

111,132
16,321
12,000
8,185,415

91,473
592,266

395,469

1,071,226

675,757

(1,194,319)
488
(1,193,831)

(567,000)
(45,100)
731,250
(918,000)
488
(798,362)

(79,531)

Other financing sources (uses):
Fund balance appropriated
Transfers from other funds
Transfers to other funds
Proceeds from issuance of installment obligations
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Total other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balance

4,958,800
1,686,600
735,000
279,000
1,037,450
90,100
9,000
8,795,950

Actual
Amounts

Final Budget

Variance with
Final Budget
Positive
(Negative)

87,000
620,100
(1,545,569)
918,000
79,531
$

-

567,000
45,100
(1,925,569)
918,000
(395,469)
$

-

(122,605)

Fund balance, beginning

$

(122,605)

4,924,282
4,801,677

Fund balance, ending

A legally budgeted Capital Reserve Fund is consolidated into the General Fund for reporting purposes:
Fees and donations
32,402
Transfers to other funds
(200,000)
Fund balance, beginning (Capital Reserve Fund)
532,331
Fund balance, ending (Exhibit 4)
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Exhibit 7
CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Statement of Fund Net Position
June 30, 2019
Enterprise Fund
Water and Sewer
Fund
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents, unrestricted
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted
Accounts receivable, net
Total current assets

$

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets:
Land and other non-depreciable assets
Other capital assets, net of depreciation
Capital assets, net
Total assets

$

212,891
36,515,617
36,728,508
37,997,815

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension deferrals
OPEB deferrals
Total deferred outflows of resources
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Salaries and payroll taxes payable
Payable from restricted assets:
Customer deposits
Accrued interest
Compensated absences - current
Installment contracts and revolving loan, current
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities:
Net pension liability
Net OPEB liability
Compensated absences
Installment contracts and revolving loans, noncurrent
Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension deferrals
OPEB deferrals
Total deferred inflows of resources

$

245,110
3,993
249,103

-

109,680
45,078

55,593
-

82,311
47,700
72,636
1,274,580
1,631,985

55,593

300,433
67,969
2,758
20,001,768
20,372,928
22,004,913

55,593

15,452,160
772,042
16,224,202

The accompanying
notesPacket-Brevard
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372,193
5,923
378,116

378,116

8,067
9,736
17,803

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted
Total net position
Page 55 of 395

642,843
82,311
544,153
1,269,307

Internal Service
Fund
Health Insurance
Fund

-

$

322,523
322,523
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Exhibit 8
CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services
Water and sewer taps
Other operating revenues
Total operating revenues

Enterprise Fund
Water and Sewer
Fund

Internal Service
Fund
Health Insurance
Fund

$

$

OPERATING EXPENSES
Water treatment and distribution
Waste collection and treatment
Payment to general fund in lieu of taxes & admin expenses
Depreciation
Claims
Insurance premiums
Other operating expenses
Total operating expenses

5,437,209
53,544
259,528
5,750,281

1,443,597
2,212,572
575,000
1,151,930

Operating income

712,612
268,832
219,146
1,200,590

329,146

244,757

(437,180)

Change in net position before transfers

(108,034)

Transfers from other funds

-

38,036
5,421,135

NONOPERATING EXPENSES
Interest expense

244,757
-

200,000

Change in net position
Total net position, beginning
Total net position, ending

$

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service fund
activities related to the enterprise funds.
Change in net position - business-type activities
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1,445,347
1,445,347

91,966

244,757

16,132,236

77,766

16,224,202

322,523

$

91,966
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Exhibit 9
CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
Enterprise Fund
Water and Sewer
Fund
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from customers
Cash paid for goods and services
Cash paid to or on behalf of employees for services
Net cash provided by operating activities

$

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Transfer from the general fund

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Operating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Deferred outflows of resources - pensions
Deferred outflows of resources - OPEB
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Net pension liability
Net OPEB liability
Deferred inflows of resources - pensions
Deferred inflows of resources - OPEB
Customer deposits
Accrued vacation
Total adjustments
Net cash provided by operating activities
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$

1,451,455
(1,214,963)
236,492

200,000

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Reimbursements due from other governments
Principal paid on installment obligation
Interest paid on installment obligation
Net cash used by capital and related financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

5,664,547
(2,842,793)
(1,470,380)
1,351,374

Internal Service
Fund
Health Insurance
Fund

-

(116,953)
47,130
(1,273,184)
(400,280)
(1,743,287)

-

$

(191,913)
917,067
725,154

$

236,492
135,701
372,193

$

329,146

$

244,757

1,151,930

$

(91,800)
(85,474)
(3,112)
(63,092)
101,340
7,528
(6,947)
3,766
6,066
2,023
1,022,228
1,351,374

The accompanyingAgenda
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Exhibit 10
CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
June 30, 2019
OPEB Reserve
Fund
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted

$

LIABILITIES
Due to general fund

$

NET POSITION
Assets held for retiree health benefits
Assets held for administration of scholarship fund
$
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236,469

-

236,469
236,469
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T.L. Scruggs
Scholarship Fund
$

16,671

$

-

$

16,671
16,671
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Exhibit 11
CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
OPEB Reserve
Fund
ADDITIONS
Employer contributions
Retiree premiums
Restricted donations

$

3,019
34,013
37,032

T.L. Scruggs
Scholarship Fund
$

6,015
6,015

Investment income
Interest
Total additions

4,890
41,922

1
6,016

DEDUCTIONS
Expenditures
Scholarships awarded
Total deductions

18,282
18,282

120
11,000
11,120

23,640

(5,104)

212,829

21,775

Change in net position
Net position, beginning
Net position, ending
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236,469

$
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019
Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies of the City of Brevard and its discretely presented component unit conform to
generally accepted accounting principles as applicable to governments. The following is a summary of
the more significant accounting policies:
A. Reporting Entity
The City of Brevard is a municipal corporation which is governed by an elected mayor and a fivemember council. As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, these financial statements present the City and its component unit, City of Brevard ABC
Board, a legally separate entity for which the City is financially accountable. The discretely
presented component unit presented below is reported in a separate column in the City's financial
statements in order to emphasize that it is legally separate from the City.
City of Brevard ABC Board
The members of the ABC Board's governing board are appointed by the City. In addition, the ABC
Board is required by State statute to distribute its surpluses to the General Fund of the City (75%)
and to Transylvania County (25%). The ABC Board, which has a June 30 year-end, is presented as
if it were a proprietary fund (discrete presentation). Complete financial statements for the ABC
Board may be obtained from the entity's administrative offices at City of Brevard ABC Board, P.O.
Box 1016, Brevard, NC 28712.
B. Basis of Presentation - Fund Accounting
Government-wide Statements: The statement of net position and the statement of activities display
information about the primary government and its component unit. These statements include the
financial activities of the overall government. Eliminations have been made to minimize the double
counting of internal activities. These statements distinguish between the governmental and
business-type activities of the City. Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes,
intergovernmental revenues, and other non-exchange transactions. Business-type activities are
financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties.
The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues
for the different business-type activities of the City and for each function of the City’s
governmental activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a program
or function and, therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function. Indirect expense
allocations that have been made in the funds have been reversed for the statement of activities.
Program revenues include (a) fees and charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered
by the programs and (b) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or
capital requirements of a particular program. Revenues that are not classified as program revenues,
including all taxes, are presented as general revenues.
Fund Financial Statements: The fund financial statements provide information about the City’s
funds, including its fiduciary funds. Separate statements for each fund category – governmental,
proprietary and fiduciary – are presented. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major
governmental and enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate column. All remaining
governmental and enterprise funds are aggregated and reported as non-major funds.
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Proprietary fund operating revenues, such as charges for services, result from exchange transactions
associated with the principal activity of the fund. Exchange transactions are those in which each
party receives and gives up essentially equal values. Non-operating revenues, such as subsidies,
result from non-exchange transactions. Other non-operating revenues are ancillary activities such
as investment earnings.
The City reports the following major governmental fund:
General Fund. The General Fund is the general operating fund of the City. The General Fund
accounts for all financial resources except those that are required to be accounted for in another
fund. The primary revenue sources are ad valorem taxes, state grants, state sales taxes, and various
other taxes and licenses. The primary expenditures are for public safety, street maintenance and
construction, and sanitation services. Additionally, the City has legally adopted a Capital Reserve
Fund. Under GASB 54 guidance the Capital Reserve Fund is consolidated in the General Fund.
The budgetary comparison for the Capital Reserve Fund has been included in the supplemental
information.
The City reports the following non-major governmental funds:
Special Revenue Funds. The City has four special revenue funds. The Special Fire District Fund
is used to account for the City’s fire department operations. The Heart of Brevard Municipal
Services District Fund accounts for the receipt of tax revenue which is legally restricted to
expenditures for specific activities related to the Heart of Brevard. The Emergency Telephone
System Fund accounts for funds allocated from the State 911 Board for operations of and
improvements to the 911 system. The Housing Trust Fund accumulates loan repayments made to
the City as a result of affordable housing grants obtained by the City and loaned to the Developers
of two different housing complexes.
Capital Projects Funds. Capital projects funds account for the acquisition and construction of
major capital facilities (other than those financed by the proprietary fund). The City has three nonmajor capital project funds: the Multi-Use Path Capital Project Fund, the Downtown Master Plan
Project Fund and the Rosenwald Revitalization Project Fund.
Permanent Fund. The Bjerg Non-expendable Trust Fund accounts for assets held in a trustee
capacity for the maintenance of a specific neighborhood’s common property.
The City reports the following major enterprise fund:
Water and Sewer Fund. This fund is used to account for the City’s water and sewer operations.
This fund also covers acquisition and construction of major water and sewer capital facilities and
infrastructure, which are accounted for in the Water and Sewer Capital Project Fund that is
combined with the Water and Sewer Fund (the operating fund) for financial statement purposes.
The non-GAAP budgetary comparison for the capital project fund has been included in the
supplementary information.
The City also reports the following fund types:
Internal Service Fund. The internal service fund is used to account for the accumulation and
allocation of costs associated with the City’s self-insured group health insurance program.
OPEB Reserve Fund. A fiduciary fund is used to account for the accumulation of funds and the
payment of benefit costs related to retiree health benefits.
T.L. Scruggs Scholarship Fund. A fiduciary fund is used to account for the collection of
donations and the payment of scholarships in memory of former City employee T.L. Scruggs.
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C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting
In accordance with North Carolina General Statutes, all funds of the City are maintained during the
year using the modified accrual basis of accounting.
Government-wide and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements. The government-wide and
proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus
and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded
at the time liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take place.
Nonexchange transactions, in which the City gives (or receives) value without directly receiving (or
giving) equal value in exchange, include property taxes, grants, and donations. On an accrual basis,
revenue from property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied. Revenue
from grants and donations is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have
been satisfied.
Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods,
services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and
contributions, including special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general
revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes.
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The
principal operating revenues of the City enterprise funds are charges to customers for sales and
services. The City also recognizes as operating revenue the portion of tap fees intended to recover
the cost of connecting new customers to the water and sewer system. Operating expenses for the
enterprise fund include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on
capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating
revenues and expenses.
Governmental Fund Financial Statements. Governmental funds are reported using the current
financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this
method, revenues are recognized when measurable and available. Expenditures are recorded when
the related fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term debt,
claims and judgments, and compensated absences, which are recognized as expenditures to the
extent they have matured. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in
governmental funds. Proceeds of general long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are
reported as other financing sources.
The City considers all revenues available if they are collected within 90 days after year-end, except
for property taxes. Ad valorem taxes receivable are not accrued as revenue because the amount is
not susceptible to accrual. At June 30, taxes receivable for property other than motor vehicles are
materially past due and are not considered to be an available resource to finance the operations of
the current year. Also, as of September 1, 2013, State law altered the procedures for the assessment
and collection of property taxes on registered motor vehicles in North Carolina. Effective with this
change in the law, the State of North Carolina is responsible for billing and collecting the property
taxes on registered motor vehicles on behalf of all municipalities and special tax districts. Property
taxes are due when vehicles are registered. The billed taxes are applicable to the fiscal year in
which they are received. Uncollected taxes that were billed in periods prior to September 1, 2013
and for limited registration plates are shown as a receivable in these financial statements and are
offset by deferred inflows of resources.
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Sales taxes, and certain intergovernmental revenues, such as the beer and wine tax, collected and
held by the State at year-end on behalf of the City are recognized as revenue. Sales taxes are
considered a shared revenue for the City of Brevard because the tax is levied by Transylvania
County and then remitted to and distributed by the State. Most intergovernmental revenues and
sales and services are not susceptible to accrual because generally they are not measurable until
received in cash. All taxes, including those dedicated for specific purposes are reported as general
revenues rather than program revenues. Under the terms of grant agreements, the City funds certain
programs by a combination of specific cost-reimbursement grants, categorical block grants, and
general revenues. Thus, when program expenses are incurred, there is both restricted and
unrestricted net position available to finance the program. It is the City’s policy to first apply costreimbursement grant resources to such programs, followed by categorical block grants, and then
general revenues.
D. Budgetary Data
The City's budgets are adopted as required by the North Carolina General Statutes. An annual
budget is adopted for the General Fund, the Special Fire District Fund, the Emergency Telephone
System Fund, the Heart of Brevard Special Municipal Services District Fund, the Nonexpendable
Bjerg Fund, the Capital Reserve Fund, the Multi-Use Paths Capital Project Fund, the Rosenwald
Revitalization Capital Project Fund, the Downtown Master Plan Capital Project Fund, and the
Water and Sewer Fund. All annual appropriations lapse at the fiscal-year end. A project ordinance
is adopted for the Water and Sewer Capital Project Fund. The Water and Sewer Capital Project
fund is consolidated with the operating fund for reporting purposes. The City’s Insurance Fund, an
internal service fund, operates under a financial plan that was adopted by the governing board at the
time the City’s budget ordinance was approved, as is required by the General Statutes. All budgets
are prepared using the modified accrual basis of accounting. Expenditures may not legally exceed
appropriations at the departmental level for all annually budgeted funds and at the project level for
the multi-year fund. The Budget Officer is authorized to reallocate departmental appropriations
within a department, as said officer believes necessary. The Budget Officer is authorized to effect
interdepartmental transfers, in the same fund, provided that no departmental budget shall be
reduced by more than ten percent without the prior approval of the City Council. Any such
transfers shall be reported to the City Council at its next regular meeting and shall be entered in the
minutes. The budget ordinance must be adopted by July 1 of the fiscal year or the governing board
must adopt an interim budget that covers that time until the annual ordinance can be adopted. All
amendments to the budget ordinance must be approved by the City Council.
E. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources, and Fund Equity
1. Deposits and Investments
All deposits of the City and of the ABC Board are made in board-designated official
depositories and are secured as required by State law [G.S. 159-31]. The City and the ABC
Board may designate, as an official depository, any bank or savings association whose principal
office is located in North Carolina. Also, the City and ABC Board may establish time deposit
accounts, money market accounts, and certificates of deposit.
State law [G.S. 159-30(c)] authorizes the City and the ABC Board to invest in obligations of
the United States or obligations fully guaranteed both as to principal and interest by the United
States; obligations of the State of North Carolina; bonds and notes of any North Carolina local
government or public authority; obligations of certain non-guaranteed federal agencies; certain
high quality issues of commercial paper and bankers' acceptances and the North Carolina
Capital Management Trust (NCCMT). The City and the ABC Board’s investments are reported
at fair value as determined by quoted market prices. The NCCMT Term Portfolio is bond fund,
has no rating and is measured at fair value. As of June 30, 2019, The Term portfolio has a
duration of .11 years. Because the NCCMT Government and Term Portfolios have a weighted
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average maturity of less than 90 days, they are presented as an investment with a maturity of
less than 6 months.
2. Cash and Cash Equivalents
The City pools money from several funds to facilitate disbursement and investment and to
maximize investment income. Therefore, all cash and investments are essentially demand
deposits and are considered cash and cash equivalents. The ABC Board considers all highly
liquid investments (including restricted assets) with a maturity of three months or less when
purchased to be cash and cash equivalents.
3. Restricted Assets
Restricted assets include monies or other resources, the use of which is restricted by legal or
contractual requirements. The unexpended balance of forfeiture funds, fire district funds, and
emergency telephone system funds for Public Safety are classified as restricted assets for the
governmental activities because their use is completely restricted for which the funds were
intended. In addition, Powell Bill funds are also classified as restricted cash because they can
be expended only for the purpose of maintaining, repairing, constructing, reconstructing or
widening of local streets per G.S. 136-41.1 through 136-41.4.
City of Brevard Restricted Cash
Governmental activities:
General Fund
Streets
Public safety
Deposits
Fire District Fund
Public safety
Emergency Telephone System Fund
Public safety
Housing Trust Capital Project fund
Economic and physical development
Bjerg Trust Fund
Perpetual maintenance
Total governmental activities

$

60,494
44,840
125,196
61,678
518,412

Business-type activities:
Water and Sewer Fund
Customer deposits
Total business-type activities

82,311
82,311

Total restricted cash
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4. Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable
In accordance with State law [G.S. 105-347 and G.S. 159-13(a)], the City levies ad valorem
taxes on property other than motor vehicles on July 1, the beginning of the fiscal year. The
taxes are due on September 1 (lien date); however, interest does not accrue until the following
January 6. These taxes are based on the assessed values as of January 1, 2018.
5. Allowances for Doubtful Accounts
All receivables that historically experience uncollectible accounts are shown net of an
allowance for doubtful accounts. This amount is estimated by analyzing the percentage of
receivables that were written off in prior years. Outstanding balances for inactive customer
accounts for trash collection service and water and sewer service were deemed by management
to be written off during the current fiscal year. These amounts have been removed from the
applicable gross receivable balances and therefore will not be shown as part of the allowance.
The allowance shown related to these receivables only includes outstanding balances of active
customers.
6. Inventory and Prepaid Items
The inventories of the City and the ABC Board are valued at cost (first-in, first-out), which
approximates market. The City's General Fund inventory consists of expendable supplies that
are recorded as expenditures as used rather than when purchased.
The inventories of the City of Brevard ABC Board consist of merchandise held for resale. The
cost of these inventories is expensed upon resale rather than when purchased.
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are
recorded as prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements and expensed
as the items are used.
7.

Capital Assets
Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial, individual cost of more
than a certain cost and an estimated useful life in excess of two years. Minimum capitalization
costs are as follows: land, buildings, improvements, substations, lines, and other plant and
distribution systems, infrastructure, furniture, equipment, and vehicles, $5,000. Purchased or
constructed capital assets are reported at cost or estimated historical cost. Donated capital
assets received prior to June 30, 2015 are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of
donation. Donated capital assets received after June 30, 2015 are recorded at acquisition value.
All other purchased or other constructed capital assets are reported at cost or estimated
historical cost. General infrastructure assets acquired prior to July 1, 2003, consist of the road
network and water and sewer system assets that were acquired or that received substantial
improvements subsequent to July 1, 1980, and are reported at estimated historical cost using
deflated replacement cost. The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the
value of the asset or materially extend assets’ lives are not capitalized.
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Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful
lives:
Asset Class
Infrastructure
Buildings
Building improvements
Vehicles
Furniture and equipment
Computer equipment

Estimated
Useful Lives

10-75 years
15-50 years
20-50 years
4-10 years
5-15 years
3-5 years

Capital assets of the ABC Board are depreciated over their useful lives on a straight-line basis
as follows:
Estimated
Useful Lives

Asset Class
Buildings
Vehicles
Furniture and equipment
Computer equipment

15-50 years
4-10 years
5-15 years
3-5 years

8. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources
In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section
for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, Deferred
Outflows of Resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period
and so will not be recognized as an expense or expenditure until then. The City has two items
that meet this criterion, pension deferrals and OPEB deferrals for the 2019 fiscal year. In
addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate
section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, Deferred
Inflows of Resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and
so will not be recognized as revenue until then. The City has three items that meets the criterion
for this category – property taxes receivable, pension deferrals, and OPEB deferrals.
9. Long-term Obligations
In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial
statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the
applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement
of net position.
In fund financial statements, the face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing
sources.
10. Compensated Absences
The vacation policy of the City provides for the accumulation of up to thirty (30) days earned
vacation leave with such leave being fully vested when earned. The vacation policy for the
ABC Board provide up to twenty days earned vacation with no accumulation allowed. For the
City's government-wide and proprietary funds, an expense and a liability for compensated
absences and the salary-related payments are recorded as the leave is earned. The City has
assumed a first-in, first-out method of using accumulated compensated time. The portion of that
time that is estimated to be used in the next fiscal year has been designated as a current liability
in the government-wide financial statements.
Page 66 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

32

January 21, 2020

CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

The City's sick leave policy provides for an unlimited accumulation of earned sick leave. Sick
leave does not vest, but any unused sick leave accumulated at the time of retirement may be
used in the determination of length of service for retirement benefit purposes. The ABC
Board’s sick leave policy provides no accumulation of sick leave. Since neither the City nor the
ABC Board has any obligation for the accumulated sick leave until it is actually taken, no
accrual for sick leave has been made.
11. Net Position/Fund Balances
Net Position
Net position in government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are classified as net
investment in capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted. Restricted net position represents
constraints on resources that are either externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors,
or laws or regulations of other governments or imposed by law through State statute.
Fund Balances
In the governmental fund financial statements, fund balance is composed of five classifications
designed to disclose the hierarchy of constraints placed on how fund balance can be spent.
The governmental fund types classify fund balances as follows:
Nonspendable fund balance – This classification includes amounts that cannot be spent
because they are either (a) not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to
be maintained intact.
Inventories – portion of fund balance that is not an available resource because it
represents the year-end balance of inventories, which are not spendable resources.
Perpetual maintenance – portion of fund balance that is not an available resource
because it represents funds which are held for specific purposes imposed by a trust for
maintenance of the City.
Restricted fund balance – This classification includes amounts that are restricted to
specific purposes externally imposed by creditors or imposed by law.
Restricted for stabilization by State statute – North Carolina G.S. 159-8 prohibits units
of government from budgeting or spending a portion of their fund balance. This is one
of several statutes enacted by the North Carolina State Legislature in the 1930’s that
were designed to improve and maintain the fiscal health of local government units.
Restricted by State statute (RSS), is calculated at the end of each fiscal year for all
annually budgeted funds. The calculation in G.S. 159-8(a) provides a formula for
determining what portion of fund balance is available for appropriation. The amount of
fund balance not available for appropriation is what is known as “restricted by State
statute”. Appropriated fund balance in any fund shall not exceed the sum of cash and
investments minus the sum of liabilities, encumbrances, and deferred revenues arising
from cash receipts, as those figures stand at the close of the fiscal year next preceding
the budget. Per GASB guidance, RSS is considered a resource upon which a restriction
is “imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.” RSS is
reduced by inventories and prepaids as they are classified as nonspendable. Outstanding
Encumbrances are included within RSS. RSS is included as a component of Restricted
Net position and Restricted fund balance on the face of the balance sheet.
Restricted for public safety – portion of the fund balance that is restricted by revenue
source for public safety. This amount represents the balance of total unexpended drug
forfeiture funds.
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Restricted for streets – portion of fund balance that is restricted by revenue source for
street construction and maintenance expenditures. This amount represents the balance
of the total unexpended Powell Bill funds.
Restricted for economic development – portion of fund balance that is restricted to use
on affordable housing per terms of grant agreements.
Restricted for perpetual maintenance – portion of fund balance that represents
investment earnings from the nonspendable Bjerg Trust Fund that is restricted for
maintenance of a specific neighborhood’s common property.
Committed fund balance – portion of fund balance that can only be used for specific
purposes imposed by majority vote by quorum of the City of Brevard’s governing body
(highest level of decision-making authority.) The governing body can, by adoption of an
ordinance prior to the end of the fiscal year, commit fund balance. Once adopted, the
limitation imposed by the ordinance remains in place until a similar action is taken (the
adoption of another ordinance) to remove or revise the limitation.
Capital projects – portion of capital reserve fund committed to City improvements as
well as portion of capital project fund balance that represents funds contributed by the
City for certain projects.
Assigned fund balance – portion of fund balance that the City of Brevard intends to use for
specific purposes.
Subsequent year’s expenditures – portion of fund balance that is appropriated in the
next year’s budget that is not already classified as restricted or committed.
Unassigned fund balance – portion of total fund balance that has not been restricted,
committed, or assigned to specific purposes or other funds.
The City of Brevard has a revenue spending policy that provides guidance for programs with
multiple revenue sources. The Finance Director will use resources in the following hierarchy:
bond proceeds, Federal funds, State funds, local non-City funds, City funds. For purposes of
fund balance classification, expenditures are typically spent from restricted fund balance first,
followed in-order by committed fund balance, assigned fund balance and lastly unassigned fund
balance. The Finance Director has the authority to deviate from this if it is in the best interest
of the City.
The City of Brevard has also adopted a minimum fund balance policy for the general fund
which instructs management to conduct the business of the City in such a manner that available
fund balance is at least equal to or greater than 30% of budgeted expenditures. Any portion of
the general fund balance in excess of 30% of budgeted expenditures may be appropriated for
one-time expenditures and may not be used for any purpose that would obligate the City in a
future budget.
12. Defined Benefit Cost-Sharing Plans
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary
net position of the Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System (LGERS) and additions
to/deductions from LGERS’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as
they are reported by LGERS. For this purpose, plan member contributions are recognized in the
period in which the contributions are due. The City of Brevard and the ABC Board’s employer
contributions are recognized when due and both the City and the ABC Board have a legal
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requirement to provide the contributions. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and
payable in accordance with the terms of LGERS. Investments are reported at fair value.
For purposes of measuring the net pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position
of the Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund (FRSWPF) and additions
to/deductions from FRSWPF’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis
as they are reported by FRSWPF. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of
employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit
terms. Investments are reported at fair value.
13. Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported
amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.
Note 2 – Cash and Investments
1. Deposits
All the deposits of the City and the ABC Board are either insured or collateralized by using one of
two methods. Under the Dedicated Method, all deposits that exceed the federal depository
insurance coverage level are collateralized with securities held by the City's or the ABC Board’s
agents in these units' names. Under the Pooling Method, which is a collateral pool, all uninsured
deposits are collateralized with securities held by the State Treasurer's agent in the name of the
State Treasurer. Since the State Treasurer is acting in a fiduciary capacity for the City and the ABC
Board, these deposits are considered to be held by the City's and the ABC Board’s agents in their
names. The amount of the pledged collateral is based on an approved averaging method for noninterest bearing deposits and the actual current balance for interest-bearing deposits. Depositories
using the Pooling Method report to the State Treasurer the adequacy of their pooled collateral
covering uninsured deposits. The State Treasurer does not confirm this information with the City,
the ABC Board, or the escrow agent. Because of the inability to measure the exact amounts of
collateral pledged for the City and the ABC Board under the Pooling Method, the potential exists
for under-collateralization, and this risk may increase in periods of high cash flows. However, the
State Treasurer of North Carolina enforces strict standards of financial stability for each depository
that collateralizes public deposits under the Pooling Method. The City has no formal policy
regarding custodial credit risk for deposits, but relies on the State Treasurer to enforce standards of
minimum capitalization for all pooling method financial institutions and to monitor them for
compliance. The City complies with the provisions of G.S. 159-31 when designating official
depositories and verifying that deposits are properly secured. The ABC Board has no formal policy
regarding custodial credit risk for deposits.
At June 30, 2019, the City's deposits had a carrying amount of $1,300,447 and a bank balance of
$1,414,254. Of the bank balance, $266,671 was covered by federal depository insurance and the
remainder was covered by collateral held under the pooling method. The carrying amount of
deposits for the ABC Board was $250,064 and the bank balance was $406,900. Federal depository
insurance covered $250,000 of the ABC Board’s deposits and the remainder was covered by
collateral held under the pooling method.
The City also had cash on hand at June 30, 2019 in the amount of $675, and the ABC Board had
cash on hand of $4,200.
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2. Investments
At June 30, 2019, the City’s investment balances were as follows:
Investments by Type

Valuation
Book Value
Measurement at 6/30/19
Method

NC Capital Management Trust
Government Portfolio

Fair Value
Level 1

NC Capital Management Trust Term Portfolio

Fair Value
Level 1

Total:

$

61,679
5,513,345

Maturity

Rating

N/A

AAAm

.11 years

Unrated

$ 5,575,024

All investments are measured using the market approach: using prices and other relevant
information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or a group of
assets.
Level of fair value hierarchy: Level 1 debt securities are valued using directly observable, quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets. Level 2 debt securities are valued using a
matrix pricing technique. Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities’
benchmark quoted prices.
Interest Rate Risk – The City has no formal investment policy regarding interest rate risk.
Credit Risk – The City has no formal policy regarding credit risk, but has internal management
procedures that limits the City’s investments to the provisions of G.S. 159-30 and restricts the
purchase of securities to the highest possible rating whenever particular types of securities are rated.
At June 30, 2019, the ABC Board held no investments.
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Note 4 – Capital Assets
Capital asset activity for the Primary Government for the year ended June 30, 2019, was as follows:

Beginning
Balances
Governmental activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
Total capital assets not being depreciated
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and infrastructure
Equipment
Vehicles and motorized equipment
Total capital assets being depreciated
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and infrastructure
Equipment
Vehicles and motorized equipment
Total accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets being depreciated, net
Governmental activities capital assets, net

$

397,687
1,399,951
1,797,638

Increases

$

221,189
221,189

Ending
Balances

Decreases

$

41,979
41,979

$

397,687
1,579,161
1,976,848

6,538,076
1,914,202
6,090,989
14,543,267

41,980
36,330
188,639
266,949

42,780
42,780

6,580,056
1,950,532
6,236,848
14,767,436

2,556,540
1,169,053
5,029,450
8,755,043
5,788,224
$ 7,585,862

181,068
102,236
325,474
608,778

42,780
42,780

2,737,608
1,271,289
5,312,144
9,321,041
5,446,395
$ 7,423,243

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows:

General government
Public safety
Public works
Cultural and recreational
Total depreciation expense
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87,744
269,247
199,815
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Beginning
Balances
Business-type activities:
Water and Sewer Fund
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land

$

Capital assets being depreciated:
Plant and distribution systems
Maintenance equipment and furniture
Vehicles
Total capital assets being depreciated
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Plant and distribution systems
Maintenance equipment and furniture
Vehicles
Total accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets being depreciated, net
Water and sewer fund capital assets, net

212,891

Increases

$

-

Ending
Balances

Decreases

$

-

$

212,891

45,406,972
2,765,206
1,042,227
49,214,405

3,103
129,802
132,905

-

45,410,075
2,895,008
1,042,227
49,347,310

9,534,111
1,252,424
893,228
11,679,763
37,534,642
$ 37,747,533

787,525
320,324
44,081
1,151,930

-

10,321,636
1,572,748
937,309
12,831,693
36,515,617
$ 36,728,508

Construction commitments:
The City has no commitments with contractors for construction projects as of June 30, 2019.
Discretely presented component unit:
Activity for the ABC Board for the year ended June 30, 2019 was as follows:

Beginning
Balances
Capital assets being depreciated:
Leasehold improvements
Furniture and equipment
Vehicle
Total capital assets being depreciated

$

Less accumulated depreciation

183,765

Total capital assets being depreciated, net
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121,423
11,979
264,354

$

Increases
$

65,579
6,511
72,090
12,536

80,589
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Ending
Balances

Decreases
$

-

$

-

196,531
127,934
11,979
336,444
196,301

$

140,143
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Note 5 – Pension Plan and Postemployment Obligations
Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System
Plan Description. The City of Brevard is a participating employer in the statewide Local Governmental
Employees’ Retirement System (LGERS), a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension
plan administered by the State of North Carolina. LGERS membership is comprised of general
employees and local law enforcement officers (LEOs) of participating local governmental entities.
Article 3 of G.S. Chapter 128 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the
North Carolina General Assembly. Management of the plan is vested in the LGERS Board of Trustees,
which consists of 13 members – nine appointed by the Governor, one appointed by the State Senate,
one appointed by the State House of Representatives, and the State Treasurer and State Superintendent,
who serve as ex-officio members. The Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System is included
in the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the State of North Carolina. The State’s
CAFR includes financial statements and required supplementary information for LGERS. That report
may be obtained by writing to the Office of the State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh,
North Carolina 27699-1410, by calling (919) 981-5454, or at www.osc.nc.gov.
Benefits Provided. LGERS provides retirement and survivor benefits. Retirement benefits are
determined as 1.85% of the member’s average final compensation times the member’s years of
creditable service. A member’s average final compensation is calculated as the average of a member’s
four highest consecutive years of compensation. Plan members are eligible to retire with full retirement
benefits at age 65 with five years of creditable service, at age 60 with 25 years of creditable service, or
at any age with 30 years of creditable service. Plan members are eligible to retire with partial retirement
benefits at age 50 with 20 years of creditable service or at age 60 with five years of creditable service
(age 55 for firefighters). Survivor benefits are available to eligible beneficiaries of members who die
while in active service or within 180 days of their last day of service and who have either completed 20
years of creditable service regardless of age (15 years of creditable service for firefighters and rescue
squad members who are killed in the line of duty) or have completed five years of service and have
reached age 60. Eligible beneficiaries may elect to receive a monthly Survivor’s Alternate Benefit for
life or a return of the member’s contributions. The plan does not provide for automatic post-retirement
benefit increases. Increases are contingent upon actuarial gains of the plan.
LGERS plan members who are LEOs are eligible to retire with full retirement benefits at age 55 with
five years of creditable service as an officer, or at any age with 30 years of creditable service. LEO plan
members are eligible to retire with partial retirement benefits at age 50 with 15 years of creditable
service as an officer. Survivor benefits are available to eligible beneficiaries of LEO members who die
while in active service or within 180 days of their last day of service and who also have either
completed 20 years of creditable service regardless of age, or have completed 15 years of service as a
LEO and have reached age 50, or have completed five years of creditable service as a LEO and have
reached age 55, or have completed 15 years of creditable service as a LEO if killed in the line of duty.
Eligible beneficiaries may elect to receive a monthly Survivor’s Alternate Benefit for life or a return of
the member’s contributions.
Contributions. Contribution provisions are established by General Statute 128-30 and may be amended
only by the North Carolina General Assembly. City of Brevard employees are required to contribute 6%
of their compensation. Employer contributions are actuarially determined and set annually by the
LGERS Board of Trustees. The City of Brevard’s contractually required contribution rate for the year
ended June 30, 2019, was 8.50% of compensation for law enforcement officers and 7.75% for general
employees and firefighters, actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with employee
contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year.
Contributions to the pension plan from the City of Brevard were $378,589 for the year ended June 30,
2019.
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Refunds of Contributions – City employees who have terminated service as a contributing member of
LGERS, may file an application for a refund of their contributions. By state law, refunds to members
with at least five years of service include 4% interest. State law requires a 60 day waiting period after
service termination before the refund may be paid. The acceptance of a refund payment cancels the
individual’s right to employer contributions or any other benefit provided by LGERS.
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions
At June 30, 2019, the City reported a liability of $1,502,167 for its proportionate share of the net
pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2018. The total pension liability
used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31,
2017. The total pension liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2018
utilizing update procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. The City’s proportion of the net
pension liability was based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of future payroll covered by
the pension plan, relative to the projected future payroll covered by the pension plan of all participating
LGERS employers, actuarially determined. At the measurement date of June 30, 2018, the City’s
proportion was 0.06332%, which was a decrease of 0.00184% from its proportion measured as of June
30, 2017.
For the year ended June 30, 2019, the City recognized pension expense of $423,182. At June 30, 2019,
the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions
from the following sources:

Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes of assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on
pension plan investments
Changes in proportion and differences between City
contributions and proportionate share of contributions
City contributions subsequent to the measurement date
Total

Deferred Outflows
of Resources
$
231,749
398,617

Deferred Inflows
of Resources
$
7,776
-

206,203

$

10,392
378,589
1,225,550

-

$

32,558
40,334

$378,589 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from City
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a decrease of the net pension
liability in the year ended June 30, 2020. Other amounts reported as deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024

$

$
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Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2017 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the
measurement:
Inflation
Salary increases
Investment rate of return

3.0 percent
3.50 to 8.10 percent, including inflation and
productivity factor
7.00 percent, net of pension plan investment
expense, including inflation

The plan currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, gender, employee group (i.e. general, law
enforcement officer) and health status (i.e. disabled and healthy). The current mortality rates are based
on published tables and based on studies that cover significant portions of the U.S. population. The
healthy mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future mortality improvements.
The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2017 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study the period January 1, 2010 through December 31, 2014.
Future ad hoc COLA amounts are not considered to be substantively automatic and are therefore not
included in the measurement.
The projected long-term investment returns and inflation assumptions are developed through review of
current and historical capital markets data, sell-side investment research, consultant whitepapers, and
historical performance of investment strategies. Fixed income return projections reflect current yields
across the U.S. Treasury yield curve and market expectations of forward yields projected and
interpolated for multiple tenors and over multiple year horizons. Global public equity return projections
are established through analysis of the equity risk premium and the fixed income return projections.
Other asset categories and strategies’ return projections reflect the foregoing and historical data
analysis. These projections are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting
the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected
inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset
class as of June 30, 2018 are summarized in the following table:
Asset Class
Fixed Income
Global Equity
Real Estate
Alternatives
Credit
Inflation Protection
Total

Target Allocation
29.0%
42.0%
8.0%
8.0%
7.0%
6.0%
100.0%

Real Rate of Return
1.4%
5.3%
4.3%
8.9%
6.0%
4.0%

The information above is based on 30 year expectations developed with the consulting actuary for the
2017 asset, liability and investment policy study for the North Carolina Retirement Systems, including
LGERS. The long-term nominal rates of return underlying the real rates of return are arithmetic
annualized figures. The real rates of return are calculated from nominal rates by multiplicatively
subtracting a long-term inflation assumption of 3.00%. All rates of return and inflation are annualized.
Discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The projection
of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be
made at the current contribution rate and that contributions from employers will be made at statutorily
required rates, actuarially determined. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of the current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to
all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
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Sensitivity of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate.
The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the
discount rate of 7.00 percent, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability
or net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point
lower (6.00 percent) or one percentage point higher (8.00 percent) than the current rate:

City’s Proportionate share of the net
Pension liability (asset)

1%
Decrease
( 6.00% )

Discount
Rate
(7.00%)

$ 3,608,335

$ 1,502,167

1%
Increase
(8.00%)
$ (257,780)

Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position
is available in the separately issued Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the State of
North Carolina.
Law Enforcement Officers' Special Separation Allowance
1. Plan Description
The City of Brevard administers a public employee retirement system (the Separation Allowance),
a single-employer defined benefit pension plan that provides retirement benefits to the City’s
qualified sworn law enforcement officers under the age of 62 who have completed at least 30 years
of creditable service or have attained 55 years of age and have completed five or more years of
creditable service. The Separation Allowance is equal to 0.85 percent of the annual equivalent of
the base rate of compensation most recently applicable to the officer for each year of creditable
service. The retirement benefits are not subject to any increases in salary or retirement allowances
that may be authorized by the General Assembly. Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 assigns the
authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the North Carolina General Assembly.
All full-time law enforcement officers of the City are covered by the Separation Allowance. At
December 31, 2017 (valuation date), the Separation Allowance’s membership consisted of:
Retirees receiving benefits
Active plan members
Total

2
24
26

A separate report was not issued for the plan.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Accounting - The City has chosen to fund the Separation Allowance on a pay as you go
basis. Pension expenditures are made from the General Fund, which is maintained on the modified
accrual basis of accounting. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in
accordance with the terms of the plan.
The Separation Allowance has no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria that are
outlined in GASB Statement 73.
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3. Actuarial Assumptions
The entry age actuarial cost method was used in the December 31, 2017, valuation. The total
pension liability in the December 31, 2017, actuarial valuation was determined using the following
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:
Inflation
Salary increases
Discount rate

2.5 percent
3.50 to 7.35 percent, including inflation and
productivity factor
3.64 percent

4. Contributions
The City is required by Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 to provide these retirement benefits and
has chosen to fund the amounts necessary to cover the benefits earned on a pay as you go basis
through appropriations made in the General Fund operating budget. There were no contributions
made by employees. The City’s obligation to contribute to this plan is established and may be
amended by the North Carolina General Assembly. Administration costs of the Separation
Allowance are financed through investment earnings. The City paid $35,179 as benefits came due
for the reporting period.
5. Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pension
At June 30, 2019, the City reported a total pension liability of $506,819. The total pension liability
was measured as of December 31, 2018 based on a December 31, 2017 actuarial valuation. The
total pension liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of December 31, 2018
utilizing update procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. For the year ended June 30,
2019, the City recognized pension expense of $35,999.

Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes of assumptions
City contributions subsequent to the measurement date
Total

Deferred Outflows
of Resources

Deferred Inflows
of Resources

$

$

$

24,896
17,333
42,229

$

42,017
23,561
65,578

The City paid $17,333 in benefit payments subsequent to the measurement date that are reported as
deferred outflows of resources related to pensions, and which will be recognized as a decrease of
the total pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2020. Other amounts reported as deferred
outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as
follows:
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Year ended June 30:
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024

$

$

(10,723)
(10,723)
(10,605)
(6,343)
(2,288)
(40,682)

Sensitivity of the City’s total pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The following
presents the City’s total pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 3.64 percent, as well
as what the City’s total pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is
1-percentage-point lower (2.64 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (4.64 percent) than the current
rate:
1%
Discount
1%
Decrease
Rate
Increase
(2.64% )
(3.64%)
(4.64%)
Total pension liability
$ 550,619
$ 506,819
$ 466,979

Balance at June 30, 2018
Service cost
Interest on the pension liability
Changes of benefit terms
Differences between expected and actual experience
in the measurement of the total pension liability
Change of assumption or other inputs
Benefit payments
Other changes
Balance at June 30, 2019

Total Pension
Liability
$
519,416
30,569
15,878
-

$

(4,664)
(20,504)
(33,876)
506,819

Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect a change in the discount rate from 3.16 percent at
December 31, 2017, to 3.64 percent at December 31, 2018.
The plan currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, and health status (i.e. disabled and
healthy). The current mortality rates are based on published tables and based on studies that cover
significant portions of the U.S. population. The healthy mortality rates also contain a provision to
reflect future mortality improvements.
The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2017 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the period January 1, 2010 through December 31, 2014.
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Total Expense, Liabilities, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions
Following is information related to the proportionate share and pension expense for all pension plans:

LGERS
Proportionate share of the net pension liability
Proportion of the net pension liability
Total pension liability
Pension expense
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Differences between expected and actual
experience
Change of assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments
Change in proportion and differences between
City contributions and proportionate share of
contributions
City contributions (LGERS)/benefit payments
(LEOSSA) subsequent to the measurement date

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Differences between expected and actual
experience
Change of assumptions
Change in proportion and differences between
City contributions and proportionate share of
contributions

LEOSSA

$ 1,502,167
0.06332%
423,182

$

$ 231,749
398,617

$

N/A
506,819
35,999

$ 1,502,167
N/A
506,819
459,181

24,896

$ 231,749
423,513

206,203

-

206,203

10,392

-

10,392

378,589
$ 1,225,550

$

$

$

$

-

Total

7,776
-

32,558
40,334

$

17,333
42,229

395,922
$ 1,267,779

42,017
23,561

$

65,578

32,558
$ 105,912

49,793
23,561

Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement Officers
Plan description – The City contributes to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan (Plan), a defined
contribution pension plan administered by the Department of State Treasurer and a Board of Trustees.
The Plan provides retirement benefits to law enforcement officers employed by the City. Article 5 of
G.S. Chapter 135 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the North Carolina
General Assembly. The Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement Officers is
included in the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the State of North Carolina. The
State’s CAFR includes the pension trust fund financial statements for the Internal Revenue Code
Section 401(k) plan that includes the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement
Officers. That report may be obtained by writing to the Officer of the State Controller, 1410 Mail
Service Center, Raleigh, North Carolina 27609, or by calling (919) 981-5454.
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Funding Policy – Article 12E of G.S. Chapter 143 requires the City to contribute each month an amount
equal to five percent of each officer’s salary, and all amounts contributed are vested immediately. Also,
the law enforcement officers may make voluntary contributions to the plan. The City made
contributions of $71,512 for the reporting year. No amounts were forfeited.
Firefighter’s and Rescue Squad Worker’s Pension Fund
Plan Description. The State of North Carolina contributes, on behalf of the City of Brevard, to the
Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund (FRSWPF), a cost-sharing multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plan with a special funding situation administered by the State of North
Carolina. FRSWPF provides pension benefits for eligible fire and rescue squad workers who have
elected to become members of the fund. Article 86 of G.S. Chapter 58 assigns the authority to establish
and amend benefit provisions to the North Carolina General Assembly. Management of the plan is
vested in the LGERS Board of Trustees, which consists of 13 members – nine appointed by the
Governor, one appointed by the state Senate, one appointed by the state House of Representatives, and
the State Treasurer and State Superintendent, who serve as ex-officio members. The Firefighters’ and
Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund is included in the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
(CAFR) for the State of North Carolina. The State’s CAFR includes financial statements and required
supplementary information for the Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund. That report
may be obtained by writing to the Office of the State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh,
North Carolina 27699-1410, by calling (919) 981-5454, or at www.osc.nc.gov.
Benefits Provided. FRSWPF provides retirement and survivor benefits. The present retirement benefit is
$170 per month. Plan members are eligible to receive the monthly benefit at age 55 with 20 years of
creditable service as a firefighter or rescue squad worker, and have terminated duties as a firefighter or
rescue squad worker. Eligible beneficiaries of members who die before beginning to receive the benefit
will receive the amount paid by the member and contributions paid on the member’s behalf into the
plan. Eligible beneficiaries of members who die after beginning to receive benefits will be paid the
amount the member contributed minus the benefits collected.
Contributions. Plan members are required to contribute $10 per month to the plan. The State, a nonemployer contributor, funds the plan through appropriations. The City does not contribute to the plan.
Contribution provisions are established by General Statute 58-86 and may be amended only by the
North Carolina General Assembly. For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2018, the State contributed
$17,952,000 to the plan. The City of Brevard’s proportionate share of the State’s contribution is
$18,327.
Refunds of Contributions – Plan members who are no longer eligible or choose not to participate in the
plan may file an application for a refund of their contributions. Refunds include the member’s
contributions and contributions paid by others on the member’s behalf. No interest will be paid on the
amount of the refund. The acceptance of a refund payment cancels the individual’s right to employer
contributions or any other benefit provided by FRSWPF.
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions
At June 30, 2019, the City reported no liability for its proportionate share of the net pension liability, as
the State provides 100% pension support to the City through its appropriations to the FRSWPF. The
total portion of the net pension liability that was associated with the City and supported by the State was
$49,860. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2018. The total pension liability used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2017.
The total pension liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2018 utilizing
update procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. The City’s proportion of the net pension
liability was based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of contributions to the pension plan
relative to the projected contributions of all participating employers. As the City is not projected to
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make any future contributions to the plan, its proportionate share at the June 30, 2018 and June 30,
2017 measurement dates was 0%.
For the year ended June 30, 2019, the City recognized pension expense of $14,179 and revenue of
$14,179 for support provided by the State. At June 30, 2019, the City reported no deferred outflows of
resources and no deferred inflows of resources related to pensions.
Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2017 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the
measurement:
Inflation
Salary increases
Investment rate of return

3.0 percent
Not applicable
7.00 percent, net of pension plan investment
expense, including inflation

For more information regarding actuarial assumptions, including mortality tables, the actuarial
experience study, the consideration of future ad hoc COLA amounts, the development of the projected
long-term investment returns, and the asset allocation policy, refer to the discussion of actuarial
assumptions for the LGERS plan in the first section of this note.
Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The projection
of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be
made at the current contribution rate and that contributions from employers will be made at statutorily
required rates, actuarially determined. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of the current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to
all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position is available in the separately issued Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the
State of North Carolina.
Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) – Healthcare Benefits
Plan Description. Under the terms of a City resolution, the City administers a single-employer defined
benefit Healthcare Benefits Plan (the HCB Plan). As of July 1, 2010, this plan provides
postemployment healthcare benefits to retirees of the City, provided they participate in the North
Carolina Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System (System) and have at least five years of
creditable service with the City. These employees may elect to stay on the group health policy until
they are Medicare eligible. Retirees pay full premium costs to cover themselves and their dependent(s).
Coverage can continue until they become Medicare-eligible. The City will contribute $750 per year into
a Health Savings Account (HSA) for eligible retirees. The retiree may continue dependent coverage
(and pay the full cost of this coverage) if enrolled in dependent coverage at the time of retirement.
Dependent coverage terminates upon the retiree becoming eligible for Medicare or attaining age 65.
The City has elected to partially pay the future overall cost of coverage for these benefits. The City
Council may amend the benefit provisions. A separate report was not issued for the HCB Plan.
Membership of the HCB Plan consisted of the following at June 30, 2017, the date of the most recent
actuarial valuation:
Retirees and dependents receiving benefits
Terminated plan members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits
Active plan members
Total
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Funding Policy – The retirees pays the full cost of coverage for the healthcare benefits under a City
resolution that can be amended by City Council. The City’s members pay the following monthly
premiums:
Tier
Cost
Retiree Only
$
602
Retiree and Children
1,204
Retiree and Spouse
987
Family
1,506
Retirees contributed $18,282 in premiums for the year ended June 30, 2019.
This City funds current year benefits as they come due, with an additional amount to prefund benefits as
determined annually by the Board. For the current year, the City contributed $37,032. The Fund is
accounted for as a trust fund.
Rate of return. For the year ended June 30, 2019, the annual money weighted rate of return on
investments, net of investment expense, was 2.3 percent. The money-weighted rate of return expresses
investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually
invested.
The components of the net OPEB liability of the City at June 30, 2019 were as follows:
Total OPEB liability
Plan fiduciary net position
City's net OPEB liability
Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of the total OPEB liability

$ 576,311
236,469
339,842
41.03%

Actuarial assumptions – The total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June
30, 2017, using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement,
unless otherwise specified:
Inflation
Salary increases
Investment rate of return
Healthcare cost trend rates

2.5 percent
3.5 to 7.75 percent including inflation and
productivity factor
2.72 percent, net of OPEB plan investment
expense, including inflation
7.75 percent for 2016 decreasing to an
ultimate rate of 5.00% by 2022

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Healthy Annuitant base rates projected to the valuation date
using MP-2015, projected forward generationally from the valuation date using MP-2015.
The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2017, valuation were based on the results of an actuarial
experience study for the period 2010-2014.
The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using long-term
historical data, estimates inherent in current market rates, and a log-normal distribution analysis in
which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected return, net of investment
expense and inflation) are developed by the investment consultant.
Discount rate – The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability at was 3.31 percent June 30,
2019, a decrease from the rate of 3.62 percent at June 30, 2018. However, because the OPEB plan’s
fiduciary net position was not projected to be sufficient to make all future benefit payments, the
discount rate incorporates a municipal bond rate which is 3.50 percent per the S&P Municipal Bond 20Page 83 of 395
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Year High Grade Rate Index as of June 30, 2019. The S&P Municipal Bond 20-Year High Grade rate
as of June 30, 2018 was 3.89 percent.
Sensitivity of the net OPEB Liability to changes in the discount rate – The following presents the net
OPEB liability of the City at June 30, 2019, as well as what the City’s net OPEB liability would be if it
were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (2.31 percent) or 1-percentagepoint higher (4.31 percent) than the current discount rate:

Net OPEB Liability

1% Decrease
(2.31%)
$ 402,903

Discount Rate
(3.31%)
$ 339,842

1% Increase
(4.31%)
$ 283,411

Sensitivity of the net OPEB Liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates – The following
presents the net OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s net OPEB liability would be if it
were to calculate healthcare cost trend rates that are 1- percentage-point lower (6.75 percent decreasing
to 4 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.75 percent decreasing to 6 percent) than the current
healthcare cost trend rate:

Net OPEB Liability

1% Decrease
(6.75% decreasing
to 4%)
$ 261,201

Healthcare Cost
Trend Rate (7.75%
decreasing to 5%)
$ 339,842

1% Increase
(8.75% decreasing
to 6%)
$435,473

Changes in Net OPEB Liability, OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred
Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB – At June 30, 2019, the City reported a net OPEB liability of
$339,842. The total OPEB liability used to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an
actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2017. The total OPEB liability was then rolled forward to the
measurement date of June 30, 2019 utilizing update procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions.
At June 30, 2019, the components of the net OPEB liability of the City, were as follows:

Increase (Decrease)

Balances at June 30, 2018
Changes for the year:
Service cost
Interest on the total OPEB liability
Differences between expected and actual
experience
Change of assumptions
Contributions
Net investment income
Benefit payments (net of participant contributions)
Net changes
Balances at June 30, 2019
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Total OPEB
Liability
(a)
$ 515,032
35,535
18,926

$

(27,096)
18,183
15,731
61,279
576,311
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Plan Fiduciary
Net Position
(b)
$
212,829
-

$

Net OPEB
Liability
(a)-(b)
$ 302,203
35,535
18,926

3,019
4,890
15,731
23,640
236,469

(27,096)
18,183
(3,019)
(4,890)
37,639
$ 339,842
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Changes of assumptions – Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect a change in the discount rate
from 3.62 percent in 2018 to 3.31 percent in 2019. Medical claims cost and rates were changed based
on most recent experience and changed to the current schedule. The Excise Tax of 40 percent on health
care plans that are above the thresholds set by the Affordable Care Act is effective in 2022 and has been
reflected.
For the year ended June 30, 2019, the City recognized OPEB expense of $47,453. At June 30, 2019, the
City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from
the following sources:

Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes of assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on plan investments
Total

Deferred Outflows
of Resources

Deferred Inflows
of Resources

$

$

$

15,742
4,227
19,969

39,830
8,853
48,683

$

Amounts reported as deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB
expense in future years as follows:

Year ended June 30:
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

$

$

(4,492)
(4,492)
(4,493)
(5,592)
(5,824)
(3,821)
(28,714)

Note 6 – Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources
The City has several deferred outflows of resources. Deferred outflows of resources comprise the
following:

Source
Contributions to the pension plan in the current fiscal year
Benefit payments made for LEOSSA
Differences between expected and actual experience (pension, OPEB)
Changes in assumptions (pensions)
Net differences between projected and actual earnings
on plan investments (pension, OPEB)
Changes in proportion and differences between employer contributions
and proportionate share of contributions (pension)
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Amount
$
378,589
17,333
231,749
439,255
210,430
10,392
$ 1,287,748
January 21, 2020

CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Deferred inflows of resources at year end comprise the following:

Source
Taxes receivable, less penalties (General Fund)
Differences between expected and actual experience (Pensions,
OPEB)

Statement of
Net Position
$
-

Net difference between projected and actual investment earnings
(Pensions, OPEB)
Changes in proportion and differences between employer
contributions and proportionate share of contributions (Pension)
Changes of assumptions and other inputs (Pensions, OPEB)
$

General Fund
Balance Sheet
$
6,112

89,623

-

-

-

32,558
32,414
154,595

$

6,112

Note 7 – Risk Management and Contingent Liabilities
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The City carries liability
insurance for various risks of loss through the North Carolina League of Municipalities Risk
Management Services. Settled claims resulting from these risks have not exceeded commercial
insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.
The City carries flood insurance through the National Flood Insurance Plan (NFIP). Because the City is
in an area of the State that has been mapped and designated an “A” area (an area close to a river, lake or
stream) by the Federal Emergency Management Agency, the City is eligible to purchase coverage of
$500,000 per structure through the NFIP.
The City of Brevard ABC Board is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to,
and destruction of assets; errors and omission; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The ABC
Board has property, general liability, auto liability, workers’ compensation and employee health
coverage. The ABC Board also has liquor legal liability coverage. There have been no significant
reductions in insurance coverage from the prior year and settled claims have not exceeded coverage in
any of the past three fiscal years.
In accordance with G.S. 159-29, the City’s employees that have access to $100 or more at any given
time of the City’s funds are performance bonded through a commercial surety bond. The City Finance
Officer/City Manager and the City Clerk are each bonded for $100,000. The remaining employees that
have access to funds are bonded under a blanket bond for $50,000. Additionally, each ABC Board
Member and employees designated as the general manager and finance officer are bonded in the amount
of $50,000.
The City is presently a defendant in lawsuits and is also subject to claims which may arise out of the
ordinary conduct of its affairs. It is the opinion of the City’s management and counsel that settlement
of these matters, if any, will not have a material adverse effect of the City’s financial position.
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Note 8 – Long-term Debt
Installment Contracts
In August 2009, the City entered into a direct placement installment purchase contract for $150,000 to
finance the installation of directional signs in the City. The property is pledged as collateral for the debt
while the debt is outstanding. The financing agreement requires semi-annual payments of $9,088 plus
interest at 3.75% per annum through August 2019.
In March 2012, the City entered into a direct placement installment purchase contract for $632,500 to
refinance another installment note related to two fire trucks. The property is pledged as collateral for the
debt while the debt is outstanding. The financing agreement requires a monthly payment of $7,104
including interest at 1.89% per annum through March 2020. The original amount of the previous note
was $790,000 with interest of 4.25% per annum. Defeasance of debt from this refinance occurred
through a current refunding with no unamortized differences.
In December 2012, the City entered into a direct placement installment purchase contract for $280,000
to finance the purchase of a Seagraves Tanker fire truck. The property is pledged as collateral for the
debt while the debt is outstanding. The financing agreement requires monthly payments of $2,751
including interest at 1.96% per annum through December 2022.
In December 2014, the City entered into a direct placement installment purchase contract for $426,000
to finance the purchase of the former Duke Energy Building located at 400 Cashiers Valley Road,
Brevard, NC. The property is pledged as collateral for the debt while the debt is outstanding. The
financing agreement requires monthly payments of $3,978, including interest at 2.25% per annum
through January 2025.
In August 2016, the City entered into a direct placement installment purchase contract for $122,000 for
the purchase of fire extrication equipment. The property is pledged as collateral for the debt while the
debt is outstanding. The financing agreement requires monthly payments of $2,126, including interest at
1.74% through August 2021.
In April 2017, the City entered in to a direct placement installment purchase contract for $421,234 to
finance equipment for sanitation, streets, sewer collections, park management, and waste water
treatment. The property is pledged as collateral for the debt while the debt is outstanding. The financing
agreement requires monthly payments of $7,376, including interest at 1.96% per annum through April
2022.
In May, 2018, the City entered into a direct placement installment purchase contract for $50,139 for the
purchase of public works equipment. The property is pledged as collateral for the debt while the debt is
outstanding. The financing agreement requires monthly payments of $903, including interest at 3.09%
per annum through May 2023.
In May, 2018, the City entered into a direct placement installment purchase contract for $257,197 for
the purchase of a garbage truck, an excavator, and accessories. The property is pledged as collateral for
the debt while the debt is outstanding. The financing agreement requires monthly payments of $2,500,
including interest at 3.09% per annum through May 2023.
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

The future minimum payments of the installment purchases as of June 30, 2019 are as follows:

Year ending
June 30
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025-2028

Governmental Activities
Principal
Interest
$ 220,880
$ 13,302
$
154,167
9,557
124,040
6,427
55,717
4,322
34,605
3,203
89,514
5,098
$ 678,923
$ 41,909
$

Total
234,182
163,724
130,467
60,039
37,808
94,612
720,832

Business-type Activities
Principal
Interest
Total
$
64,791
$
4,745
$
69,536
66,267
3,562
69,829
63,026
2,357
65,383
40,210
1,472
41,682
38,100
782
38,882
45,337
118
45,455
$ 317,731
$ 13,036
$ 330,767

Revolving Loans
In May 2011, the City entered into a direct placement federal revolving loan through a grant for
$1,142,606 with a loan term of 16 years at 2.455% per annum for the Belt Press Grit Removal Capital
Project. Interest is due semiannually starting in November 2013 through May 2029. Beginning in May
2014, the City is required to make annual principal payments of $71,875 through May 2029.
In May 2012, the City entered into a direct placement federal revolving loan through a grant for
$749,375 with a loan term of 20 years at 2.00% per annum for the Kings Creek Sewer Capital Project.
Interest is due semiannually starting in November 2013 through May 2033. Beginning in May 2014,
the City is required to make annual principal payments of $37,469 through May 2033.
In February 2014, the City entered into a direct placement federal revolving loan for and estimated
$1,496,550 with a term of 20 years at 0% interest. The loan was for replacement of 3,484 manual-read
meters with radio-read meters. Beginning in May 2017, the City is required to make annual principal
payments of $74,828 through May 2036.
In May 2014, the City entered into a direct placement federal revolving loan for $1,680,000 with a term
of 20 years at 2% per annum. The loan is for the City-wide 6 Inch Gravity Sewer Upgrade Project.
Interest is due semiannually starting in November 2016. Beginning in May 2017, the City is required to
make annual principal payments of $84,000 through May 2036.
In March 2013, the City entered into a direct placement federal revolving loan for $2,641,000 with a
term of 18 years at 0% interest. The loan is for the Burrell Mountain Water Tank Project. Beginning in
May 2016, the City is required to make annual principal payments of $146,728 through May 2033.
In August 2015, the City entered into a direct placement federal revolving loan for $1,435,784 with a
term of 20 years at 0% per annum. The loan is for the Kings Creek Phase II Sewer Rehabilitation and
Replacement Project. Beginning in May 2018, the City is required to make annual principal payments
of $71,789 through May 2037.
In October 2015, the City entered into a direct placement federal revolving loan for $1,484,150 with a
term of 20 years at 0% interest. The loan is for the Kings Creek Phase III Sewer Rehabilitation and
Replacement Project. Beginning in May 2018, the City is required to make annual principal payments
of $74,208 through May 2037.
In October 2015, the City entered into a direct placement federal revolving loan for up to $13,660,000
with a term of 20 years at 1.84% per annum. The final loan amount was $12,987,256. The loan is for
the Neely Road Pump Station and Force Main Rehabilitation Project. Beginning in November 2018,
the City will be required to make semi-annual interest payments. Beginning in May 2019, the City is
required to make annual principal payments of $649,363 through May 2038.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

The future minimum payments of the revolving loans as of June 30, 2019 are as follows:

Year ending
June 30
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025-2029
2030-2034
2035-2038

Principal
$
1,209,789
1,209,789
1,209,789
1,209,789
1,209,789
6,048,940
5,507,670
3,353,062
$ 20,958,617

Business-type Activities
Interest
$
285,816
$
269,369
252,946
236,510
220,118
885,288
461,684
124,522
$
2,736,253
$

Total
1,495,605
1,479,158
1,462,735
1,446,299
1,429,907
6,934,228
5,969,354
3,477,584
23,694,870

Changes in Long-term Debt

July 1, 2018
Governmental Activities:
Direct placement
installment contracts
Total pension liability (LEOSSA)
Net pension obligation (LGERS)
Net OPEB obligation
Compensated absences
Governmental activity longterm liabilities
Business-type Activities:
Direct placement
installment contracts
Direct placement
revolving loans
Net pension obligation (LGERS)
Net OPEB obligation
Compensated absences
Business-type activity longterm liabilities

$

Increase

Decrease

June 30, 2019

Current
Portion

924,063
519,416
796,371
241,762
262,045

$

405,363
30,111
182,543

$ 245,140
12,597
169,109

$

678,923
506,819
1,201,734
271,873
275,479

$ 220,880
169,109

$ 2,743,657

$

618,017

$ 426,846

$ 2,934,828

$ 389,989

$

$

$

$

$

381,136
22,168,396
199,093
60,441
73,371

$ 22,882,437

$

-

63,405

317,731

64,791

101,340
7,528
74,659

1,209,779
72,636

20,958,617
300,433
67,969
75,394

1,209,789
72,636

183,527

$1,345,820

$ 21,720,144

$ 1,347,216

Compensated absences for governmental activities typically have been liquidated in the general fund and are
accounted for on a LIFO basis, assuming that employees are taking leave time as it is earned.
As of June 30, 2019, the City’s remaining legal debt margin was approximately $57,000,000.
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Note 9 – Interfund Balances and Activity
A. Balances Due to/from Other Funds
The composition of interfund balances as of June 30, 2019 is as follows:
Receivable Fund

Payable Fund

Amount

General Fund
Multi-Use Path Capital Project Fund
for the Probart Street sidewalk project

$ 560,000

B. Transfers to/from Other Funds

From the General Fund to the Special Fire District Fund
for use in operations of the fire department

$ 385,569

From the General Fund to the Downtown Master Plan Fund
for use in downtown capital projects

$ 180,000

From the General Fund to the Multi-Use Path Capital Project Fund
for use in construction of greenways around the City

$ 560,000

From the General Fund to the Rosenwald Fund for
construction and improvement of recreational facilities

$ 68,750

From the Capital Reserve Fund to the Utility Fund
for water system improvements

$ 200,000

Note 10 – Net Investment in Capital Assets
The net investment in capital assets as of June 30, 2019 is calculated as follows:

Capital assets
Less: Long-term debt
Net investment in capital assets
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Governmental
$ 7,423,243
678,923
$ 6,744,320

Business-type
$ 36,728,508
21,276,348
$ 15,452,160
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Note 11 – Fund Balance
The following schedule provides management and citizens with information on the portion of the
General Fund balance that is available for appropriation:

Total fund balance - General Fund
Less:
Restricted for:
Stabilization by State statute
Public safety
Streets - Powell Bill
Committed:
Capital projects
Assigned:
Appropriated fund balance in next year's budget
Minimum fund balance policy
Remaining fund balance

$

5,166,410

1,582,653
156,376
34,709
364,733

$

135,000
2,633,304
259,635

The City has adopted a minimum fund balance policy for the General Fund which instructs
management to conduct business of the City in such a manner that available fund balance is at least
equal to or greater than 30.0% of budgeted expenditures.
The City had no outstanding encumbrances related to purchase orders and contracts that remained
unperformed at year-end.
Note 12 – Bjerg Nonexpendable Trust Fund
The Bjerg Nonexpendable Trust Fund, consisting of a gift of $55,440 from the Estate of Dorothy S.
Bjerg, is restricted. The income from the fund is to be used for the maintenance and upkeep of the
building known as "French Broad Community Center" located within the City.
Note 13 – Ad Valorem Taxes
The total tax scroll and records of individual assessments for ad valorem taxes are maintained by the
Transylvania County Tax Collector on behalf of the City. Collections are made by the County Tax
Collector and remitted to the City of Brevard at least monthly. A three percent (3%) collection fee for
current tax collections and a five percent (5%) collection fee for delinquent tax collections are charged
to the City by the County. A one and a half percent (1.5%) collection fee for current vehicle tax
collections are charged to the City by the County.
Note 14 – Related Party Transactions
The City purchased approximately $30,000 of goods during the year from Harris Hardware and Farm
Supply, Inc., which is operated by Mayor Jimmy Harris.
Note 15 – Summary Disclosure of Significant Contingencies
Federal and State Assisted Programs
The City has received federal and state grants. Periodic audits of these grants are required and certain
costs may be questioned as not being appropriate expenditures under the grant agreements. Such audits
could result in the refund of grant monies to the grantor agencies. Management believes that any
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

required refunds will be immaterial. No provision has been made in the accompanying financial
statements for the refund of grant monies.
Note 16 – Subsequent Events
On July 31, 2019, the City of Brevard entered into a direct placement installment purchase agreement in
the amount of $334,793 for the purchase of equipment.
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS' SPECIAL SEPARATION ALLOWANCE
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
LAST THREE FISCAL YEARS

Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability
2019
Beginning balance
Service cost
Interest on the total pension liability
Changes of benefit terms
Differences between expected and actual experience
in the measurement of the total pension liability
Change of assumptions or other inputs
Benefit payments
Other changes
Ending balance of the total pension liability

$

519,416
30,569
15,878
(4,664)
(20,504)
(33,876)
506,819

$

2018
$

$

2017

539,753
26,655
19,948
(60,283)
39,286
(45,943)
519,416

$

563,585
29,666
19,069
-

$

(13,688)
(58,879)
539,753

$

539,753

Schedule of Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll
Total pension liability

$

Covered payroll

506,819
1,282,051

Total pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll

39.53%

$

519,416
1,241,015
41.85%

1,192,033
45.28%

Notes to the schedules:
The City of Brevard has no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria
in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement 73 to pay related benefits.

The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior year ended December 31.
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
RETIREE HEALTH BENEFITS PLAN
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
LAST THREE FISCAL YEARS
Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios

2019

Total OPEB Liability
Service cost
Interest on the total OPEB liability
Changes of benefit terms
Differences between expected and actual experience
Change of assumptions or other inputs
Benefit payments
Net change in total OPEB liability
Total OPEB liability - beginning
Total OPEB liability - ending

$

$

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions - employer
Net investment income
Benefit payments
Net change in plan fiduciary net position
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning
Plan fiduciary net position - ending

$

City's net OPEB liability - ending

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of
the total OPEB liability

$

$

339,842

8.49%
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$

$

$4,003,851

City's net OPEB liability as a percentage of
covered-employee payroll

$

3,019
4,890
15,731
23,640
212,829
236,469

41.03%

Covered-employee payroll
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35,535
18,926
(27,096)
18,183
15,731
61,279
515,032
576,311

2018
35,733
16,594
(22,379)
(12,101)
18,104
35,951
479,081
515,032

2017
$

$

37,397
12,621
55,672
(23,545)
(58,498)
23,647
455,434
479,081

$

$

646
22
18,104
18,772
194,057
212,829

$

77,248
39
(58,498)
18,789
175,268
194,057

$

302,203

$

285,024

41.32%
$4,003,851

7.55%

40.51%
$4,003,851

7.12%
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
SCHEDULE OF CITY'S CONTRIBUTIONS
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
LAST THREE FISCAL YEARS
RETIREE HEALTH BENEFITS PLAN

2019
Actuarily Determined Contribution

$

54,775

Contribution in relation to the
contractually required contribution

2018
$

54,775

3,019

Contribution deficiency (excess)

$

51,756

City's covered-employee payroll

$ 4,003,851

Actual contributions as a percentage of
covered-employee payroll

2017
$

646
$

54,129

$ 4,003,851

0.08%

23,438

77,248
$

(53,810)

$ 4,003,851

0.02%

1.93%

Notes to Schedule:
Valuation date: Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of June 30, one year prior
to the end of the year in which contributions are reported
Methods and assumptions used to determine contributions rates:
Actuarial cost method
Amortization method
Amortization period
Asset valuation method
Inflation
Healthcare cost trend rates
Salary increases
Investment rate of return
Retirement age and mortality
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Entry age normal
Level dollar
30 years
Market value
2.50 percent
7.75 percent decreasing to 5% by 2022
3.5 to 7.75 including inflation and productivity factor
2.72 percent, net of OPEB plan investment expense, including
inflation
Assumed life expectancies are based on the RP-2014 Healthy
Annuitant base rates projected to 2015 using MP-2015, projected
forward generationally from 2015 using MP-2015.
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
CITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY (ASSET)
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
LAST SIX FISCAL YEARS *
Local Government Employees' Retirement System

2019
City's proportionate share of the net pension
liability (asset) (%)
City's proportion of the net pension liability
(asset) ($)
City's covered payroll

2018

0.06332%

$ 1,502,167
4,376,609

0.06516%

$

2017

2016

0.07112%

995,464

$ 1,509,405

4,365,405

4,312,361

0.07737%

$

347,232
4,405,582

2015

2014

0.07524%

$ (443,725)
4,477,284

0.00728%

$

877,520
4,548,986

City's proportionate share of the net pension
liability (asset) as a percentage of its
covered payroll

34.32%

22.80%

35.00%

7.88%

9.91%

19.29%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total pension liability **

91.63%

94.18%

91.47%

98.09%

102.64%

94.35%

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year ending June 30.
** This will be the same percentage for all participant employers in the LGERS plan.
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
SCHEDULE OF CITY'S CONTRIBUTIONS
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
LAST SIX FISCAL YEARS
Local Government Employees' Retirement System

2019
Contractually required contribution

$

Contribution in relation to the
contractually required contribution

2018

378,589

378,589

Contribution deficiency (excess)

$

City's covered payroll

$ 4,736,758

Contributions as a percentage of
covered payroll
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$

-

7.99%

2017

339,990

$

339,990
$

-

$ 4,376,609

7.77%

328,218

$

328,218
$

-

$ 4,365,405

7.52%
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2016

2015

296,217

$

296,217
$

-

$ 4,312,361

6.87%

2014

315,304

$

315,304
$

-

$ 4,405,582

7.16%

319,008

319,008
$

-

$ 4,477,284

7.13%
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
CITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
LAST FIVE FISCAL YEARS *
Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension

City's proportionate share of the net pension
liability (%)
City's proportion of the net pension liability ($)

$

State's proportionate share of the net pension liability
associated with the City

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

0.00000%

0.00000%

0.00000%

0.00000%

0.00000%

-

$

49,860

-

$

-

$

33,501

44,577

-

$

32,874

-

25,311

Total

$

49,860

$

44,577

$

33,501

$

32,874

$

25,311

City's covered payroll

$

312,091

$

299,914

$

281,616

$

256,786

$

209,861

City's proportionate share of the net pension
liability as a percentage of its covered payroll

15.98%

14.86%

11.90%

12.80%

12.06%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total pension liability

89.69%

89.35%

89.94%

91.40%

93.42%

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year ending June 30.
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COMBINING AND INDIVIDUAL FUND STATEMENTS
AND SCHEDULES
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
GENERAL FUND
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the year ended June 30, 2019
Final
Budget
Revenues
Ad Valorem Taxes:
Current year
Prior years
Penalties and interest
Refunds paid on ad valorem tax

$

Other Taxes and Licenses:
Local option sales tax
Zoning administration
Unrestricted Intergovernmental Revenues:
Utilities sales tax
Beer and wine taxes
Video franchise fees
City of Brevard ABC Board
Payments in lieu of taxes
Solid waste disposal tax
Restricted Intergovernmental Revenues:
Powell Bill allocation
City narcotics investigation
Court facilities fees
Sales and Services:
Recycling revenue
Rents
Parking violation penalties
Refuse collection fees
Vehicle maintenance

Investment earnings
Miscellaneous revenue
Total revenues
Expenditures
General Government:
Governing Body:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Administration:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Capital outlay
Allocation to utility fund
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4,940,300
10,000
11,000
(2,500)
4,958,800

Actual

$

5,030,661
3,354
9,213
(695)
5,042,533

$

90,361
(6,646)
(1,787)
1,805
83,733

1,635,100
51,500
1,686,600

1,705,015
42,510
1,747,525

69,915
(8,990)
60,925

540,000
34,500
45,000
150,000
7,000
5,000
781,500

567,626
34,761
42,741
150,000
7,076
5,977
808,181

27,626
261
(2,259)
76
977
26,681

222,000
55,000
2,000
279,000

221,909
66,276
2,632
290,817

(91)
11,276
632
11,817

236,500
27,000
4,500
668,500
431,650
1,368,150

222,907
27,286
4,740
673,520
320,970
1,249,423

(13,593)
286
240
5,020
(110,680)
(118,727)

90,100

93,197

3,097

9,000

24,965

15,965

9,173,150

9,256,641

83,491

35,668
68,200
103,868

38,901
59,187
98,088

5,780

492,310
134,750
5,000
(287,500)
344,560

482,913
130,718
2,706
(287,500)
328,837

15,723
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Variance
Positive
(Negative)
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
GENERAL FUND
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the year ended June 30, 2019
Final
Budget
Finance:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Allocation to utility fund
Legal:
Other operating expenses
Planning:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Special Appropriations:
Arts Council
Chamber of Commerce
Heart of Brevard
Bread of Life
Farmers market
Total General Government
Public Safety:
Police:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Capital outlay
Total Public Safety
Public Works:
Administration:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Capital outlay
Central Maintenance:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Capital outlay
Streets:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Capital outlay

Powell Bill:
Other operating expenses
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310,062
478,700
(287,500)
501,262

317,797
443,775
(287,500)
474,072

27,190

65,500

56,352

9,148

422,115
303,550
730,665

371,216
268,731
639,947

90,718

10,000
3,000
30,000
5,000
17,000
67,500

10,000
3,000
30,000
5,000
17,000
65,000

2,500

1,813,355

1,662,296

151,059

2,467,844
416,755
87,000
2,971,599

2,480,133
334,488
77,864
2,892,485

79,114

338,504
113,100
42,000
493,604

337,281
92,083
34,980
464,344

29,260

137,780
400,465
22,600
560,845

149,329
293,581
7,875
450,785

110,060

486,007
360,000
76,000
922,007

473,459
369,435
77,290
920,184

1,823

222,000
222,000

199,092
199,092

22,908
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Variance
Positive
(Negative)
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
CAPITAL RESERVE FUND
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Final
Budget
Revenues:
Fees in lieu of infrastructure

$

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Fund balance appropriated
General Fund
Water and Sewer Fund
Total other financing sources (uses)

Actual
-

$

200,000
(200,000)
-

Net change in fund balance

$

32,402

$

-

(167,598)

32,402

(200,000)
(200,000)

(200,000)
(200,000)

Fund balance, beginning of year

$

(167,598)

532,331

Fund balance, end of year
Fund balance committed for:
Streets and sidewalks
Water and sewer projects

$

364,733

$

85,801
278,932
364,733

$
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Variance
Positive
(Negative)
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Combining Balance Sheet
June 30, 2019

Special Revenue
Heart of Brevard
Emergency
Municipal Service
Telephone System
District Fund
Fund

Special
Fire District
Fund
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted
Other receivables
Due from other governments
Notes receivable
Total assets
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to the General Fund
Total liabilitites

$

$

$

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable
Restricted for:
Stabilization by state statute
Public safety
Economic and physical development
Perpetual maintenance
Unassigned (deficit)
Committed for capital projects
Total fund balances
Total liabilities and fund balances
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$

60,495
6,301
66,796

$

20,019
20,019

$

$

2,723
2,723

$

2,723
2,723

$

$

44,840
12,098
56,938

$

658
658

$

-

-

-

6,301
40,476
46,777

2,723
(2,723)
-

12,098
44,182
56,280

66,796

$

2,723
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$

Housing
Trust Fund

56,938

$

125,196
266,607
391,803

-

391,803
391,803
$

391,803

January 21, 2020

CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Combining Balance Sheet
June 30, 2019

Capital Projects
Downtown
Master Plan
Project Fund

Rosenwald
Revitalization
Project Fund

629,814
57,737
687,551

$

$

4,671
560,000
564,671

$

Multi-Use
Path Project
Fund
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted
Other receivables
Due from other governments
Notes receivable
Total assets
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to the General Fund
Total liabilitites

$

$

$

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable
Restricted for:
Stabilization by state statute
Public safety
Economic and physical development
Perpetual maintenance
Unassigned (deficit)
Committed for capital projects
Total fund balances
Total liabilities and fund balances
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$

568,015
568,015

-

-

687,551

$

75
75

-

57,737
65,143
122,880
$

$

83,034
83,034

568,015
568,015
$

568,015

$

$

$

$

61,677
61,677

-

55,440

82,959
82,959

6,237
61,677

83,034

$

Total Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds
$

$

$

-
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Permanent
Non-expendable
Bjerg
Trust Fund

61,677

1,280,863
292,208
6,301
72,558
266,607
1,918,537

28,146
560,000
588,146

55,440
78,859
84,658
391,803
6,237
(2,723)
716,117
1,330,391
$

1,918,537
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019

Special
Fire District
Fund
Revenues:
Ad valorem taxes
Restricted intergovernmental
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Total revenues

$

Expenditures:
Public safety
Economic and physical development
Capital outlay
Debt service:
Principal retirement
Interest
Total expenditures
Revenues over (under) expenditures

342,566
4,436
2,035
349,037

Special Revenue
Heart of Brevard
Emergency
Municipal Service
Telephone System
District Fund
Fund
$

140,833
140,833

$

72,584
72,584

Housing
Trust Fund
$

3,025
3,025

576,721
-

140,833
-

27,990
-

-

134,008
7,608
718,337

140,833

27,990

-

(369,300)

-

44,594

3,025

385,569

-

-

-

Net change in fund balances

16,269

-

44,594

3,025

Fund balances (deficits), beginning

30,508

-

11,686

388,778

Other Financing Sources:
Transfers from General Fund

Fund balances, ending
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$

46,777

$

-
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$

56,280

$

391,803
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019

Multi-Use
Path Project
Fund
Revenues:
Ad valorem taxes
Restricted intergovernmental
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Total revenues

$

Expenditures:
Public safety
Economic and physical development
Capital outlay
Debt service:
Principal retirement
Interest
Total expenditures

57,737
124,863
182,600

Capital Projects
Downtown
Master Plan
Project Fund
$

72,162
72,162

Rosenwald
Revitalization
Project Fund

Permanent
Non-expendable
Bjerg
Trust Fund

Total Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

$

$

$

-

1,324
1,324

483,399
134,757
1,324
202,085
821,565

250,279

41,980

65,232

-

604,711
140,833
357,491

250,279

41,980

65,232

-

134,008
7,608
1,244,651

Revenues over (under) expenditures

(67,679)

30,182

(65,232)

1,324

Other Financing Sources:
Transfers from General Fund

560,000

180,000

68,750

-

Net change in fund balances

492,321

210,182

3,518

1,324

771,233

(369,441)

357,833

79,441

60,353

559,158

Fund balances (deficits), beginning
Fund balances, ending
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$

122,880

$

568,015

$

82,959
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$

61,677

(423,086)

1,194,319

$

1,330,391
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
SPECIAL FIRE DISTRICT FUND
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Final
Budget
Revenues:
Ad valorem taxes
Restricted intergovernmental
Miscellaneous
Total revenues

$

Expenditures:
Public Safety:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Total public safety
Debt Service:
Principal retirement
Interest
Total debt service
Total expenditures
Revenues under expenditures
Other Financing Sources:
Transfer from general fund
Net change in fund balance

$

Actual

343,294
343,294

$

342,566
4,436
2,035
349,037

$

(728)
4,436
2,035
5,743

363,634
223,613
587,247

364,425
212,296
576,721

(791.00)
11,317.00
10,526

141,616
141,616

134,008
7,608
141,616

7,608
(7,608)
-

728,863

718,337

10,526

(385,569)

(369,300)

16,269

385,569

385,569

-

-

16,269

Fund balance, beginning of year

$

16,269

30,508

Fund balance, end of year
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Variance
Positive
(Negative)

$
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
SPECIAL MUNICIPAL SERVICE DISTRICT FUND
HEART OF BREVARD
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Final
Budget
Revenues:
Ad valorem taxes

$

Expenditures:
Contracted services

146,000

Actual
$

146,000

Net change in fund balance

$

140,833

$

-

-

(5,167)

5,167

140,833

Fund balance, beginning of year

$

-

-

Fund balance, end of year
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Variance
Positive
(Negative)

$
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
EMERGENCY TELEPHONE SYSTEM FUND
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Final
Budget
Revenues:
Restricted intergovernmental

$

Expenditures:
Public safety
Net change in fund balance

$

40,163

Actual
$

72,584

40,163

27,990

-

44,594

Fund balance, beginning of year

$

32,421

12,173
$

44,594

11,686

Fund balance, end of year
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Variance
Positive
(Negative)

$
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
HOUSING TRUST FUND
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Final
Budget
Revenues:
Developer loan repayment

$

Expenditures:
Economic and physical development
Revenues over expenditures

3,026

Actual
$

-

-

21,184

Reconciliation from budget to actual schedule (budgetary basis)
to the fund schedule (modified accrual)
Reconciling item:
Net collections on long-term loans

$

18,158

3,026
$

21,184

(18,159)

Net change in fund balance

3,025

Fund balance, beginning of year

388,778

Fund balance, end of year
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21,184

3,026
$

Variance
Positive
(Negative)

$

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

76

391,803

January 21, 2020

CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
MULTI-USE PATH CAPITAL PROJECT FUND
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Final
Budget
Revenues
Restricted intergovernmental
Miscellaneous revenues

$

Actual

140,000

Total revenues

Variance
Positive
(Negative)

$

57,737
124,863

$

57,737
(15,137)

140,000

182,600

42,600

255,000
60,000
75,000
530,000

136,301
47,211
66,597
170

118,699
12,789
8,403
529,830

Total expenditures

920,000

250,279

669,721

Revenues under expenditures

(780,000)

(67,679)

712,321

265,000
515,000

560,000

(265,000)
45,000

780,000

560,000

(220,000)

Expenditures:
Paths, sidewalks, and signage
Skate park project
Railroad avenue project
Railroad depot project

Other Financing Sources:
Fund balance appropriated
Transfers from General Fund
Total other financing sources
Net change in fund balance

$

-

492,321

Fund balance (deficit), beginning of year

492,321

(369,441)

Fund balance, end of year
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$

$
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
DOWNTOWN MASTER PLAN CAPITAL PROJECT FUND
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Final
Budget
Revenues:
Jordan Street parking lot
Miscellaneous revenue
Total revenues

$

Expenditures:
Clemson Plaza and other downtown improvements
Jordan Street parking lot
Total expenditures
Revenues under expenditures
Other Financing Sources:
Fund balance appropriated
Transfer from General Fund
Total other financing sources

Net change in fund balance

$

Actual

30,000
11,000
41,000

$

61,162
11,000
72,162

$

31,162
31,162

361,000
561,000

36,432
5,548
41,980

324,568
(5,548)
519,020

(520,000)

30,182

550,182

340,000
180,000
520,000

180,000
180,000

(340,000)
(340,000)

-

210,182

Fund balance, beginning of year

$

210,182

357,833

Fund balance, end of year

Page 114 of 395

Variance
Positive
(Negative)

$
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
ROSENWALD REVITALIZATION CAPITAL PROJECT FUND
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Final
Budget
Revenues:
Restricted intergovernmental

$

Revenues under expenditures
Other Financing Sources:
Fund balance appropriated
Transfer from General Fund
Total other financing sources

Net change in fund balance

Actual
-

Expenses:
Revitalization project

$

$

-

$

-

892,000

65,232

826,768

(892,000)

(65,232)

826,768

92,000
800,000
892,000

68,750
68,750

(92,000)
(731,250)
(823,250)

-

3,518

Fund balance, beginning of year

$

3,518

79,441

Fund balance, end of year
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Variance
Positive
(Negative)

$
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
WATER AND SEWER FUND
Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP)
For the year ended June 30, 2019
Final
Budget
Revenues:
Charges for utilities:
Water
Sewer
Taps and connection fees:
Water
Sewer
Other operating revenues

$

Total revenues

2,791,000
2,423,000

$

(23,929)
247,138

5,482,500

5,734,329

251,829

346,105
512,100
858,205

351,873
475,938
827,811

30,394

281,587
284,000
565,587

260,476
265,508
525,984

39,603

1,423,792

1,353,795

69,997

554,159
870,521
46,861
1,471,541

522,360
796,488
34,910
1,353,758

117,783

366,074
579,700
214,000
1,159,774

339,018
504,976
132,905
976,899

182,875

2,631,315

2,330,657

300,658

1,754,640
1,742,640

400,280
1,273,184
1,673,464

69,176

Sewer Maintenance:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Capital outlay
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2,767,071
2,670,138

4,425
1,619
22,576

Sewer Service:
Sewage Treatment:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses
Capital outlay

Debt Service:
Interest and fees
Debt principal
Total debt service

$

16,925
36,619
243,576

Water Distribution:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses

Total sewer service

Actual

12,500
35,000
221,000

Expenditures:
Water Service:
Water Treatment:
Salaries and employee benefits
Other operating expenses

Total water service

Variance
Positive
(Negative)

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

80

January 21, 2020

CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
WATER AND SEWER FUND
Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP)
For the year ended June 30, 2019
Final
Budget
Nondepartmental:
Payment to general fund in lieu of
taxes and administrative expenses
OPEB expense
Miscellaneous
Total expenditures

Actual

575,000
6,750
32,000
613,750

575,000
6,750
31,286
613,036

714
714

6,411,497

5,970,952

440,545

Revenues under expenditures
Other financing sources:
Fund balance appropriated
Installment loan proceeds
Transfer from capital project fund
Total other financing sources
Revenues and other sources under
expenditures

Variance
Positive
(Negative)

$

(928,997)

(236,623)

692,374

600,997
214,000
114,000
928,997

129,952
129,952

(600,997)
(214,000)
15,952
(799,045)

-

(106,671)

$

(106,671)

Reconciliation of Budgetary Basis
(modified accrual) to Full Accrual Basis:
Reconciling items:
Payment of debt principal
Capital outlay
Revenues of the Capital Project Fund
Capital outlay of the Capital Project Fund
Transfer from the Capital Reserve Fund
Transfer from Capital Project fund
Increase in accrued interest
Increase in net OPEB liability
Increase in deferred outflows of resources - OPEB
Increase in deferred inflows of resources - OPEB
Increase in deferred outflows of resources - pension
Increase in net pension liability
Decrease in deferred inflows of resources - pension
Increase in accrued vacation
Depreciation
Change in net position
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1,273,184
132,905
15,952
(85,498)
200,000
(129,952)
(36,900)
(7,528)
3,112
(3,766)
85,474
(101,340)
6,947
(2,023)
(1,151,930)
$
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
WATER AND SEWER CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP)
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Actual through June 30, 2019
Project
Authorization
Revenues:
Restricted intergovernmental

$ 1,000,000

Expenditures:
WWTP Rehab Project
Cathey's Creek Stream Restoration
Total expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfer from Capital Reserve Fund
Transfer to Water and Sewer Fund
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$

86,000
1,000,000
1,086,000

Revenues under expenditures

Revenues and other financing sources
over expenditures and other uses

Reported in
Prior Years

$

-

$

15,952

Variance
Positive
(Negative)

Total to
Date

Current
Year

$

15,952

(984,048)

-

85,498
85,498

85,498
85,498

(86,000)

-

(69,546)

(69,546)

16,454

200,000
(114,000)
86,000

-

200,000
(129,952)
70,048

200,000
(129,952)
70,048

(15,952)
(15,952)

-

$

-

$
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
INSURANCE INTERNAL SERVICE FUND
Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Financial Plan and Actual (Non-GAAP)
For the year ended June 30, 2019
Financial
Plan
Revenues:
Charges for services

$ 1,455,245

Expenditures:
Claims
Insurance premiums
Other operating expenses
Total expenditures
Revenues over expenditures
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Actual
$

1,044,990
208,755
201,500
1,455,245
$

-

1,445,347

$

$

244,757

(9,898)

332,378
(60,077)
(17,646)
254,655

712,612
268,832
219,146
1,200,590
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Variance
Positive
(Negative)

$

244,757
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SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL DATA
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
GENERAL FUND
Schedule of Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Uncollected
Balance
6/30/2018

Fiscal Year
2018-2019
2017-2018
2016-2017
2015-2016
2014-2015
2013-2014
2012-2013
2011-2012
2010-2011
2009-2010
2008-2009

$

$

4,966
2,126
832
755
1,817
1,977
1,199
2,287
814
1,194
17,967

Additions
$

$

5,035,139
5,035,139

Uncollected
Balance
6/30/2019

Collections
And Credits
$

$

5,031,393
3,133
230
14
30
1,194
5,035,994

$

Less: allowance for uncollectible accounts:
General Fund
Ad valorem taxes receivable, net

3,746
1,833
1,896
832
755
1,803
1,977
1,169
2,287
814
17,112

(11,000)
$

6,112

$

5,042,533

$

3,167
(9,213)
1,194
(1,687)
5,035,994

Reconciliation with revenues:
Ad valorem taxes - General Fund
Reconciling items:
Releases
Interest collected
Taxes written off
Refunds and other adjustments, net
Total collections and credits
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
GENERAL FUND
Analysis of Current Tax Levy
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Property
Valuation
Original levy:
Property taxed at current rates
Penalties
Total

$

Discoveries:

0.0051

$

17,651,176

Abatements
Total property valuation

Total
Levy

Rate

969,694,510

(388,431)
$

4,945,442
1,657
4,947,099

$

Registered
Motor
Vehicles

4,673,657
1,657
4,675,314

$

271,785
271,785

90,021

90,021

-

(1,981)

(1,981)

-

986,957,255

Net levy

5,035,139

4,763,354

3,746

3,746

Uncollected taxes at June 30, 2019
Current year's taxes collected

$

Current levy collection percentage
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Property
Excluding
Registered
Motor
Vehicles

5,031,393
99.93%
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$

4,759,608
99.92%

271,785
$

271,785
100.00%
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CITY OF BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA
Schedule of Findings
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019
I.

Summary of Auditor’s Results
Financial Statements
Type of auditors’ report issued on whether the financial statements audited were prepared in
accordance to GAAP: Unmodified
Internal control over financial reporting:
 Material weakness(es) identified?

yes

X no

 Significant deficiency(s) identified
that are not considered to be
material weaknesses?

yes

X none reported

Noncompliance material to financial
statements noted

yes

X no

Page 126 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

88

January 21, 2020



&,7<2)%5(9$5'1257+&$52/,1$

H H   )#' 
# # R >=/$./BK




)LQGLQJ   '           "            
  P      '  #R./BK"


)LQGLQJ  '     "  
 4   '    ,4     4        
    ,44  ' ' "









































Page 127 of 395


Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

89

January 21, 2020

Page 128 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 129 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 130 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 131 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 132 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 133 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 134 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 135 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 136 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 137 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 138 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 139 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 140 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 141 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 142 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 143 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 144 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 145 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 146 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 147 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 148 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 149 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 150 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 151 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

STAFF REPORT
City Council, Tuesday, January 21, 2020
Public Works Monthly Staff Report
Council will receive the attached staff report for work performed during October, 2019.
This information is submitted as information only and with no action requested.

Speaker:

From:
Prepared by:
Approved by:

David Lutz, Public Works Director
Letha Cox, Administrative Services Manager
Jim Fatland, City Manager

Background
N/A

Staff Recommendation
N/A

Fiscal Impact
N/A
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Public Works Department
Staff Report
October, 2019
Prepared For: Mayor Harris and City Council
Presented By: David Lutz, Public Works Director
Approved By: Jim Fatland, City Manager

Projects, services provided, and community assistance included a variety of work performed by the
department during the month of October; and reflects departmental implementation of the City’s
vision as a “safe, friendly, family oriented city with small town charm, outdoor recreation, arts, and
culture that bring investment opportunities, environmental consciousness and economic diversity.”

Strategy: Foster Economic Development
Foster economic diversity while enhancing the quality of life in an environmentally friendly way by creating an environment that promotes and encourages businesses, and business owners, attracted to and
utilizing our natural assets of woods and water and our cultural / historical assets of music, arts, and
outdoor recreation.
1. We foster economic development by protecting our natural assets of woods and water that uniquely
define Brevard.


Continual Sewer Collections System inflow and infiltration elimination work comprised the following accomplishments during October:
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Video inspection of sewer mains, service lines and storm drains were performed on a
total of 1,795’ to determine condition, verify location or depth, or in search of suspected inflow and infiltration sites or service line blockages.


15’ of 8” sewer main was video inspected within the Jumping Branch Basin to
verify the location of an existing residential sewer tap on Laurel Lane.



100’ of 8” sewer main was video inspected within the Kings Creek Basin to determine the cause of sink hole formation on Park Avenue.



10’ of 8” sewer main was video inspected within the Singing Branch Basin from
manhole #SB-063 to verify the location of an existing sewer tap for the former
Love’s Jewelry building located on E. Main Street.
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Suspected inflow and infiltration led staff to video
inspect 680’ of 8” sewer mains in the Brushy Creek
Basin along S. England Street and W. Jordan Street.
Video provided locations of deterioration between
manhole #BC-114 and #BC119, and an additional
location between manhole #BC-115 and #BC-116.
Each of the sites were marked for pending repair.



Video inspection assistance was provided to Summit Engineering Group, Inc. for use in the preparation of the Gallimore Basin Rehabilitation Project.

Preparing push camera to video inspect
manhole #SB-063 on E. Main Street.

W. Jordan Street sink hole inspection
with dye and water.

Visible dye indicating inflow in manhole #BC-141.
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Video inspections were performed on 8
sewer mains totaling 550’ within the Jumping Branch Basin to verify and document
current pipe conditions near Laurel Lane
and Memory Lane.



440’ of 8” sewer mains were video inspected within Singing Branch Basin in the vicinity of Dogwood Drive and Grove Street
providing additional data for the project.



Visual inspection of sink holes on W. Jordan Street suspected of contributing to inflow was performed. Dye and
water were flowed into the holes adjacent to manhole
#BC-142. The dye was visible inside manhole #BC-141
downstream and confirmed infiltration into the sewer system.
Holes were temporarily sealed with Sakrete
(concrete) mix pending excavation to further investigate
and repair.



Manhole repair and maintenance continued during the
month of October and included:


Lambs Creek Basin inspection of manhole #LS-065.



All manholes in the vicinity of Hospital Drive were
inspected for a possible discharge or blockage. A
complaint was received regarding a strong odor of
sewer in the area; however, no issues were found.
An additional complaint was received along the
Asheville highway Bike Path in the Lambs Creek
Basin. Manholes were opened and inspected
along the path and included all manholes between
#LS-059 and #LS-070 with no blockages or maintenance issues detected.
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Manhole #LS-058 on Idlewood Street in the Lambs Creek Basin was visually inspected during a heavy rain event and confirmed normal flow, no blockage or
overflow present.



Bolts were inserted into the lid of manhole #BC-080 on S. Broad Street to prevent inflow.



Gallimore Road manhole #BC-072 was inspected for potential grease accumulation based on a previous blockage at the site. The visual inspection revealed adequate sewer flow with no additional grease accumulation at the time of inspection.

Inserting bolts into
S. Broad Street manhole lid.



Manhole #BC-080 lid secured and
preventing inflow.

We protect our outdoor recreation areas for public enjoyment. Park and playground improvements during the month of October included a variety of work. Each location was inspected for seasonal landscaping items and routine maintenance issues.


All parks and playgrounds were inspected weekly with items noted for repair or replacement; public restrooms were cleaned with litter removed and trash receptacles emptied
at each facility.



Leaves were blown with low-hanging tree limbs and shrubs trimmed and removed from
each location as necessary including entrances, parking areas, picnic areas, sidewalks,
utility strips and walking paths. Grass was cut and weeds along curbs, gutters and sidewalk edges were trimmed as needed.



Dog waste stations were emptied, restocked and/or repaired during the month.



Additional noteworthy items or extra maintenance activities are listed for outdoor recreation areas during October:
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Bracken Mountain Preserve


Fallen leaves were blown from the trail entrance and area surrounding
picnic tables.



Additional debris were blown from a section of the trail.
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Bridges along the park trail were measured for proposed replacement of
damaged or worn bridge decking.

Clemson Park


Shrubs and daylilies were trimmed; debris was removed and hauled to
the Public Works Facility for disposal.



Fall bedding plants were planted in preparation of Halloweenfest. The
landscape area was enhanced with fall mums, pumpkins and pine straw.

Deerlake Road Planting


Personnel inspected and regularly watered a dogwood tree previously
planted to replace a customer’s tree damaged by a city vehicle in September.

Clemson Park fall landscaping
prior to Halloweenfest.
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Deerlake Road dogwood tree watering.

Edna Glaze Playground


Playground equipment, structures and picnic shelter were inspected; a
discovered wasp nest was removed from the picnic shelter.



Fallen leaves were blown from the picnic shelter.

Franklin Park Playground


Tree limbs impeding the playground landscape area were trimmed.



Debris was blown from the playground entrance.

Franklin Park Pool


Water was added to both pools reaching adequate level for skimmer operations.



Pool water was routinely sampled and tested for chlorine content; chlorine tablets were added to maintain sufficient levels as needed.
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Heart of Brevard


East Main Street - sidewalks were cleaned; concrete walking spaces and
areas beneath trash receptacles were pressure washed. A flusher truck
was used to flush debris from curb and gutters.



The street sweeper was run along business district curbs and gutters; the
sweeper was used to remove debris and leaves from catch basins.



Grass was cut within utility strips and weed deterrent was applied to
curbs, gutters and sidewalks along district streets.



A semi-annual inspection of sidewalk electrical panel boxes and receptacles in the district was performed. Four (4) locations were noted for repair and an electrical contractor has been contacted for pending repairs.

Heart of Brevard sidewalk cleaning.

Flushing E. Main Street curb and gutters.
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Concrete buffer used to remove
sidewalk dirt and grime.

E. Main Street sidewalk outlet
inspected during October.

N. Broad Street improvements included in the Downtown Master Plan
were Silva cell tree wells installed between Main Street and Probart
Street in front of the Transylvania Times.
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Section 1

Organic topsoil delivered to the Operations Center.



Silva cells are modular suspended pavement systems that use soil volume to support growth of trees; providing storm water
management through absorption and interception (Deeproot.com).



Organic topsoil was purchased from High
Hope, LLC in E. Flat Rock and was temporarily stored at the Operations Center.



The topsoil was thoroughly mixed and covered with tarps prior to delivery and placement on N. Broad Street.

First layer of stone in N. Broad Street Section 1 trench.



Guided by Watermark Landscape Architecture, personnel excavated 52” in the
first section of the utility strip along N.
Broad Street and installed a layer of
3/4” clean stone followed by the installation of the Silva cells.



Geo matting was positioned along the
walls of the trench with a 38” layer of fill
dirt and an additional layer of matting.
The remaining depth of the trench was
filled with a second layer of 3/4” clean
stone.



The Silva cell installation and trench restoration was completed in preparation
of pending tree plantings.
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Silva cell installation in Section 1 trench.

Cells secured with zip ties prior to addition soil layer.
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Section 2


Bartlett Tree Experts removed additional trees in the second section of
the utility strip. City staff removed one (1) tree stump in preparation of
Silva cell installation.



Thirty-three feet of brick pavers were removed in preparation of the next
trench excavation for additional Silva cells to be installed along with 40’
of existing sidewalk.



The trench was filled with 18 tons of ABC stone prior to the cell installation.



Concrete forms were assembled for two (2) - 2’X4’X6” tree planters to
be installed in front of the Transylvania Times.



Five (5) additional loads of organic topsoil were purchased from High
Hope Soils. The soil was mixed and stored at the Operations Center for
pending Section 2 Silva cell installation.



Cells were installed in the trench according to specified instructions as in
Section 1.

Section 2 tree removal from utility strip.

Installation of Silva cells in trench.
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An order of 33 sidewalk benches was approved and purchased for the
business district from Leisure Craft, Inc. of Hendersonville, NC in the
amount of $27,753.


When fabrication was complete, staff delivered the benches to
the Operations Center for assembly.



Benches were assembled and placed along business district sidewalks.



An inventory of engraved dedication plaques for the new benches
was presented to Leisure Craft, Inc. for a proposal of replacement
plaques.

Curb repair was completed in the Times Arcade Alley with a 1’ section
replaced with concrete surface mix.

Bench assembly at Operations Center.
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New bench placed on W. Main Street.

Sports Complex


Grass within greenspace areas was cut with seasonal trimming as needed
around the decorative brick baseball, boulders and other elements of the
complex.



Tree limbs were trimmed impeding an electrical box enclosure between
Fields #1 and #2.



New plantings within the Jameson Courtine Memorial behind Field #3
were watered.



Repaired the security gate at the facility access road. Gate tension was
adjusted, hinges were lubricated and the system was reset for operation.



Outfields were lined for continuing fall league use on Fields #1 - #4.
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Landscaping

Location

Mowing, Mulching,
Trimming, Weeding

X
X
X

Asheville Highway Median
Beethoven Park
Bike Paths
Bracken Mountain Preserve
Clemson Park
College Corner - Highway Memorial
Dog Waste Stations

Maintenance
Bridges, Dog Waste
Stations, Fixtures,
Watering, Fertilizing, Pest
Equipment, Fencing, Flags,
Control, Tree, Limb and
Inspection, Picnic Tables,
Loose Leaf Removal
Trash Receptacles,
Winterization

X
X
X

X

Outdoor Sports
Field Maintenance, PreGame Striping, Boat Ramp,
Trail Maintenance

X

X
X
X

East Main at East Main Ext.
Edna Glaze Playground
Franklin Park Playground
Franklin Park Pool
Greenville Highway Civic Signs
Hap Simpson Park
Heart of Brevard Business District
Illahee Road Property
Mary C. Jenkins Community Center Lot
N. Broad Street at N. Caldwell Street
N. Broad Street at Old Highway 64
N. Caldwell Street Picnic Area
Park View Drive at Highway 276
Park Avenue at Park View Drive
Pickelsimer Park
Rosenwald Community (Welcome Sign)
S. Broad Street (Welcome Sign)
Sculptures
Skate Park
Sports Complex Grounds
Tannery Park
Wilson Road River Access

X

X
X
X
X
X
X
X

X
X

X
X
X

X

X

X

X

X
X
X
X

X
X

X
X

X

2. We foster economic development by ensuring our infrastructure is constantly maintained and replaced to serve existing and future business.


Pedestrian, bike and hike pathways were inspected for maintenance issues; grass was cut,
loose leaves and brush were removed, weeds were trimmed, weed deterrent was applied as
needed, and trash receptacles were emptied routinely. Dog waste stations were cleaned and
serviced with additional odor eliminator added to each station. Additional required repairs included:


Asheville Highway - from Allison Road to Hospital Drive






Eastatoe Trail - from Sports Complex along Ecusta Road to Davidson River including section to Pisgah Forest beside Credit Union


Overgrown shrubs along Ecusta Road near Lowe’s were trimmed on banks and
fence lines; the asphalt path was edged and weeds were removed.



Tree limbs were trimmed as needed and one diseased tree was removed.

McLean Road Bike Path - from Railroad Avenue to Fisher Road
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Weeds along the embankment at the intersection of Hospital Drive and the
Asheville Highway were trimmed.

Blowers were used to remove fallen leaves from the path near Brevard Rescue
Squad.
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Poplar Street Bike Path - from Fisher road to
Asheville Highway




Sports Complex - from parking lot to Lambs
Creek Bridge




Eight (8) 2’ X 6’ decayed boardwalk
boards were replaced along sections of
the boardwalk; screws were added to
existing boards and rails to aid in alignment.

A missing garbage receptacle lid was
replaced at the intersection of the path
leading to the Cherry Street and Oskar
Blues access.

Sports Complex bike path trash
receptacle lid replacement.

Maintenance and repair of street infrastructure consisted of the following work performed
during October:


Utility strips were trimmed with debris blown from sidewalks, curbs and gutters.



Humble Drive was scraped to improve gravel road condition.



A low shoulder area along Galloway Street was corrected with stone leveled with the
adjacent street edge.


Graffiti was removed from sections of sidewalk along E.
French Broad Street and Maple Street using Goof Off, a
pressure washer and grinder.



Landscape technician Matt Landers met with Interim Planning Director Paul Ray to discuss site plans and proposed
sidewalk development on W. Main Street between George
Lenze property and Galloway Street.


Staff was later informed twenty-four (24) Red Bud
trees were purchased for the development area
from Green River Tree Farm in the amount of
$3,240 and funded from the Multi-Use Paths Project Fund.



Locations were measured and marked along W.
Main Street for the proposed tree plantings.

E. French Broad Street sidewalk
graffiti removal.



Sign installation or maintenance to existing signs during
the month of October included:


Appletree Street - replaced a sign post damaged by
a vehicle and re-erected a 25 mph speed limit sign.

Pressure washing Maple Street sidewalk graffiti.
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Straightened Burrell Avenue stop sign
at Railroad Avenue.

E. Jordan Street one way sign replacement.



Trimming vegetation from
Green Acres street name signs.



Improved sign visibility of Green Acres
intersection with Highway 64.
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Burrell Avenue at Railroad Avenue - straightened
stop and street name sign post at intersection.



E. Jordan Street at S. Gaston Street - a missing one
way sign was replaced and a stop sign reportedly
confusing to drivers when approaching the area
was removed.



Green Acres Avenue at Highway 64 - trimmed
overgrown vegetation at the intersection obstructing the view of street name signs.



Franklin Street - Replaced four (4) faded no parking
signs.



King Street at Railroad Avenue - Replaced street
name signs.



Resada Drive at Tinsley Road - street name signs
damaged during a vehicle accident were replaced.



Silversteen Drive - straightened a leaning stop sign
at the intersection of Carolina Avenue.



W. Morgan Street - Removed a sign post discovered thrown into bushes adjacent to the PNC Bank
building.

Sign cleaning consisted of the following locations to improve visibility of each:


Street name signs were cleaned on Ashworth Avenue, N. Country Club Road, S. Johnson Street and
S. Rice Street.



A No Outlet sign was cleaned on Good Lane.



No Parking signs were cleaned on Turnpike Road.

Catch basins and storm drains were inspected during the
month with the following work completed:


Basins were routinely cleaned of debris to prevent
storm water flooding prior to and during heavy
rain events.



Staff met with a Gallimore Road resident regarding
reported driveway flooding during rain events.
The customer verified the issue had been resolved
with NCDOT clearing a ditch of debris along the
state maintained road prior to the meeting.
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An area of sinking asphalt on Park Avenue near the intersection of Park View
Drive led to an inspection to determine the cause and whether underground
utilities were contributing. Video inspection revealed there were no sewer main
or other utility line issues in the area. Staff excavated to expose a discovered
10” clay storm drain pipe was the cause of the sink hole and was removed. The
trench was filled with clean stone and the utility cut was patched to complete
the repair.

Park Avenue asphalt removal to
investigate cause of sink hole.
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Exposed clay storm drain pipe causing sink hole.



Personnel inspected a storm water issue at a Turnpike Road residence and met
with the homeowner to address concerns. The continual flow from a neighboring property during heavy rain events was reportedly the cause of private property damage. With no street or city issues observed, the owner was referred to
the Planning Department for possible Code Enforcement assistance.



Storm drain improvements were completed on S. Johnson Street near the intersection of E. Jordan Street. A 2’ X 2’ catch basin box and grate along with a 22’
section of 12” double wall storm drain pipe to connect the existing catch basin
to the new catch basin across the street were installed. Pipe connections were
sealed with surface bonding cement, mortar mix and maximizer concrete mix.
Site restoration including clean stone placement around the new catch basin and
the trench for the drain pipe was filled with stone.



Storm drain pipe along Maple Street was inspected in the vicinity of 444 Maple
Street reference reported driveway flooding during periods of wet weather. The
inspection revealed the cause of the flooding was a storm drain blockage and
had been previously cleared prior to the inspection. No further issues were visible.



The ditch in front of a Morningside Drive residence was cleared of a debris
blockage inhibiting storm water flow.
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Storm water erosion improvements were made along streets within Straus Park. Landscape technicians assisted by the Sewer Collections Division used the vacuum truck to
excavate holes along street edges for plantings. Dwarf and spreading shrubs were
planted to assist with the prevention of storm water erosion.


Cryptomeria dwarf shrubs (Japanese
cedars) and Yew shrubs (Japanese evergreens) were planted in eroded areas at
the intersections of Stone Creek Trail
and Pine Mountain Trail, and Homestead Trace at Stone Creek Trail.



Soil and mulch rings were added at each
plant site; newly planted shrubs were
watered in intervals as needed.



The flail mower was used to trim vegetation
along the edge of Carver Street, Palmer Street
and Silversteen Drive.



A fallen tree was cut and removed from Stone
Drive. Brush from the tree was hauled to the
Public Works Facility for disposal.

Shrubbery layout prior to
Homestead Trace plantings.



Overgrown hedges impeding the sidewalk were trimmed along N. Country Club Road
and a section blocking the view at the intersection of Monroe Street was trimmed to
improve visibility of on-coming traffic.



Tree limbs overhanging Woodlawn Avenue were trimmed adjacent to Woodsong Condominiums.

N. Country Club Road hedge trimming.
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Trimming Woodlawn Avenue tree limbs.

Three (3) potholes were inspected and patched on Dogwood Drive (2) and Fisher Road.
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Fourteen (14) utility cuts were inspected and/or repaired during the month on Brown
Lane, Country Club Road, Curlee Street, Excelsior Drive, Franklin Street, Hilt Street, Park
Avenue, S. Broad Street (2), S. Johnson Street (2), Whitmire Street (2) and Wilson Drive.

Excavating sunken utility cut prior to asphalt patching.



Roller compacting hot asphalt on S. Johnson Street.

The Sanitation Division collected garbage, commercial and residential recycling, brush, bagged
yard waste and loose leaves during October:


The division began the annual collection of leaves within the city on Monday, October
14, 2019. Citizens may place loose leaves curbside for collection through Friday, January 3, 2020. Bagged leaves or other yard waste is collected anytime; bags are collected
within three (3) business days by contacting the Public Works Department by phone or
by email.

Leaf collection began October 14, 2019.



Page 166 of 395

Silversteen Drive leaf removal from sidewalk.

Four (4) commercial businesses began or expanded participation in the commercial recycling program during October.


LaDore - 230 S. Broad Street



Pisgah Animal Welfare Society (Pisgah Cat Café) - 190 N. Broad Street
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Transylvania County Care Partners - 1266 Asheville Highway



Transylvania County Department of Social Services - E. Morgan Street (2 Carts).



Excessive waste, considered a nuisance / health and sanitation issue, placed curbside at
a Delphia Drive residence was collected. The customer was invoiced for the special
waste collection.



Monthly required temperature readings were gauged from the mulch pile located on
the lower storage yard at the Public Works Facility.

October Sanitation Activities





11 Special trash collections.



3 Single item special trash collections.



9 Residential recycle carts delivered.



2 Residential recycle bins delivered.



5 Commercial recycle carts delivered.



11 Small electronic items collected.



1 Large television collected.

Collections System infrastructure maintenance consisted of the following noted items during
October:


System personnel inspected reports of five
(5) sewer line blockages during the month;
one (1) actual city-side service line blockage
was cleared on Willow Drive.



A re-occurring monthly inspection of a 4”
sewer service line and clean out serving the
American Legion on E. Jordan Street was
performed. The inspection verified the service line pipe was maintaining flow with no
further deterioration or blockage present.



Preparation of a sewer main replacement on
W. Jordan Street included scoring approximately 265’ of asphalt for pending removal
between manhole #BC-141 and #BC-142.
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Log discovered lodged against 8” sewer main.

Log and debris removed from creek with no
sewer main damage visible.

Wilson Road Lift Station
pump line leak.

Sandbag application at lift station.
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Sewer line right-of-way maintenance was performed along
Brushy Creek off Gallimore Road. A large log discovered
by a property owner along Brushy Creek, reportedly
lodged against an 8” sewer main crossing the creek between manhole #BC-072 and #BC-073, was located. The
log and other debris were successfully removed from the
creek to prevent potential pipe damage.



Sewer lift station maintenance included:


Heavy rain beginning on Wednesday, October 30,
2019 and lasting overnight into Thursday, October
31, 2019 resulted in high level alarms sounding at
the Gallimore Road Lift Station. Personnel responded to the alarms; sewage was pumped from
manhole #GB-056 preventing a sewer overflow
event from occurring. Eleven loads totaling 27,500
gallons were hauled to the Waste Treatment Facility for disposal. The lift station did not discharge
during the two day rain event totaling 3.50” of precipitation.



A leaking pump line was inspected at the Wilson
Road Lift Station during the afternoon of Thursday,
October 31, 2019. Maintenance personnel discovered and confirmed the 6” line was leaking along
the exterior of the lift station wall. Sandbags were
placed from the exposed leak to the wet well to
prevent sewage from discharging onto the ground.
The incident was reported to NC Division of Water
Quality; photographs of the leak and sandbag application were provided as documentation pending
the repair scheduled for November 1, 2019.

Sandbags channeling flow into wet well.
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Operators responded to a high level alarm received from the Pisgah Fish Camp
Lift Station. Upon arrival it was determined the station wet well level was normal, pumps were operating effectively and alarms were no longer sounding.



Grass was cut at all lift station facilities.



Smoke testing equipment was prepared for pending smoke testing requested by Summit Engineering Group, Inc. at the Operations Center. Door
hangers were distributed to residences along
Dogwood Drive, Grove Street, Laurel Lane and
Memory Lane displaying smoke testing information. The notification alerted customers prior
to the testing tentatively scheduled the first week
of November.



Staff assisted Summit Engineering Group, Inc.
with verification of sewer main pipe sizes in preparation of a proposed Gallimore Basin Rehabilitation Project within the Brushy Creek, Jumping
Branch and Singing Branch Basins. Data was
mapped and a video of line conditions were provided (see video inspection information on page
2).



Collections personnel assisted Waste Treatment
Plant technicians by using the vac truck to remove debris from a pit prior to maintenance
work.

Waste Treatment pit
prior to debris removal.
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Vac truck removing pit debris.
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Door hanger delivery prior
to smoke testing.

Pit debris removed and ready for
maintenance activities.
January 21, 2020

17



Water Treatment Facility drying beds were cleaned; 53.79 tons of sludge were removed
from the beds and hauled to the County Landfill for disposal at a cost of $2,958.45.
Drying bed gates were replaced when the sludge removal was complete.



An additional gate removed to complete a concrete installation was replaced at drying
bed #2 at the Water Treatment Facility.



Assistance was provided to the Finance Department confirming fees for sewer connectivity of an Elliott Road residence. Staff confirmed a 4” sewer service line enters an unnumbered manhole at the corner of Elliott Road and Tinsley Road.

Water Treatment Facility drying bed
prior to sludge removal.
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Sludge loosened and shoveled for removal.

Skid steer used to remove sludge.

Sludge removal complete.

Preparing gate for additional drying bed.

Gate installed after concrete
installation was completed.
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A reported sink hole and suspected sewer issue was inspected on Cardinal Drive. The
location is not served by the city sewer system and inspection of the sink hole revealed
a collapsed septic tank was the ultimate cause of the sink hole. The owner was informed of the findings and advised to contact a plumber for assistance.



200’ of 8” sewer main was cleaned along W. Jordan Street in the Brushy Creek Basin prior to video inspection.



Stock items were placed into the inventory storage area of the Operations Center as
delivered with an inventory of spare parts completed for the month of October.

The Water Distribution maintenance and repair of the water system infrastructure included the
following items in October:


There were fifteen (15) inspections for reported water leaks during October; eleven
(11) actual leaks were repaired or scheduled for repair.



Leaks requiring water line replacement included:


Country Club Road - 25’ of 1” galvanized water service line was replaced serving
a Hamilton Drive residence.



Morningside Drive - 31’ of 3/4” black plastic service line was replaced during two
(2) consecutive leak repairs at address #78 and #84.



Rhododendron Drive - 1.5’ of 3/4” water service line was replaced.

French Broad Street water leak
near N. Caldwell Street.
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Hydro-excavating with vac truck
to expose water leak.

Leaking lead gooseneck removed
during repair.

Distribution technicians assisted a Poplar Street customer with inspection of water pressure following a water main repair. Sediment in the water service line had caused a
blockage and technicians remained on site as the customer’s plumber, Jeremy Dills of
Dills Plumbing resolved the issue and pressure was restored.
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Morningside Drive 3/4”
water service line leak.

Gallimore Road leak on customer’s side of
service (behind meter box).

Wilson Drive water leak on 8” water main.

Tightening 8” handi-band to
repair Wilson Drive leak.

Fire hydrant inspection and maintenance included the following:


Fire hydrant #25-02 on Rosenwald
Lane at West Lane Street removed
from service in May, 2019 was cut
and capped. Lead was forced into
the joint of the hydrant boot to prevent leakage to complete the removal from the Distribution System
(Note: a new hydrant was installed
across the street from this location
on May 28, 2019).



Water quality was maintained with a
Cardinal Drive post hydrant flushed
twice during October. Water flow
was sampled for chlorine content
during flushing.
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A loose stem was tightened on Railroad Avenue fire hydrant #35-19.



Leak repair at 63 Poplar Street necessitated the replacement of a 3/4” water tap for the
residence. The water tap was replaced using a 6” X 3/4” tapping saddle and connection
to the residence’s existing service line. Restoration of the excavated area included topsoil replacement, grass seed and straw.



Reservoir, water tank and pump station facility maintenance included:


Grass was cut surrounding the water reservoirs.



Weeds were trimmed surrounding the Burrell Mountain water tank.



Pressure washed reservoir tank roofs.



Utility Services Company performed annual water tank inspections on all tanks
within the distribution system with no maintenance issues or facility concerns
noted.

Grime buildup on water reservoir roof vent.



Reservoir roof after pressure washing.

Meter and meter box maintenance continued throughout the month of October.


Twelve (12) existing large water meters were replaced with Sensus radio read
meters at locations shown below.

Large Water Meter Replacements
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Brevard Middle School
Cedar Hill Apartments

400 Fisher Road
120 Hospital Drive

French Broad Place, Suite 101
French Broad Place, Suite 103
Ingles Gas Express
Ingles Market

29 W. French Broad Street
29 W. French Broad Street
710 N. Broad Street
684 N. Broad Street

Kingsbridge House
Lowes
Lowes
Transylvania County Board of Education Building

10 Sugarloaf Road
119 Ecusta Road
119-B Ecusta Road
220 Rosenwald Lane

Twin Dragons Restaurant
WCCA

1479 Asheville Highway
81 Hillview Avenue
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Brevard College 4” meter and
meter bypass assembly.

Assembling Morningside Drive yoke bar
with backflow preventer.



Preparation of water meter replacement included excavation around the outside of a meter vault located at
Andante Lane on the Brevard Music Center Campus. A
4” pipe was exposed and concrete was removed from
the site of pipe entry into the vault for the proposed water meter replacement.



Technicians assembled a 4” meter and meter bypass in
preparation of proposed meter replacement at Brevard
College.



A water meter was turned on as requested by a Unity
Drive customer after hours with meter readings reported
to the Finance Department the next business day.



Additional locations on Magnolia Street and Mountain
Glen Drive were visited reference requests from customers for service restoration and payment settlements with
the Finance Department.



Reported low water pressure was inspected at a Morningside Drive residence; upon arrival the customer advised the issue had already been resolved.



A backflow preventer was installed on Morningside
Drive.



An angle valve was replaced on a 3/4” water meter to
improve operability by meter reader technicians serving
a Thistle Trail residence.



One (1) water meter box was replaced on Hospital Drive
during water leak repair.



The interior of a meter box was removed in preparation
of meter replacement on the Asheville Highway.



Distribution ORC Ben Robinson met with a John W. Abbott Construction Company representative regarding the installation of an irrigation meter serving the Shoppes of Brevard located on the Asheville Highway. Process information was provided and referral
to the Finance Department was offered for account verification and meter installation.



An additional meeting was held with the Sagebrush Steakhouse demolition contractor,
D.H. Griffin Company, to provide information and instruction regarding water tanker
access options provided by the city. As a note, tanker access is provided at the Public
Works Facility after an initial access fee of $25 is received by the Finance Department
with invoicing for the number of gallons used when a project is complete.
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3. We encourage investment when we appear well-run and well planned. We show dedication and
reliability by maintaining our city buildings and facilities.


City buildings and facilities are inspected daily and weekly depending on use and scheduled
work, meetings and events. Routine maintenance, janitorial services, seasonal landscaping are
provided by city staff with major repair or improvements provided by professional technicians.



Monthly safety inspections were performed including fire extinguishers, ladders, exit signage
and eye wash stations.



Building and facility items requiring additional maintenance services were noted during the
month of October and included the following:


City Hall, Council Chambers, Public Restrooms






Human Resources Department’s Annual Safety Training Classes



Planning Department’s Board of Adjustment Meeting



Seasonal flowers and bedding plants in the main entrance landscape area were
watered. Summering Verbena were later removed and replaced with pansies
durable for fall and approaching winter weather.



Fallen leaves were blown from the sidewalk and handicap ramp at the facility
entrance.



Recyclables were gathered and placed curbside for collection.



Reported vandalism led staff to inspect the Public Restrooms during which debris and a roll of toilet paper were removed from a toilet in the Ladies Restroom.



The Men’s Restroom sink faucet was repaired.



Cables loosened during recent roof repair were reattached to the exterior wall of
the Deputy Finance Director’s office.

Fire Department
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Council Chambers was inspected and/or prepared for meetings:

Ceiling tiles fell in the department during a heavy rain event. Personnel inspected and found no evidence of a
roof leak. A follow-up inspection was
performed on October 30, 2019 with
the tiles appeared to have been heat
damaged and crumbling. It was decided to leave the ceiling exposed until
an additional rain event occurs to verify if an actual roof leak was the cause.
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inspect suspected roof leak.
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New Fire Department Tool Room
LED light fixture.



French Broad Community Center


Staff inspected the facility daily and restocked janitorial items as needed.



The facility landscape area was trimmed.



Quarterly inspection of the facility HVAC system,
including filter replacement, was performed with
the next filter replacement scheduled for January,
2020.



The facility thermostat was adjusted to a heat
setting for lower seasonal temperatures.

Girl Scout Hut


Public Works landscape area
freshened with mulch.





A follow-up inspection was performed in the facility at the site of a sealant application in September
reference reported leakage around the fireplace
and chimney areas. The sealant applied had held
with no additional leakage visible.

Planning Department




Additional LED lighting was requested for the department’s Tool Room. Three (3) new fixtures
were installed to accommodate the request.

Damaged ceiling tiles were replaced; ten (10) of sixteen (16) tiles were replaced
with remaining tiles to be replaced pending office accessibility. Site debris was
removed and hauled to the Public Works Facility for disposal.

Public Works Facility


Personnel continued separating concrete materials from a spoils / debris pile on
the lower storage yard in preparation of hauling scrap materials to the Transylvania County Landfill for disposal.



Landscape areas were restored and freshened with mulch.

Parking lots at city facilities and in the Heart of Brevard District were maintained for appearance and vehicular use. Staff inspect each location for litter, landscape issues, signage and
pavement markings with seasonal upkeep performed as needed. Fallen leaves were blown
from parking lots as needed.
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Jordan Street Parking Lot - Weed deterrent was applied to surrounding landscape areas.
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Housekeeping

Seasonal

Janitorial, Fire Extinguisher
Inspections, Flags, Meeting
Pest Control, Decorations,
Prep, Recycle Carts,
Painting, Winterizing
Routine Maintenance
Issues

Location

Building & Grounds Office
City Hall
Co-Ed Theater

X
X

Council Chambers
Deerlake Pump Station
Fire Department
Franklin Park Bath House
Franklin Park Pump Building
French Broad Community Center
Girl Scout Hut
Operations Center
Parking Lots
Planning Department
Police Department

X

Public Restrooms
Public Works Facility
Sports Complex Concession Stand
Water Reservoir & Pump Stations

Landscaping - Exterior

Electrical, HVAC, Plumbing

Mowing, Trimming,
Flowers, Shrubs, Litter
Removal, Leaf Removal

Inspection, Contract Services,
Major Maintenance Issues

X

X

X

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X

X
X

X
X
X

Strategy: Enhance Quality of Life
Encourage and enhance our family friendly and small town charm by bringing people of all ages
together through physical connections within our community and to our natural assets of woods and
water and personal connections to each other and to our cultural / historic assets of music, arts and outdoor recreation.
1. We encourage and enhance our family friendly and small town charm by bringing people together
through physical connections within our community.


The community appreciation of our culture and
arts are shared with the City’s collection of sculptures. Dedicated to continual care of the sculptures, each location is routinely inspected to ensure visual pleasure and each artist’s original concept offering. Mulch was replenished, weeds and
shrubs were trimmed, and fertilizer was applied to
all landscaped areas as needed.
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The following sculptures were inspected,
cleaned and polished during October:


Bobcat, Raccoons - E. Main Street



Red Fox - Times Arcade Alley



Wild Turkey - S. Broad Street
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Cows - King Street at Railroad Avenue




Red Fox - E. Main Street






Grass was cut and fertilized; weeds
were trimmed in the sculpture landscaped area.

Pansies were planted within the landscaped area surrounding the sculpture
for fall and winter beautification.

Weed deterrent was applied to landscape areas
at the following sculpture locations:


Blue Heron - S. Gaston Street



Cougar, Golden Eagle - S. Caldwell
Street



Deer, Trout - S. Broad Street



Elk, Raccoons - E. Main Street



Ravens, Red Fox -Times Arcade Alley

N. Broad Street Breakdown In Steel sculpture.

Breakdown In Steel, a new sculpture replicating a banjo, was installed during October on
N. Broad Street by local artist Kyle Lusk in front of First United Methodist Church.



Administrative staff received a total of 668 telephone calls during the month of October. Calls
consisted of general information, utility and street maintenance requests, sanitation and recycle service requests, vehicle maintenance appointments, preventive maintenance reschedules,
staff and director issues, inter-departmental requests and various engineers, surveyors and
sales representatives.



The NC811 Locating Service requested 178 locates
for proposed excavation sites. Each request was
marked with flags or marking paint for other utility
companies, building contractors or citizens or confirmation of no city utilities within the requested
area was confirmed.



Utility Locates


NC 811 Locates - 178



Other Utility Locates - 9

Additional locating work included:


Water lines were located on Evergreen Street at Ridgewood Place for Comporium prior
to excavation.



Manhole #BC-101 on Carolina Avenue was located and marked for a customer’s plumber, Chris Newman, repairing a private pump line.



A 6” water main was located on Cedar Crest Drive for a Comporium representative reference a project location revision from a previous locate.
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Video inspections were performed on E. Main Street and Laurel Lane to verify the location of existing sewer taps for two (2) inquiries received by the Public Works Director.



A water meter was located with size of meter verified for the former Love’s Jewelry
building on E. Main Street.



Collections personnel met and located a 6” water main and proposed water and sewer
tap installations to serve W4 Carwash for a contractor representing Whitmire Construction.

Locating existing E. Main Street sewer tap.



Former Love’s Jewelry water meter
located and size verified.

The Public Works Director attended meetings regarding proposed developments, current projects, committee meetings, divisional day to day operations and citizenry requesting services
or information on various topics. Meetings attended during October consisted of:


Accident Reporting Procedures



Agenda Preview Meeting



City Attorneys reference EPA / City Litigation



City Council Meeting



Flu Shot Administration



Gallimore Sewer Rehabilitation Project



Laurel Lane Infrastructure Meeting With Darren McCall



Parks, Trails & Recreation Committee Meeting



Princess Plaza Utilities Meeting



Project Codes for Purchase Orders



Skate Park Meetings (Condition Inspections, Status of Construction, Safety Issues)



Staff Meetings



Sports Complex Site Inspection
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2. We encourage and embrace our family friendly and
small town charm by bringing people together through
personal connection with each other.


Friends of Silvermont Pumpkinfest
(photo courtesy of Friends of Silvermont).



Post-Halloweenfest sidewalk and
utility strip cleaning.

Festival litter prior to removal.



Streets personnel erected or removed street banners as scheduled to promote community events
held in the city.


Friends of Transylvania County Library Book Sale



Friends of Silvermont - Pumpkinfest



Transylvania County Handcrafter’s Guild Craft Show & Sale

Assistance was provided to the Heart of Brevard
with preparation of Halloweenfest held on Saturday, October 26, 2019.


Downtown streets and gutters were swept;
sidewalks were cleaned and debris was
blown from sidewalks and utility strips in
the affected section of the business district.



Recycle carts and an event dumpster were
provided for festival use.



Litter, recycle carts and the event dumpster
were removed and delivered to the Public
Works Facility following the festivals end.



Waste totaling 1.07 tons was collected and
hauled to the County Landfill for a disposal
fee of $64.20.



Affected streets were cleaned and debris
were blown from sidewalks to complete
the festival assistance.

American flags were lowered to half-staff for designated honor periods at city facilities (City Hall, Fire
Department, Police Department and at the Sports
Complex). Flags were raised at the end of each
period per President Donald Trump and/or Governor Roy Cooper’s directives.

Post-festival street sweeping.
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October 6 - In Honor of National Fallen Firefighters Memorial Service



October 7 - In Honor of National Fallen Firefighters Memorial Day



October 16 - In Honor of US Congressman Elijah E. Cummings and US Army Private Andrew McLean of Fayetteville, NC



October 26 - In Honor of US Marine Private First Class John T. Burke



October 28 - In Honor of Former US Senator Kay Hagan

National Fallen Firefighters
Memorial, Emmitsburg, MD

US Congressman
Elijah E. Cummings

US Marine Private First
Class John T. Burke

US Senator Kay Hagan

3. A safe community is one where residents know the city provides reliable and consistent service.


The Vehicle Maintenance Division maintained the city and county fleet with 202 vehicles or
equipment items serviced or repaired during October. Preventive maintenance and/or repairs
were performed on 131 city and 71 county assets.



A required monthly fuel site walkthrough inspection was completed and
included inspection of fuel dispensers,
underground fuel storage tank spill
buckets and visual measurements of
unleaded and diesel fuel.



Vehicles and equipment were routinely
cleaned and stocked with supplies for
use as needed within each division.



City emblems, identification numbers
and a license plate were installed on a
new Sewer Collections Division dump
truck received in September.
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Dump truck cleaned following
Water Treatment Plant sludge removal.
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Employee activities and opportunities during October included:


Advanced Data Network Solutions Computer Concerns Meeting



Annual Safety Training Classes



Annual Wellness Health Screenings



Dr. Ward Weekly Scheduled Appointments



Fire & Rescue Concepts 40 Hour Advanced Confined Space Training



Mandatory Insurance Open Enrollment



Post-Accident Interview



Safety Committee Meeting

Ben Robinson’s Fire & Rescue Advanced Confined
Space Rescue Training Certification.
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APPENDIX I: October Departmental Statistics

Service statistics are provided as indicators for Public Works performance and budget trends.

Previous
Month
(September)

Item
Administrative Call Log
City Meeting or Event Prep
Cardboard Collection
Electronics
Residential Recycling - Bin
Commercial Recycling - Bin
Residential Recycling - Cart
Commercial Recycling - Cart
Commercial Recycling
Residential Recycling
Solid Waste Collection
Special Collections
Single Item Collection
Television - Large ($10)
Television - Small ($5)
Barricade / Emergency Assist
Festival / Special Event Assist
Flag Honors / Half Masts
Street Banners
Potholes
Sidewalk Footage (Length)
Utility Cuts
Fleet Service - City Vehicles
Fleet Service - County Vehicles
I&I Video Inspections
Sewer Blockages
Sewer Tap New Commercial
Sewer Tap New Residential
Sewer Taps Repaired / Replaced
811 Locates
Utility Locates
Water Leaks
Water Meter Boxes
Water Meters New
Water Meters Other
Water Tap New Commercial
Water Tap New Residential
Water Tap Repaired / Replaced

Page 183 of 395

588
2
16.67
4
4
0
6
1
15.49
39.22
242
5
3
2
0
1
0
2
8
1
135
6
108
68
130
7
0
1
0
136
5
24
11
0
6
8
1
0

Current
Month
(October)

Year To Date
(July October)

668
3
22.98
11
2
0
9
5
21.21
43.80
257
11
3
1
0
0
2
5
5
3
0
14
131
71
1,795
5
0
0
0
178
9
15
2
0
15
0
0
1
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2,724
9
82.95
22
12
0
41
11
77.56
162.32
1,057.77
60
15
21
1
2
5
9
29
15
165
51
500
267
4,280
26
3
2
2
562
32
70
22
4
39
11
2
1

Previous FY
Year Total
2018-2019

9120
45
235.28
59
30
3
125
30
205.41
448.75
3,107
157
32
20
7
3
21
22
52
115
232
83
1,444
776
15,992
68
1
16
30
1,538
98
129
52
20
107
11
18
1
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APPENDIX II: October Sanitation Statistics

Sanitation statistics are provided as indicators for solid waste and recycling performance.


Recycle Tons Per Month Comparison.

Recycle Tons
Per Month Comparison
50.00
45.00

2018-2019
Residential

40.00
35.00

2018-2019
Commercial

30.00
25.00

2018-2020
Residential

20.00

15.00
2019-2020
Commercial

10.00
5.00

0.00

Jul
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APPENDIX II-A: October Sanitation Statistics

Sanitation statistics are provided as indicators for solid waste and recycling performance.


Recycle and Solid Waste Collections Comparison.

Recycle / Solid Waste
Tons Per Month Comparison
FY 2019-2020

44.19

Oct

43.80

257.20

32.16
39.22

Sep

241.61
39.81

39.15

Aug

255.60

44.35
40.15

Jul

303.36
0.00

50.00

100.00

Recycle Commercial

150.00

200.00

250.00

Recycle Residential

300.00

350.00

Solid Waste

Commercial amount includes commercial cardboard collection & curbside recycling.
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APPENDIX III: October Sanitation Statistics

Sanitation statistics are provided as indicators for city commercial cardboard collection performance.


Revenue includes customer fees collected plus sale of cardboard to American Recycling of Candler, NC.



Expense includes collection of commercial cardboard labor, fuel and vehicle maintenance during the
month.



A documented Net Loss is attributed to a continual drop in price per ton since November, 2018. The
current revenue for the month of October is $15.00 per ton.

Revenue
Expense
Net Profit or Loss

$160.00
$140.00
$120.00
$100.00
$80.00
$60.00
$40.00
$20.00
$0.00

$5,682.60
$5,792.58
-$109.98

Price Per Ton

FY 2016-17
FY 2017-18
FY 2018-19

Jul
Aug
Sep
Oct
Nov
Dec
Jan
Feb
Mar
Apr
May
Jun

FY 2019-20
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APPENDIX IV: October Fuel Use Statistics

Fuel Use Statistics are provided as indicators for vehicle and equipment fleet fuel use by the city and
county vehicle fleet.
October fuel use increased 6.4 % in gallons used over the month of September with an increase of 10.4 %
in fuel expense.


Current Unleaded Fuel Price:

$ 1.694 / last purchase on October 15, 2019.



Current Diesel Fuel Price:

$ 1.994 / last purchase on October 15, 2019.

Entity Comparison
City Vehicles
County Vehicles
Narcotics Task Force
Totals
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Current
Previous Month Monthly Gallons
Current
Previous Month Monthly Expense
Difference
Difference
Month Gallons
Gallons
Month Expense
Expense

6,378.70
974.10
0.00
7,352.80

5,633.90
1,247.80
26.90
6,908.60

744.80
-273.70
-26.90

444.20

$11,917.45
$1,742.30
$0.00
$13,659.75

$10,159.66
$2,166.37
$47.99
$12,374.02
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$1,757.79
-$424.07
-$47.99
$1,285.73

% of Gallons
% of $
Difference Difference
13.2
-21.9
-100.0
6.4

17.3
-19.6
-100.0
10.4
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STAFF REPORT
City Council, Tuesday, January 21, 2020
Public Works Monthly Staff Report
Council will receive the attached staff report for work performed during November, 2019.
This information is submitted as information only and with no action requested.

Speaker:

From:
Prepared by:
Approved by:

David Lutz, Public Works Director
Letha Cox, Administrative Services Manager
Jim Fatland, City Manager

Background
N/A

Staff Recommendation
N/A

Fiscal Impact
N/A
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Public Works Department
Staff Report
November, 2019
Prepared For: Mayor Harris and City Council
Presented By: David Lutz, Public Works Director
Approved By: Jim Fatland, City Manager

Projects, services provided, and community assistance included a variety of work performed by the
department during the month of November; and reflects departmental implementation of the City’s
vision as a “safe, friendly, family oriented city with small town charm, outdoor recreation, arts, and
culture that bring investment opportunities, environmental consciousness and economic diversity.”

Strategy: Foster Economic Development
Foster economic diversity while enhancing the quality of life in an environmentally friendly way by creating an environment that promotes and encourages businesses, and business owners, attracted to and
utilizing our natural assets of woods and water and our cultural / historical assets of music, arts, and
outdoor recreation.
1. We foster economic development by protecting our natural assets of woods and water that uniquely
define Brevard.


Video inspection of sewer mains, service lines and storm drains were performed on a total of
559’ to determine condition, verify location or depth, or in search of suspected inflow and infiltration sites or service line blockages.




Brushy Creek Basin


225’ of 8” sewer main was video inspected between manhole #BC-116 and #BC117 along S. England Street.



184’ of 8” sewer main was video inspected between manhole #BC-119 and #BC121 along W. Jordan Street.

Kings Creek Basin
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50’ of 4” sewer service line was video inspected on N. Caldwell Street to assist
Dill’s Plumbing with a sewer blockage search on N. Caldwell Street.
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Lambs Creek Basin






100’ of 15” storm drain was video inspected along Park Place
West in Straus Park to verify location and direction of flow.

Tree roots attributed to a 12” sewer main and
4” sewer service line deterioration on McLean
Road. The condition was discovered during an
inspection and repair of a residential sewer service line blockage. A 6” saddle was replaced on
the 12” pipe to eliminate the damaged section
of pipe.

Video inspecting Park Place West storm drain.

Manhole repair and maintenance continued during the month of November and included:


Overgrown ivy vines were removed from the top of manhole #SB-004 on Dogwood
Drive in the Singing Branch Basin.



A monthly visual inspection manhole #BC-072 was performed. The inspection revealed
no visible grease or blockage present reference a history of issues due to continual
grease blockages.

Dogwood Drive manhole #SB-004 covered with ivy.



Ivy removal from manhole #SB-004.

We protect our outdoor recreation areas for public enjoyment. Park and playground improvements during the month of November included a variety of work. Each location was inspected for seasonal landscaping items and routine maintenance issues.


All parks and playgrounds were inspected weekly with items noted for repair or replacement; public restrooms were cleaned with litter removed and trash receptacles emptied
at each facility.



Dog waste stations were emptied, restocked and/or repaired during the month.
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Additional noteworthy items or extra maintenance activities are listed for outdoor recreation areas during November:


Beethoven Park




Edna Glaze Playground






Leaves were blown from the park and mulch was freshened in the landscape area.

The playground equipment was inspected with no maintenance issues
noted.

Franklin Park


Water in both facility pools were routinely sampled and tested for chlorine content; chlorine tablets were added to maintain adequate levels as
needed.



Playground equipment was inspected with no maintenance issues noted.



A later report of exposed screws led to an additional inspection of all
playground structures. Staff located one (1) partially exposed screw and
was corrected during the inspection.



Leaves were blown from the park and playground into piles for collection
by Sanitation Division personnel.

Hap Simpson Park


Flood debris and mud was scraped and removed from the boat ramp.



Logs left from previous trees cut by Bartlett Tree Service were removed.



Picnic table areas were cleaned.

Hap Simpson Park boat ramp flood debris.



Heart of Brevard
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Business district sidewalk receptacles were emptied each day and included weekends.
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Tree placement within
N. Broad Street tree wells.



Tree well concrete form removal.



Thirty-five feet of concrete, 5’ in width, was
formed and later the installation was completed adjacent to the utility strip with Silva
cell installations.



Cathey’s Creek Electric was assisted with
technicians installing 35’ of replacement
electrical conduit in the utility strip. The
original conduit was damaged during tree
removal in October prior to Silva cell installations.



Four (4) Black Tupelo Nyssa Sylvatica trees
were installed in the utility strip of Section
1 at the site of Silva cell installations during
October. Mulch was placed around each
tree planted.



Eight (8) concrete tree well curbs, each
measuring 4’ X 2’ X 6”, were installed.

A developed hole on W. Main Street in front of City
Hall was repaired. The 8” X 8” hole was filled and
leveled with Quickrete patch mix.

Leaves were blown from the park walking path,
bench, picnic table area and landscape along walking path.

Skate Park Property






Pickelsimer Park




Downtown Master Plan improvements continued
on N. Broad Street in front of the Transylvania
Times.

A discovered dead deer was removed from the
property.

Sports Complex


Debris and leaves were blown from the paved area
around the Concession Stand. Litter was removed
from the designated cardboard collection area.



Additional mowing was performed in all greenspaces throughout the complex, around bleachers,
along ditch lines and walking spaces.

N. Broad Street sidewalk installation.
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The water fountain in front of the public restrooms was repaired. White landscape rock filled by vandals was removed. The fountain was disassembled and
wire mesh was installed to prevent sediment or further vandalism from settling
inside the water bowl.



The outfield grass was cut and lined on Field #6.

Sports Complex water fountain vandalism.

Landscaping
Fertilizing, Mowing,
Mulching, Trimming,
Watering, Weeding

Location

Asheville Highway Median
Beethoven Park
Bike Paths
Bracken Mountain Preserve
Clemson Park
College Corner - Highway Memorial
Dog Waste Stations
East Main at East Main Ext.
Edna Glaze Playground
Franklin Park Playground
Franklin Park Pool
Greenville Highway Civic Signs
Hap Simpson Park
Heart of Brevard Business District
Illahee Road Property
Mary C. Jenkins Community Center Lot
N. Broad Street at N. Caldwell Street
N. Broad Street at Old Highway 64
N. Caldwell Street Picnic Area
Park View Drive at Highway 276
Park Avenue at Park View Drive
Pickelsimer Park
Rosenwald Community (Welcome Sign)
S. Broad Street (Welcome Sign)
Sculptures
Skate Park
Sports Complex Grounds
Tannery Park
Wilson Road River Access
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Maintenance
Bridges, Dog Waste
Litter Removal, Pest
Stations, Fixtures,
Control, Tree Plantings or Equipment, Fencing, Flags,
Removal, Limb and Loose Inspection, Picnic Tables,
Leaf Removal
Trash Receptacles,
Winterization

Outdoor Sports
Field Maintenance, PreGame Striping, Boat Ramp,
Trail Maintenance

X
X
X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
X
X

X
X

X
X

X

X

X
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2. We foster economic development by ensuring our infrastructure is constantly maintained and replaced to serve existing and future business.


Pedestrian, bike and hike pathways were inspected for maintenance issues; grass was cut,
loose leaves and brush were removed, weeds were trimmed, weed deterrent was applied as
needed, and trash receptacles were emptied routinely. Dog waste stations were cleaned and
serviced with additional odor eliminator added to each station. Additional required repairs included:


Leaf season increased the need for pathway attention during the month with personnel
using blowers to remove fallen leaves from all bike paths, boardwalks and bridges.



Allison Road Bike Path





Developing cracks in the asphalt were patched along the pathway with Good
Stuff sealant.



“Bridge Slippery When Wet” signs were erected to alert patrons crossing the Allison Road access bridge at the Lambo Creek crossing.

Asheville Highway Bike Path


Removed litter from path between Pisgah Heights and St. Timothy’s Church entrance.



Removed leaves from the curb line and cleared storm drains along the Asheville
Highway adjacent to the bike path and utility strip.

Allison Road Bike Path access bridge signs.
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Eastatoe Trail 

Eight (8) sections of picket fencing
were repaired along the trail. Wood
pickets worn by weather or other damage were replaced.



Traffic cones were placed along the
trail near the intersection of Morris
Road at the site of a vehicle accident.
A section of guard rail is pending repair
by NCDOT.
Poplar Street Bike Path hand rails
and decking board replacement.

Poplar Street Bike Path


Removed litter from the path.



Replaced five (5) wooden hand rails and a total of fourteen (14) - 2’ X 6’ X 10’
decking boards on sections of boardwalk along the path behind Telco Community Credit Union.

Maintenance and repair of street infrastructure consisted of the following work performed
during November:


W. Main Street sidewalk improvements continued between Oaklawn Avenue and Galloway Street with the installation of trees in new sections of utility strip at the site of a
new housing development constructed by George Lenze Construction.


Holes were hand dug or excavated with equipment in preparation of tree
plantings.



Root guards were added to the curb side in front of each root ball prior to
plantings.

Securing new W. Main Street
trees with root guards.
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Burlap root guard.
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Nineteen of the proposed twenty Red Bud trees
scheduled for installation were planted in the utility strip.



Mulch was placed around newly planted trees.



Storm water erosion control implemented during October
was completed along Homestead Trace. Four (4) Cryptomeria dwarf shrubs (Japanese cedars) and three (3)
spreading Yew shrubs were planted at the intersection of
Stone Creek Trail to secure soils adjacent to the asphalt
street edges.



Sign installation or maintenance to existing signs during
the month of November included:

W. Main Street utility strip
Red Bud tree plantings.



Burrell Avenue at Railroad Avenue - fallen street
name signs were inspected after a report was received that the signs were missing. Signs were
found in place at the time of the inspection.



King Street at Railroad Avenue - a No Parking Here
to Corner sign was erected and replaced an existing
No Parking This Side of Street sign as requested by
the Public Works Director.



Two (2) utility cuts were inspected and/or repaired
during the month on Probart Street and W. Morgan Street.



Assistance was provided to NC Department of
Transportation with the removal of a dead deer
from the edge of Highway 64 / Asheville Highway.



A small amount of stone reportedly spilled on S.
College Row was removed.

Homestead Trace erosion control plantings.

King Street No Parking Here To Corner sign.



The Sanitation Division collected garbage, commercial and
residential recycling, brush, bagged yard waste and loose
leaves during November:


One (1) commercial business, 183 King Street, LLC,
began participating in the commercial recycling
program during November.



A participating business expanded their recycle collection; Transylvania County Department of Social
Services requested three (3) additional carts.

Residential trash collection.
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Loose leaf collection continues with crews vacuuming leaves from street edges.

Excelsior Drive leaf collection.

Leaf disposal at Public Works Facility.



An assessment of can sizes was held during November. Garbage cans in excess of 32
gallons in size were tagged to alert and inform customers of the city ordinance and sanitation collection policy size limit. The size limit prevents injury to Sanitation Division
employees and provides quantity limits of excess waste placed into the landfill.



A bump guard was placed at recently added garbage dumpster site serving Daggie’s
Restaurant on the Hendersonville Highway. The guard will prevent the dumpster from
being pushed backward during collection preventing accident or injury.



Scrap tires, fifty-nine in total from the Vehicle Maintenance Garage, were hauled to the
County Landfill for disposal.

November Sanitation Activities
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7 Special trash collections.



3 Single item special trash collections.



9 Residential recycle carts delivered.



1 Residential recycle bins delivered.



4 Commercial recycle carts delivered.



3 Small electronic item collected.
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Code Enforcement assistance was provided with the inspection of a discovered homeless shelter at the site of the former Sonic Drive-In located on N. Caldwell Street. Personnel responded to the request by Police Department and Planning Department staff
who requested locks placed on a dumpster enclosure to prevent further entry.

N. Caldwell Street property enclosure
locks installed by city staff.



Collections System infrastructure maintenance consisted of the following noted items during
November:


System personnel inspected reports of eight (8) sewer line blockages during the month;
seven (7) actual city-side main or service line blockages were cleared on Asheville Highway, Cashiers Valley Road, McLean Road (2), N. Caldwell Street, Neely Road and S. Johnson Street.



Subsequent sewer repair included a 10’ section of deteriorated 4” sewer service line
replaced and the installation of a 4” clean check at a McLean Road residence. The condition of the existing pipe was discovered during work to clear a reported blockage at
the residence and was attributed to tree root infiltration.



The cause of a sewer blockage at Wendy’s Restaurant on the Asheville Highway required replacement of 40’ of 4”
sewer service line and a 4” clean check
was installed to complete the repair.
Adjoining property behind the restaurant off Green Acres Avenue was utilized
for access to the sewer service line during repair. Personnel returned to this
location and removed brush and excess
pipe when the repair was complete.
Green Acres Avenue site
restoration behind Wendy’s.
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Smoke testing was performed to provide photos and documentation of line conditions to Summit Engineering
Group Inc. in preparation of the Gallimore Basin Sewer
Rehabilitation Project.


Jumping Branch Basin


Laurel Lane Area - 480’ of 8” sewer main
between manhole #JB-058 and #JB-061.
Smoke was detected coming up around a
utility pole at 100 Turnpike Road, around a
tree stump at 138 Turnpike Road and
around manhole #JB-059 in the back yard
of 100 Turnpike Road.



Memory Lane Area - 190’ of 8” sewer main
between manhole #JB-003 and #JB-0348.
Smoke was detected coming up around the
exterior of manhole #JB-003.



Turnpike Road Area - 400’ of 6” sewer main
from manhole #JB-061 up to the dead end
near Maple Street. Additional smoke was
visible in the yard of 100 Turnpike Road at
the corner of Aspen Place and behind the
cleanout of a residence located at 60 Turnpike Road.

Filling plug bags with air
prior to smoke testing.

Pipe plug placement inside manhole #JB-061
to isolate lines during smoke testing.



Smoker machine filling manhole #JB-061 to
test 6” sewer main on Turnpike road.



Singing Branch Basin


Dogwood Drive Area - 300’ of 8” sewer
main between manhole #SB-004 and #SB048. No visible smoke was detected.



Grove Street Area - 240’ of 8” sewer main
between manhole #SB-006 and #SB-044.
No visible smoke was detected.

Additional documentation requested by Summit Engineering Group Inc. was provided during the information gathering process and included previous video inspections of
sewer mains within the Jumping Branch Basin along W.
Jordan Street and Probart Street. Additional data was provided by mapping pipe line sizes as requested by the engineer.

Turnpike Road visible smoke
from holes in yard.
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Sewer taps were installed or replaced during the month and included:
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A new 4” residential sewer tap was installed for Jackson Wine Construction at
184 Burrell Avenue in the Kings Creek Basin. The installation included 15’ of 4”
sewer service line and 1 - 4” clean check. The installation trench was restored
with clean stone and ABC stone.

Hole core drilled into Burrell Avenue
8” clay sewer main.

Installing 4” inserta tee and band
to connect service line pipe.

4” Sewer service line installed
beneath gas main.

4” Clean check installation for
Burrell Avenue service.

A new 6” residential sewer tap was installed for Timothy Worley at 345 Osborne
Road in the Lambs Creek Basin. The installation included 6’ of 6” sewer service
line, 6’ of 4” sewer service line and a 6” clean check. No site restoration was
performed as the customer stated his final site grading would take care of the
disturbed area.

A re-occurring monthly inspection of a 4” sewer service line and clean out serving the
American Legion on E. Jordan Street was performed. The inspection verified the service
line pipe was maintaining flow with no further deterioration or blockage present.
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Stock items were placed into the inventory storage area of the Operations Center as
delivered with an inventory of spare parts completed for the month of November.



Sewer line cleaning, totaling 545’, was performed at the following locations prior to video inspections or as routine cleaning of system mains for Collections System permit annual requirements.

Sewer Line Cleaning
Brushy Creek
Elm Bend
Gallimore
Kings Creek
Lambo Creek
Lambs Creek
Pisgah Forest
Singing Branch
Total Amount Cleaned = 545



6"

8"

12"

15

20

510

20

15

0

510

Sewer lift station maintenance included:


Bedford Place Lift Station


Maintenance technicians were assisted with routine lift station cleaning.
Grease was removed from the lift station wet well utilizing the vacuum
truck.

Vacuum truck shoot lowered into
Bedford Place wet well.



Bedford Place Lift station grease removal.

Gallimore Road Lift Station
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4"

Heavy rain received two days prior to November 1, 2019 increased flow
to the lift station and a high level alarm was sounded in the early morning hours. Personnel responded and were able to capture four loads
(10,000 gallons) of sewage from manhole #GB-056 with pump equipment
to prevent a potential overflow event. Sewage was delivered to the
Waste Treatment Facility on Wilson Road for disposal. No discharge
event occurred as flow eventually subsided to normal levels.
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Neely Road Lift Station




Grease was vacuumed from the wet well to assist maintenance technicians during routine lift station cleaning.

Wilson Road Lift Station


A leaking 6” pump line discovered on October 31, 2019 was repaired.
The leaking pump line section located on the exterior of the facility wet
well wall was repaired by using a 6” handy-band clamp.



A 2” air release valve discovered malfunctioning during the pump line
leak repair was replaced.

Cutting concrete slab to expose Wilson
Road Lift Station leak.

Page 202 of 395

Jack hammer attachment used
to excavate concrete slab.

Exposed leaking 6” pump line.

Handy band installed to stop leak.

Installing new air release valve.

Air release installation complete
and working properly.
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The Water Distribution maintenance and repair of the water system infrastructure included the
following items in November:


There were seven (7) inspections for reported water leaks during November; six (6) actual leaks were repaired or scheduled for repair on Deer Run Street, N. Country Club
Road, Oakdale Road, Probart Street, W. Morgan Street and Yale Lane.



Leaks requiring water line replacement included:




1-1/2’ of 3/4” plastic pipe was replaced on Deer Run Street.

During water leak repairs a total three (3) lead goose necks (in-line components) were
removed from service lines on Probart Street and W. Morgan Street.

Cutting asphalt at site of
Yale Lane water leak.

Hydro-excavating to
expose Yale Lane leak.

Tightening Yale Lane repair fitting on
water service line.



Fire hydrant inspection and maintenance included the following:



Flushed a Cardinal Drive water post hydrant to ensure water quality in the area. Flow
was sampled to record chlorine content.



Water taps were installed/replaced during the month and included:
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One (1) new 3/4” residential water tap for Jackson Wine Construction at 184
Burrell Avenue. The installation included 20’ of 3/4” water service line, 1 - 6” X
3/4” tapping saddle, meter setting, meter box and a backflow preventer.



One (1) new 3/4” residential water tap for Timothy Worley at 345 Osborne
Road. The installation included 40’ of 3/4” water service line, 1 - 8” X 3/4” tapping saddle, meter setting, meter box and a backflow preventer.
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Reservoir, water tank and pump station facility maintenance included:


Straus Park Pump Station #1




Interior pump station piping was painted.

Meter and meter box maintenance continued throughout the month of November:


An E. Main Street water meter serving the Davidson River Presbyterian Church
was inspected reference the report of no water at the facility. Upon arrival it
was discovered the issue was resolved with no maintenance necessary.



Staff inspected a water meter serving a Cardinal Drive residence reference concerns by the customer regarding black debris found on a water filter cartridge. It
was determined that the black substance inside the filter was charcoal and a
normal component of the filter system. The 3/4” water meter was replaced as
requested by the customer.

Programming replacement Cardinal Drive water meter.



Sites for additional large meter replacements were inspected with information
gathered for effective scheduling of the replacements.



Two meter boxes were leveled on Princeton Lane, one of which was replaced
due to notable damage. The sunken area surrounding the boxes was filled
with top soil; with restoration including grass seed and straw.

3. We encourage investment when we appear well-run and well planned. We show dedication and
reliability by maintaining our city buildings and facilities.


City owned buildings and facilities are inspected daily and weekly depending on use and scheduled work, meetings and events. Routine maintenance, janitorial services, seasonal landscaping are provided by city staff with major repair or improvements provided by professional technicians. Monthly inspection of facility fire extinguishers, eye stations and ladders are performed.
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Building and facility items requiring additional maintenance services were noted during the
month of November and included the following:


City Hall, Council Chambers, Public Restrooms


Mums were removed from entrance landscaping and were replaced with pansies.



Fall decorations were removed from the lobby and replaced with a winter variety of plants for the Christmas season. New plants were watered as necessary.



Christmas decorations and extension cords stored at the Building & Grounds Facility were gathered in preparation of City Hall decorating.



A Christmas tree was erected and decorated in the lobby.



Council Chambers was inspected and/or prepared for meetings:





Board of Adjustment Meeting



Planning Board Meeting



Vision Government Day

Stained ceiling tiles were replaced in the Administrative Conference Room.

City Hall Christmas decorations.



Fire Department


Page 205 of 395

City Hall Christmas tree decorating.

A discovered HVAC malfunction and possible gas leak inside the front door of
the lower bay area was reported. Personnel assisted MSS Solutions, LLC technicians with the inspection after which there was no gas leak detected; however,
it was determined a heating unit was in need of replacement. MSS Solutions,
LLC will replace the unit and is pending at this time.
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Franklin Park Bath House and Pump Building


Heating units were inspected in both structures
and confirmed to be working properly.



Facility public restrooms were cleaned daily with
supplies replenished as needed. A clogged toilet
was cleared in the Men’s Restroom.



A storage cabinet was purchased to store supplies
in the facility janitor’s closet. The new cabinet was
placed and secured to the wall of the closet following assembly.

Storage cabinet assembly for Franklin Park
janitorial supply storage.



Storage cabinet installed and
secured to facility wall.



French Broad Community Center


A reported absence of soap in the facility restrooms was inspected. Daily inspections and
cleaning of the center confirmed adequate soap
was in all provided dispensers.



A damaged toilet seat was replaced in the Men’s
Restroom.

Girl Scout Hut




Operations Center fluorescent
bulb replacement.



Operations Center


Facility restrooms and floors were cleaned.



The conference room was prepared for meetings
as needed.



The storage yard area was organized to accommodate a delivery of new recycle carts.



Light bulbs were replaced facility fixtures throughout the office and warehouse areas.



An exterior key code security lock was repaired.
Key pad buttons, door piston and knob were lubricated and the strike plate was filed down to allow
smooth release during use.

Police Department


Warehouse light fixture following
bulb replacement.
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The Scout Hut heating unit was inspected and was
heating properly.

Leaves were blown from outdoor landscape areas.
Weeds and grass were trimmed in the flagpole
landscape.
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Quarterly inspection and service of department air condition units included filter
replacement, enzyme tablets ad cleaning of each individual unit.

Public Works


A 6” sewer line blockage was cleared at the facility. Personnel cleared 15’ of 6”
service line from the vehicle wash pit. Mud and debris were removed from the
wash pit when the blockage was cleared.

Public Works vehicle wash pit blockage.





Mud and debris removed from pit.

Sports Complex


The interior heating units of the public restrooms were inspected and confirmed
to operate properly.



The HVAC remote was located and switched from air conditioning to heat in the
Concession Stand. A follow up inspection was performed to ensure the unit was
heating properly and was found off and displaying an error code. Hensley’s Refrigeration & AC was contacted and the unit was repaired with no further issues.

Parking lots at city facilities and within the Heart of Brevard District were maintained for appearance and vehicular use. Staff inspect each location for litter, landscape issues, signage
and pavement markings with seasonal upkeep performed as needed.


Bracken Mountain Preserve




City Hall including the Fire Department and Police Department
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Leaves were blown from the preserve parking lot.

Leaves and debris were blown from each parking lot and from the area HVAC
chiller enclosure.
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Hap Simpson Park


Flood debris and mud from heavy rain received on October 31, 2019 were removed from the parking lot.

Hap Simpson Park debris removal from parking lot.

Housekeeping

Location

Building & Grounds Office
City Hall
Co-Ed Theater

X
X

Council Chambers
Deerlake Pump Station
Fire Department
Franklin Park Bath House
Franklin Park Pump Building
French Broad Community Center
Girl Scout Hut
Operations Center
Parking Lots
Planning Department
Police Department

X

Public Restrooms
Public Works Facility
Sports Complex Concession Stand
Water Reservoir & Pump Stations

Seasonal

Janitorial, Fire Extinguisher
Inspections, Flags, Meeting
Pest Control, Decorations,
Prep, Recycle Carts,
Painting, Winterizing
Routine Maintenance
Issues

Landscaping - Exterior

Electrical, HVAC, Plumbing

Mowing, Trimming,
Flowers, Shrubs, Litter
Removal, Leaf Removal

Inspection, Contract Services,
Major Maintenance Issues

X

X

X

X
X

X
X
X
X
X

X
X

X
X
X
X
X
X

X
X
X

X

X
X
X
X

X
X

Strategy: Enhance Quality of Life
Encourage and enhance our family friendly and small town charm by bringing people of all ages
together through physical connections within our community and to our natural assets of woods and
water and personal connections to each other and to our cultural / historic assets of music, arts and outdoor recreation.
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1. We encourage and enhance our family friendly and small town charm by bringing people together
through physical connections within our community.


Administrative staff received a total of 646 telephone calls during the month of November.
Calls consisted of general information, utility and street maintenance requests, sanitation and
recycle service requests, vehicle maintenance appointments, preventive maintenance reschedules, staff and director issues, inter-departmental requests and various engineers, surveyors
and sales representatives.



The NC811 Locating Service requested 170 locates
for proposed excavation sites. Each request was
marked with flags or marking paint for other utility
companies, building contractors or citizens or confirmation of no city utilities within the requested
area was confirmed.





NC 811 Locates - 170



Other Utility Locates - 2

Additional locating work included:


An existing 8” sewer main was located and marked on White Oak Lane a distance of
220’ between manhole #KC-119 and #KC-121 for the Public Works Director.



Video inspection verified a locate request concerning a 15” storm drain pipe along Park
Place West in Straus Park.

White Oak Lane sewer main locating.



Utility Locates

Stakes driven to mark Park Place West
storm drain location.

The Public Works Director attended meetings regarding proposed developments, current projects, committee meetings, divisional day to day operations and citizenry requesting services
or information on various topics. Meetings attended during November consisted of:


Agenda Preview Meeting



Cardinal Drive Water Quality and Area Hydrant Flushing



City Council Meeting and Fall Retreat Meeting



Forest Gate Self Storage Water Main Relocation Request



French Broad Community Center Sound Improvements Meetings
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Gallimore Basin Sewer Rehabilitation Project



King Street Curb Cut Proposal Meeting for Magpie, Meat & 3



Pisgah Health Foundation Community Garden and Fitness Station Proposal



Pisgah Health Foundation Community Garden and Fitness Station Site Visit



Public Works Facility Lower Yard Soil Sampling Meeting with SM&E



Railroad Avenue Proposed Butterfly Garden



Safe Drive Entrance on Railroad Avenue



Staff Meetings.



W4 Carwash Proposed Water Tap

2. We encourage and embrace our family friendly and small town charm by bringing people together
through personal connection with each other.


Streets personnel erected or removed street banners as scheduled to promote community
events held in the city.


Children’s Center - Festival of Trees



Patchwork Crafters - Craft Show and Sale



Transylvania Christian Ministry - Pack The Pantry Event



American flag pole banners were erected in the Heart of Brevard in celebration of Veteran’s
Day.



Assistance was provided to Brevard College with maintenance of campus storm drains. Personnel assisted maintenance personnel with determining a blockage location and clearing the
drainage pipe blockage in front of the Art Building and gymnasium.

Festival of Trees 2019 (photo courtesy of
www.childrenscenteroftc.org)
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Erecting American flags
prior to Veteran’s Day.
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3. A safe community is one where residents know the city provides reliable and consistent service.


The Vehicle Maintenance Division maintained the city and county fleet with 189 vehicles or
equipment items serviced or repaired during November. Preventive maintenance and/or repairs were performed on 141 city and 48 county assets.



A required monthly fuel site walk-through inspection was completed and included inspection of
fuel dispensers, underground fuel storage tank spill buckets and visual measurements of unleaded and diesel fuel.



Staff inspected the new garbage truck received during November to ensure all equipment met
specifications as quoted. The 2020 Freightliner / Heil 20 cubic yard garbage truck was purchased from Carolina Environmental Systems, Inc. for $177,480.

New 2020 Freightliner garbage truck.



Employee activities and opportunities during November included:


Annual Wellness Health Screenings



Brown Consultants Reference Staff Assistance with Special Projects Documentation



Brown Consultants Reference Staff Assistance with Utility Project Engineer Certifications



Dr. Ward Weekly Scheduled Appointments



Health Savings Account Enrollment Appointments



Post Accident Review Meetings



Random Drug Screenings



Safety Committee Meeting



Safety Training Classes



United Way Fund Raiser - Taco Bar Lunch
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APPENDIX I: November Departmental Statistics

Service statistics are provided as indicators for Public Works performance and budgetary trends.

Previous
Month
(October)

Item
Administrative Call Log
City Meeting or Event Prep
Cardboard Collection
Electronics
Residential Recycling - Bin
Commercial Recycling - Bin
Residential Recycling - Cart
Commercial Recycling - Cart
Commercial Recycling
Residential Recycling
Solid Waste Collection
Special Collections
Single Item Collection
Television - Large ($10)
Television - Small ($5)
Barricade / Emergency Assist
Festival / Special Event Assist
Flag Honors / Half Masts
Street Banners
Potholes
Sidewalk Footage (Length)
Utility Cuts
Fleet Service - City Vehicles
Fleet Service - County Vehicles
I&I Video Inspections
Sewer Blockages
Sewer Tap New Commercial
Sewer Tap New Residential
Sewer Taps Repaired / Replaced
811 Locates
Utility Locates
Water Leaks
Water Meter Boxes
Water Meters New
Water Meters Other
Water Tap New Commercial
Water Tap New Residential
Water Tap Repaired / Replaced
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668
3
22.98
11
2
0
9
5
21.21
43.80
257
11
3
1
0
0
2
5
5
3
0
14
131
71
1,795
5
0
0
0
178
9
15
2
0
15
0
0
1

Current
Month
(November)

646
3
16.65
3
1
0
9
4
16.65
41.05
219
7
3
0
0
1
0
0
6
0
35
2
141
48
559
8
0
2
0
170
2
7
4
0
2
0
2
0
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Year To Date
(July November)

3,370
12
99.60
25
13
0
50
15
94.21
203.37
1,277.07
67
18
21
1
3
5
9
35
15
200
53
641
315
4,839
34
3
4
2
732
34
77
26
4
41
11
4
1

Previous FY
Year Total
2018-2019

9120
45
235.28
59
30
3
125
30
205.41
448.75
3,107
157
32
20
7
3
21
22
52
115
232
83
1,444
776
15,992
68
1
16
30
1,538
98
129
52
20
107
11
18
1
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APPENDIX II: November Sanitation Statistics

Sanitation statistics are provided as indicators for solid waste and recycling performance.

Recycle Tons
Per Month Comparison
70.00
60.00

2018-2019
Residential

50.00
2018-2019
Commercial

40.00
30.00

2018-2020
Residential

20.00
2019-2020
Commercial

10.00
0.00
Jul
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APPENDIX II-A: November Sanitation Statistics

Sanitation statistics are provided as indicators for solid waste and recycling performance.


Recycle and Solid Waste Collections Comparison.

Recycle / Solid Waste
Tons Per Month Comparison
FY 2019-2020

32.40
41.05

Nov

219.30
44.19
43.80

Oct

257.20
32.16
39.22

Sep

241.61
39.81
39.15

Aug

255.60
44.35
40.15

Jul

303.36
0.00

50.00

100.00

Recycle Commercial

150.00

200.00

250.00

Recycle Residential

300.00

350.00

Solid Waste

Commercial amount includes commercial cardboard collection & curbside recycling.
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APPENDIX III: November Sanitation Statistics

Sanitation statistics are provided as indicators for city commercial cardboard collection performance.


Revenue includes customer fees collected plus sale of cardboard to American Recycling of Candler, NC.



Expense includes collection of commercial cardboard labor, fuel and vehicle maintenance during the
month.



A documented Net Loss is attributed to a continual drop in price per ton since November, 2018. The
current revenue for the month of November is $15.00 per ton.

Revenue
Expense
Net Profit or Loss

$5,586.25
$5,746.04
-$159.79

$160.00
$140.00
Price Per Ton

$120.00
$100.00
$80.00

FY 2016-17

$60.00

FY 2017-18

$40.00

FY 2018-19

$0.00

FY 2019-20

Jul
Aug
Sep
Oct
Nov
Dec
Jan
Feb
Mar
Apr
May
Jun

$20.00
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APPENDIX IV: November Fuel Use Statistics

Fuel Use Statistics are provided as indicators for vehicle and equipment fleet fuel use by the city and
county vehicle fleet.
November fuel use decreased 15.1% in gallons used with an expense decrease of 17.1% from the month of
October, 2019.


Current Unleaded Fuel Price:

$ 1.792 / last purchase on November 27, 2019.



Current Diesel Fuel Price:

$ 2.137 / last purchase on November 27, 2019.

Entity Comparison
City Vehicles
County Vehicles
Narcotics Task Force
Totals
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Current
Previous Month Monthly Gallons
Current
Previous Month Monthly Expense
Difference
Difference
Month Gallons
Gallons
Month Expense
Expense

5,645.00
596.40
0.00
6,241.40

6,378.70
974.10
0.00
7,352.80

-733.70
-377.70
0.00

-1,111.40

$10,297.06
$1,030.48
$0.00
$11,327.54

11,917.45
1,742.30
0.00
$13,659.75
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-$1,620.39
-$711.82
$0.00
-$2,332.21

% of Gallons
% of $
Difference Difference
-11.5
-13.6
-38.8
-40.9
#DIV/0!
#DIV/0!
-15.1
-17.1
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Brevard Fire Department
95 West Main Street

Robert A. Cooper, Fire Chief
(828) 883-3333
Fax: (828) 883-8476

Brevard, NC 28712

2019 Annual Report
Major Incident Type
MAJOR INCIDENT TYPE
Fires
Overpressure rupture, explosion, overheat - no fire
Rescue & Emergency Medical Service
Hazardous Condition (No Fire)
Service Call
Good Intent Call
False Alarm & False Call
Severe Weather & Natural Disaster
Special Incident Type

TOTAL

# INCIDENTS

% of TOTAL

83
3
257
105
128
38
183
11
44

9.74%
0.35%
30.16%
12.32%
15.02%
4.46%
21.48%
1.29%
5.16%

852

100.00%

MAJOR INCIDENT TYPE

Special Incident
Type, 44

Fires, 83
Severe Weather &
Natural Disaster, 11

Overpressure
rupture, explosion,
overheat - no fire, 3

False Alarm & False
Call, 183
Rescue &
Emergency Medical
Service, 257

Service Call, 128
Good Intent Call, 38
Hazardous
Condition (No Fire),
105

PageBradley
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Deputy ChiefAgenda Packet-Brevard City Council
Mark
Norton, Assistant ChiefJanuary 21, 2020
Meeting

Shift Breakdown
SHIFT

# INCIDENTS

PERCENTAGE

Day Staff 0800-1700

473

55.6%

Evening 17:00 to 00:00

271

31.8%

Night 00:00 to 08:00

108

12.6%

TOTAL

852

100.0%

SHIFT BREAKDOWN
Night 00:00 to 08:00,
108

Evening 17:00 to 00:00,
271

Day Staff 0800-1700,
473

Incidents by Day of the Week and Hours
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Additional Data
 Average 2.3 Calls per Day
 68 Mutual Aid Calls
 197 Overlapping Calls
 Average Response Time 4.86 Minutes
 Total Average Scene Time 43 Minutes
 Total Man Hours on Calls 3,305
 Total Training Hours 3,718
Respectfully Submitted,

Robert A. Cooper, MPA, NREMT-P
Fire Chief
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STAFF REPORT
City Council, January 21, 2020
Title:

From:
Prepared by:
Approved by:

Legal Update – State Statute Chapter 160D
Staff is providing an overview on a new chapter of the North Carolina
General Statutes that revises land use law in the state.

Paul Ray CZO, Planning Director
Aaron Bland AICP, Assistant Planning Director
Jim Fatland CPFO, City Manager

Background
Only July 11, 2019 Governor Roy Cooper signed Senate Bill 355, creating SL 2019-111, Part
II of which created Chapter 160D of the North Carolina General Statutes.
Discussion
Chapter 160D is a new chapter of the North Carolina General Statutes, which consolidates
existing county and city enabling statutes for planning, land use, and development
regulations (currently found in Chapters 153A and 160A respectively) into a single, unified
chapter. This chapter organizes these statutes in a much more logical and cohesive way.

While the new law does not make major policy changes or alter the authority of local
governments, it does provide many clarifying amendments and reforms that will need to be
incorporated into Brevard’s local regulations.
In order to provide time for the development and adoption of necessary local amendments,
Chapter 160D does not go into effect until January 1, 2021. All city and county zoning,
subdivision, and other development regulations, including unified-development
ordinances, will need to be updated by that date to conform to the new law. Throughout
2020, Planning Staff will be bringing numerous text amendments before Planning Board
and City Council as to conform with the new statutes.
Policy Analysis
The UNC School of Government has put out a helpful and comprehensive checklist for local
ordinance updates, which is included as Attachment A. The School has also produced an
annotated version of the chapter; it is too large to print for the packet but can be found at:
sog.unc.edu/sites/www.sog.unc.edu/files/Chapter%20160D_AnnotatedText_E_2.pdf

Fiscal Impact
Staff will work as diligently as possible to bring Brevard’s ordinances into compliance with
the new requirements, but outside assistance from consultants will likely be required to get
all of the necessary work done before January 1, 2021.
Attachments
A. UNC SOG Checklist of Changes to Local Ordinances, Policies, and Practices
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ATTACHMENT A

G.S. Chapter 160D Checklist of Changes to
Local Ordinances, Policies, and Practices
This checklist outlines provisions in the new Chapter 160D of the North Carolina General Statutes
(hereinafter G.S.) as well as related statutory changes that will be incorporated into Chapter 160D.
The changes to the statutes affect the language of local ordinances, the options for local decision
processes, and the administrative practices related to development regulations.
This checklist is one piece of a larger set of resources and training materials, including an
explanatory book, Chapter 160D: A New Land Use Law for North Carolina. Each item on this
checklist is described more thoroughly in those additional resources. Section headers in this
checklist note the corresponding chapter and section of the Chapter 160D book [in brackets].
Check nc160D.sog.unc.edu for additional resources and training.
The checklist has specific notations, which are accompanied by specific icons, as follows:
£ Denotes legislative changes for which local governments must take action (statutory citations
are in parentheses)
 Denotes permissive legislative changes for which local governments may take action
U Denotes notable legislative changes that do not require local action but of which local governments must be aware

*For items noted with an asterisk, local governments do not have authority for the change until January 1, 2021, unless legislation authorizes earlier effectiveness. Noted changes may be incorporated
into ordinances and policies, but they must not be effective until 2021. All other changes may be
adopted and effective immediately.

I. Terminology and Citations [Chapter 1, Section III]
£ Must update any references to provisions in G.S. Chapter 160A or 153A to indicate relevant
provisions in Chapter 160D. (See appendixes B and C in the Chapter 160D book.)
£ Must align ordinance terminology with Chapter 160D terminology for conditional zoning and
special use permits; must delete use of the terms conditional use permit, special exception,
conditional use district zoning, and special use district zoning. (See G.S. 160D-102.)
£ Must ensure that ordinance definitions for the following terms are not inconsistent with
definitions provided in state law and regulation: building, dwelling, dwelling unit, bedroom, and
sleeping unit. (S.L. 2019-111, § 1.17.)
 May align ordinance terminology with Chapter 160D terminology, including for the following
terms: administrative decision, administrative hearing, determination, developer, development,
development approval, development regulation, dwelling, evidentiary hearing, legislative
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ATTACHMENT A

decision, legislative hearing, planning and development regulation jurisdiction, and quasijudicial decision. (G.S. 160D-102.)

II. Geographic Jurisdiction [Chapter 2, Section I]
£ *For extension of extraterritorial jurisdiction (ETJ), a municipality must provide mailed notice
thirty days prior to ETJ hearing; municipality may hold one hearing (with single mailed notice)
regarding ETJ and initial zoning amendment. (G.S. 160D-202(d).)
 Municipality may hold hearings in anticipation of change in jurisdiction. (G.S. 160D-204.)

 *For a parcel in two jurisdictions, the owner and the jurisdictions may agree for development
regulations from one jurisdiction to apply to the entire parcel. (G.S. 160D-203.)
 *In ETJ, the county may elect to exercise development regulations that the municipality is not
exercising. (G.S. 160D-202(b).)

III. Boards [Chapter 2, Section II]
A. In General
£ Must adopt broadened conflict-of-interest standards for governing and advisory boards. (G.S.
160D-109.)
£ Must keep minutes of proceedings of each board. (G.S. 160D-308.)
£ Must have each board member take an oath of office before starting his or her duties. (G.S.
160D-309.)
£ Must update ETJ population estimate, at least with each decennial census (also calculation
for proportional representation is simplified and process for appointment is clarified). (G.S.
160D-307.)
£ Must provide proportional representation for ETJ on preservation commission if any districts
or landmarks are designated in the ETJ. (G.S. 160D-307.)
 May have detailed rules of procedure for each board; may be adopted by governing board;
if not, then may be adopted by individual board; if adopted, must maintain board rules
of procedure (by clerk or other officer as set by ordinance) and must post board rules of
procedure to website, if the jurisdiction has a website. (G.S. 160D-308.)
 May establish reasonable procedures to solicit, review, and make appointments; governing
board typically makes appointments but may delegate that appointment-making authority.
(G.S. 160D-310.)
 May establish additional advisory boards related to development regulations. (G.S. 160D-306.)
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B. Planning Board
 May assign to planning board the coordination of citizen engagement for planning. (G.S.
160D-301.)
 May assign planning board to serve as preliminary forum for review and comment on quasijudicial decisions, provided that no part of the preliminary forum or recommendation may be
used as a basis for the deciding board. (G.S. 160D-301.)

C. Board of Adjustment
 May assign board of adjustment to hear and decide matters under any development regulation,
not just zoning. (G.S. 160D-302.)
 May assign duties of housing appeals board to board of adjustment. (G.S. 160D-305.)

IV. Land Use Administration [Chapter 2, Section III]
A. In General
£ Must incorporate new staff conflict-of-interest standards into ordinance or policy. (G.S.
160D-109.)
£ Must maintain in paper or digital format current and prior zoning maps for public inspection.
(G.S. 160D-105.)
£ Must maintain in paper or digital format any state or federal agency maps incorporated by
reference into the zoning map. (G.S. 160D-105.)
 May enact ordinances, procedures, and fee schedules relating to administration and
enforcement of development regulations. (G.S. 160D-402(b).)
 May charge reasonable fees for support, administration, and implementation of development
regulation; must use any such fees for that purpose, not for other purposes. (G.S. 160D-402(d).)

B. Enforcement
£ Must issue notices of violation (NOVs) in conformance with statutory procedures (must deliver
to permittee and landowner if different; may deliver to occupant or person undertaking the
activity; delivery by hand, email, or first-class mail; may be posted onsite; administrator to
certify NOV for the file.) (G.S. 160D-404(a).)
£ If inspecting, must enter the premises during reasonable hours and upon presenting
credentials; must have consent of premises owner or an administrative search warrant to
inspect areas not open to the public. (G.S. 160D-403(e).)
£ For revocation of development approval, must follow the same process as was used for the
approval. (G.S. 160D-403(f).)
 May perform inspections for other development approvals to ensure compliance with state
law, local law, and the terms of the approval; must perform (or contract for) inspections for
building permits. (G.S. 160D-1113; -403(e).)
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 May perform inspections for general code compliance and enforcement (inspections unrelated
to a development approval). (G.S. 160D-402(b).)
 May require a certificate of compliance or occupancy to confirm that permitted work complies
with applicable laws and terms of the permit; still must require certificate of occupancy for
work requiring a building permit. (G.S. 160D-403(g).)
 May issue stop-work orders for illegal or dangerous work or activity, whether related to a
permit or not. (G.S. 160D-404(b).)
 May continue to use general enforcement methods, including civil penalties, fines, courtordered actions, and criminal prosecution. (G.S. 160D-404(c).)
U Be aware that a local government must bring a court action in advance of the applicable fiveand seven-year statutes of limitation. (G.S. 1-51 and -49; established prior to Chapter 160D.)

V. Substance of Zoning Ordinance [Chapter 3, Section I]
£ Must maintain current and prior zoning maps for public inspection (local government clerk or
other office may be the responsible office); may adopt and maintain in paper or digital format.
(G.S. 160D-105.)
£ Must eliminate conditional-use-district zoning; existing conditional-use-district zoning
converts to conditional district on January 1, 2021. (G.S. 160D-703; S.L. 2019-111, § 2.9(b).)
 *May incorporate maps officially adopted by state or federal agencies (such as flood-insurance
rate maps (FIRMs)) into the zoning map; may incorporate the most recent officially adopted
version of such maps so that there is no need for ordinance amendment for subsequent map
updates; must maintain current effective map for public inspection; may maintain in paper or
digital format. (G.S. 160D-105.)
 *May require certain dedications and performance guarantees for zoning approvals to the
same extent as for subdivision approvals. (G.S. 160D-702.)
 May use form-based codes. (G.S. 160D-703(a)(3).)
 May allow administrative minor modification of conditional zoning, special use permits, and
other development approvals; if allowed, must define “minor modification” by ordinance, must
not include modification of use or density, and major modifications must follow standard
approval process. (G.S. 160D-403(d), -703(b), -705(c).)
 May apply zoning standards jurisdiction-wide, not just on a zoning-district-by-zoning-district
basis. (G.S. 160D-703(d).)
 *May regulate development over navigable waters, including floating homes. (G.S.
160D-702(a).)
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VI. Substance of Other Development Ordinances [Chapter 3, Section II]
£ Must conform subdivision performance guarantee requirements with statutory standards.
(S.L. 2019-79 (S.B. 313), to be incorporated into G.S. Chapter 160D.)
£ Must conform subdivision procedures for expedited review of certain minor subdivisions.
(G.S. 160D-802, established prior to G.S. Chapter 160D.)
£ Must exempt farm use on bona fide farm in ETJ from city zoning to the same extent it would
be exempt from county zoning; Chapter 160D clarifies that other municipal development
regulations may still apply. (G.S. 160D-903(c).)
£ Must not exclude manufactured homes based on the age of the home. (G.S. 160D-910.)

£ *Must follow standardized process for housing-code enforcement to determine owner’s
abandonment of intent to repair and need for demolition. (G.S. 160D-1203(6).)
 May adopt moratoria for development regulations (subject to limitation on residential uses);
moratoria do not affect rights established by permit choice rule. (G.S. 160D-107.)

A. Historic Preservation
£ Must follow standard quasi-judicial procedures for preservation certificates of appropriateness.
(G.S. 160D-947(c).)
£ Must frame preservation district provisions as “standards” rather than “guidelines.” (G.S.
160D-947(c).)
£ *May choose for appeals of preservation commission decisions to go directly to superior court
rather than to board of adjustment. (G.S. 160D-947(e).)

B. Development Agreements
£ Must process a development agreement as a legislative decision. (G.S. 160D-105.)
£ Must have a local government as a party to a development agreement (a water and sewer
authority may enter an agreement as a party, but not independently). (G.S. 160D-1001(b).)
 May consider a development agreement concurrently with a rezoning, subdivision, or site
plan; may consider a development agreement in conjunction with a conditional zoning that
incorporates the development agreement. (G.S. 160D-1001(d).)
 *May address fewer topics in development agreement content (list of mandated topics is
shortened). (G.S. 160D-1006.)
 May mutually agree with a developer for the developer to provide public improvements beyond
what could have been required, provided such conditions are included in the development
agreement. (G.S. 160D-1006(d).)
 May include penalties for breach of a development agreement in the agreement or in the
ordinance setting the procedures for development agreements; either party may bring legal
action seeking an injunction to enforce a development agreement. (G.S. 160D-1008.)
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VII. Comprehensive Plan [Chapter 4, Section I]
£ Must adopt a comprehensive plan by July 1, 2022, to maintain zoning (no need to re-adopt a
reasonably recent plan). (G.S. 160D-501(a).)
£ Must adopt a plan or a plan update following the procedures used for a legislative decision.
(G.S. 160D-501(c).)
£ Must reasonably maintain a plan. (G.S. 160D-501(a).)
 May coordinate a comprehensive plan with other required plans, such as Coastal Area
Management Act (CAMA) plans. (G.S. 160D-501(a).)
 May coordinate with other local governments, state agencies, or regional agencies on planning
processes. (G.S. 160D-503(a).)

VIII. Legislative Decisions [Chapter 4, Section II]
A. Notice
£ Must follow applicable procedures for legislative decisions under any development regulation
authorized under Chapter 160D, not just zoning; must adopt any development regulation by
ordinance, not by resolution. (G.S. 160D-601.)
£ For zoning-map amendments, must provide notice not only to immediate neighbors but also
to properties separated from the subject property by street, railroad, or other transportation
corridor. (G.S. 160D-602.)
£ For zoning-map amendments, must provide posted notice during the time period running
from twenty-five days prior to the hearing until ten days prior to the hearing. (G.S.
160D-602(c).)
 For extension of ETJ, may use single mailed notice for ETJ and zoning-map amendment
pursuant to statutory procedures. (G.S. 160D-202.)
 For zoning-map amendments, may require applicant to notify neighbors and hold a
community meeting and may require report on the neighborhood communication as part of
the application materials. (G.S. 160D-602(e).)

B. Planning Board Comment
£ Must refer zoning amendments to the planning board for review and comment; must not have
governing board handle planning board duty to review and comment on zoning amendments.
(G.S. 160D-604(c), (e).)
£ Must have planning board consider any plan adopted according to G.S. 160D-501 when
making a comment on plan consistency. (G.S. 160D-604(d).)
 May refer development regulation amendments (other than zoning) to the planning board for
review and comment. (G.S. 160D-604(c).)
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C. Plan Consistency
£ When adopting an amendment to the zoning ordinance, must adopt a brief statement
describing whether the action is consistent or inconsistent with approved plans. (G.S.
160D-605(a).) (*This eliminates the 2017 requirement that statements take one of three
particular forms.)
 May adopt plan-consistency statement when acting upon the zoning amendment or as a
separate motion. (G.S. 160D-605(a).)
 *May meet the requirement for plan consistency even without formal adoption of a written
statement if the minutes of the governing board meeting reflect that the board was fully aware
of and considered the plan. (G.S. 160D-605(a).)
 May concurrently consider a comprehensive plan amendment and a zoning amendment; must
not require a separate application or fee for plan amendment. (G.S. 160D-605(a).)
£ Must note on the applicable future land use map when a zoning-map amendment is approved
that is not consistent with the map; the future land use map is deemed amended when
an inconsistent rezoning is approved. (G.S. 160D-605(a).) (This clarifies that a rezoning
inconsistent with a plan does not amend the text of the plan, but it does amend the future land
use map.)
£ *For a future land use map that is deemed amended, if it is a CAMA plan, then such
amendment is not effective until it goes through the CAMA plan-amendment process. (G.S.
160D-501.)
£ Must adopt a statement of reasonableness for zoning-map amendments; for such statements,
may consider factors noted in the statutes; *may adopt a statement of reasonableness for
zoning-text amendments. (G.S. 160D-605(b).)
 May consider and approve a statement of reasonableness and a plan-consistency statement as a
single, combined statement. (G.S. 160D-605(c).)

D. Voting
£ *Must permit adoption of a legislative decision for development regulation on first reading by
simple majority; no need for two-thirds majority on first reading, as was required for cities
under prior law. (G.S. 160A-75; S.L. 2019-111, § 2.5(n).)

E. Certain Legislative Decisions
£ Must prohibit third-party down-zonings; may process local government–initiated downzonings (S.L. 2019-111, Pt. I.)
£ Must obtain applicant’s/landowner’s written consent to conditions related to a conditionalzoning approval to ensure enforceability. (S.L. 2019-111, Pt. I.)
 May use purely legislative conditional zoning and/or quasi-judicial special use permitting;
must not use combined legislative and quasi-judicial process, such as conditional-use-district
zoning. (G.S. 160D-102.)
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 With applicant’s written consent, may agree to conditional-zoning conditions that go
beyond the basic zoning authority to address additional fees, design requirements, and other
development considerations. (S.L. 2019-111, Pt. I.)
 May allow administrative minor modification of conditional zoning, special use permits, and
other development approvals; if allowed, must define “minor modification” by ordinance, must
not include modification of use or density, and major modifications must follow standard
approval process. (G.S. 160D-403(d), -703(b), -705(c).)

IX. Quasi-Judicial Decisions [Chapter 4, Section III]
A. Procedures
£ Must follow statutory procedures for all quasi-judicial development decisions, including
variances, special use permits, certificates of appropriateness, and appeals of administrative
determinations. (G.S. 160D-102(28).)
£ Must hold an evidentiary hearing to gather competent, material, and substantial evidence to
establish the facts of the case; the evidentiary hearing must have testimony under oath; must
establish written findings of fact and conclusions of law. (G.S. 160D-406.)
£ Board chair must rule at the evidentiary hearing on objections to inclusion or exclusion of
administrative material; such ruling may be appealed to the full board. (G.S. 160D-406(d).)
£ Must allow parties with standing to participate fully in the evidentiary hearing, including
presenting evidence, cross-examining witnesses, objecting to evidence, and making legal
arguments; may allow non-parties to present competent, material, and substantial evidence
that is not repetitive. (G.S. 160D-406(d).)
 May continue an evidentiary hearing without additional notice if the time, date, and place
of the continued hearing is announced at a duly noticed hearing that has been convened; if
quorum is not present at a meeting, the evidentiary hearing is automatically continued to the
next regular meeting of the board with no notice. (G.S. 160D-406(b).)
 May distribute meeting packet to board members in advance of the evidentiary hearing; if this
is done, then must distribute the same materials to the applicant and landowner at the same
time; must present such administrative materials at the hearing and make them part of the
hearing record. (G.S. 160D-406(c).)
 May have the planning board serve as a preliminary forum for review in quasi-judicial
decisions; if this is done, the planning board must not conduct a formal evidentiary hearing
but must conduct an informal preliminary discussion of the application; the forum and
recommendation must not be used as the basis for the decision by the board—the decision
must still be based on evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing. (G.S. 160D-301.)
 May require recordation of special use permits with the register of deeds. (G.S. 160D-705(c).)
U Be aware that the definition of close family relationship as used for conflicts of interest includes spouse, parent, child, brother, sister, grandparent, or grandchild (including step, half,
and in-law relationships). (G.S. 160D-109(f ).)
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U Be aware that even if there is no objection before the board, opinion testimony from a lay
witness shall not be considered competent evidence for technical matters such as property
value and traffic impacts. (S.L. 2019-111, § 1.9.)

B. Certain Quasi-Judicial Decisions
£ Must not impose conditions on special use permits that the local government does not
otherwise have statutory authority to impose. (S.L. 2019-111, Pt. I.)
£ Must obtain applicant’s/landowner’s written consent to conditions related to a special use
permit to ensure enforceability. (S.L. 2019-111, Pt. I.)
£ Must set a thirty-day period to file an appeal of any administrative determination under a
development regulation; must presume that if notice of determination is sent by mail, it is
received on the third business day after it is sent. (G.S. 160D-405(c).)
 *May adjust variance standards to provide for reasonable accommodation under the federal
Fair Housing Act. (G.S. 160D-705(c).)
 May use purely legislative conditional zoning and/or quasi-judicial special use permitting;
must not use combined legislative and quasi-judicial process, such as conditional-use-district
zoning. (G.S. 160D-102.)
 May allow administrative minor modification of conditional zoning, special use permits, and
other development approvals; if allowed, must define “minor modification” by ordinance, must
not include modification of use or density, and major modifications must follow standard
approval process. (G.S. 160D-403(d), -703(b), -705(c).)

X. Administrative Decisions [Chapter 4, Section IV]
A. Development Approvals
£ Must provide development approvals in writing; may provide in print or electronic form; if
electronic form is used, then it must be protected from further editing. (G.S. 160D-403(a).)
£ Must provide that applications for development approvals must be made by a person with a
property interest in the property or a contract to purchase the property. (G.S. 160D-403(a).)
£ Must provide that development approvals run with the land. (G.S. 160D-104.)
£ For revocation of development approval, must follow the same process as was used for the
approval. (G.S. 160D-403(f).)
 May require community notice or informational meetings as part of the decision-making
process for administrative development approvals (quasi-judicial and legislative decisions
already had notice and hearing requirements). (G.S. 160D-403(h).)
 May set expiration of development approvals if work is not substantially commenced; default
rule is twelve months, unless altered by state or local rule. (G.S. 160D-403(c).) Be aware that
legislation will clarify the provisions on duration of development approvals. (G.S. 160D-403(c);
S.L. 2019-111, § 1.3.)
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 May set expiration of development approvals if work is discontinued; default rule is twelve
months, unless altered by state or local rule. (G.S. 160D-403(c).)
 May authorize administrative staff to approve minor modifications of development approvals
and conditional-zoning approvals; if this is done, then must define “minor modifications” by
ordinance and must not include modification of permitted use or density of development;
major modifications must go through full applicable approval process. (G.S. 160D-403(d);
-703(b); -705(c).)

B. Determinations
£ Must provide written notice of determination by personal delivery, electronic mail, or firstclass mail to the property owner and party seeking determination, if different from the owner.
(G.S. 160D-403(b).)
 May designate an official to make determinations for a particular development regulation.
(G.S. 160D-403(b).)
 May require owner to post notice of determination on the site for ten days; if such is not
required, then owner has option to post on the site to establish constructive notice. (G.S.
160D-403(b).)

C. Appeals of Administrative Decisions
£ Must allow administrative decisions of any development regulations (not just zoning) to
be appealed to the board of adjustment, unless provided otherwise by statute or ordinance.
(Appeals relating to erosion and sedimentation control, stormwater control, or building-code
and housing-code violations are not made to the board of adjustment unless specified by local
ordinance.) (G.S. 160D-405.)
£ Must set a thirty-day period to file an appeal of any administrative determination under a
development regulation; must presume that if notice of determination is sent by mail, it is
received on the third business day after it is sent. (G.S. 160D-405(c).)
£ Must require the official who made the decision (or his or her successor if the official is no
longer employed) to appear as a witness in the appeal. (G.S. 160D-406.)
£ Must pause enforcement actions, including fines, during the appeal. (G.S. 160D-405.)
 May assign the duty of hearing appeals to another board; if this is done, such board must
follow quasi-judicial procedures. (G.S. 160D-405.)
 May designate that appeals be filed with the local government clerk or another official. (G.S.
160D-405.)
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XI. Vested Rights and Permit Choice [Chapter 5, Section I]
A. Vested Rights
£ Must recognize that building permits are valid for six months, as under prior law. (G.S.
160D-108(d)(1).)
£ Must recognize the default rule that development approvals are valid for twelve months, unless
adjusted by statute or local rule. (G.S. 160D-108(d)(2).)
£ Must identify site-specific vesting plans (formerly site-specific development plans) with vesting
for two to five years, as under prior law, except for specified exceptions. (G.S. 160D-108(d)(3);
-108(f).)
£ Must recognize multi-phase developments—long-term projects of at least 25 acres—with
vesting up to seven years, except for specified exceptions (160D-108(d)(4); -108(f).) (The
previously authorized phased-development plan is obsolete and should be deleted from
ordinance.)
 May provide for administrative determination of vested rights and for appeal to the board of
adjustment. (G.S. 160D-108(c), -405.)
U Be aware that a person claiming vested rights may bring an original civil action in court, skipping administrative determination and board of adjustment consideration. (G.S. 160D-405(c).)
U Be aware that vested rights run with the land, except for state-permitted outdoor advertising permits that run with the owner of the permit. (G.S. 160D-108(g); S.L. 2019-111, Pt. I.)

B. Permit Choice
£ Must not make an applicant wait for final action on the proposed change before proceeding if
the applicant elected determination under prior rules. (G.S. 160D-108(b).)
U Be aware that if a local development regulation changes after an application is submitted,
the applicant may choose the version of the rule that applies; but may require the applicant to comply with new rules if the applicant delays the application for six months. (G.S.
160D-108(b); S.L. 2019-111, Pt. I.)
U Be aware that an application for one development permit triggers permit choice for permits under any development regulation; such permit choice is valid for eighteen months
after approval of the initial application. (S.L. 2019-111, Pt. I.)
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XII. Judicial Review [Chapter 5, Section II]
A. Declaratory Judgments
U Be aware that an individual may bring a declaratory judgment action to challenge legislative
zoning decisions, vested rights claims, and challenges to land use authority related to administrative decisions, subject to specified procedures. (G.S. 160D-1401.)
U Be aware that other civil actions may be authorized—Chapter 160D does not limit availability of other actions. (G.S. 160D-1404.)

B. Appeals of Quasi-Judicial Decisions
£ *Must update ordinance to address appeals of certificates of appropriateness for historic
landmarks and historic districts; default rule is that such appeals go straight to court; local
government may opt for such appeals to go to the board of adjustment, as under prior statutes.
(G.S. 160D-947.)
£ Must provide that appeals of certificates of appropriateness must be filed within thirty days
after the decision is effective or written notice is provided, the same as for appeals of other
quasi-judicial decisions. (G.S. 160D-947; -1405.)
U Be aware that on appeal a party may request a stay of the approval or enforcement action.
(G.S. 160D-1402(e).)
U Be aware that a local government may seek a stay in favor of itself (to prevent development
under an approval). (G.S. 160D-1402(e).)
U Be aware that if, in the absence of a stay, an applicant proceeds with development, the person does so at his or her own risk. (G.S. 160D-1402(l).)
U Be aware that on appeal, the superior court now must allow for supplementing the record on
questions of standing, conflicts of interest, constitutional violations, or actions in excess of
statutory authority. (S.L. 2019-111, § 1.9.)
U Be aware that even if there is no objection before the board, opinion testimony from a lay
witness shall not be considered competent evidence for technical matters such as property
value and traffic impacts. (S.L. 2019-111, § 1.9.)
U Be aware of specific judicial instructions for decisions of appeals of quasi-judicial decisions.
(S.L. 2019-111, § 1.9.)

C. Subdivision Decisions
 May establish a rule that administrative subdivision decisions are appealed to the board of
adjustment. (G.S. 160D-1405.)
U Be aware that appeals of administrative subdivision decisions may be appealed directly to
superior court. (G.S. 160D-1403.)
U Be aware that quasi-judicial subdivision decisions are appealed to superior court in the nature of certiorari. (G.S. 160D-1402.)
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D. Attorneys’ Fees
U Be aware that a court shall award attorneys’ fees if the court finds that a city or county violated a statute or case law setting forth unambiguous limits on its authority. (G.S. 6-21.7; S.L.
2019-111, Pt. I.)
U Be aware that a court shall award attorneys’ fees if the court finds that a local government
took action inconsistent with, or in violation of, the permit choice and vested rights statutes.
(G.S. 6-21.7; S.L. 2019-111, Pt. I.)
U Be aware that a court may award attorneys’ fees in other matters of local government litigation. (G.S. 6-21.7; S.L. 2019-111, Pt. I.)

E. Additional Judicial Rules
U Be aware that a court may join a civil action challenging an ordinance with an appeal in the
nature of certiorari. (G.S. 160D-1402(m).)
U Be aware that a local government must not assert the defense of estoppel to enforce conditions to which an applicant did not consent in writing. (S.L. 2019-111, Pt. I.)
U Be aware that an action is not rendered moot if the party loses the relevant property interest as a result of the local government action being appealed, subject to applicable case law
limits. (S.L 2019-111, Pt. I.)
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AGENDA ITEM
DATE:

January 21, 2020

TO:

Mayor and City Council Members

FROM:

Jim Fatland, CPFO, City Manager

SUBJECT:

FY20 Budget Ordinance Amendment No. Three

PREPARED BY: Tom Whitlock, Deputy Finance Director

BACKGROUND:
The FY20 Budget Amendment No. Three reflects changes in revenue and expenditures for the
following funds: General Fund and Utility Capital Project fund. Comments on the Proposed FY20
Amendment No. Three follows.
General Fund
General Fund Revenue and Expenditures increased $100,000 from $11,129,457 to $11,229,457.
The General Fund Revenue reflects $50,000 for increased Interest Earnings on Investments and for
$50,000 increased Sales Tax Revenue.
The General Fund Expenditures reflect Planning Department increase in Professional Services.
Utility Capital Project Fund
The Utility Capital Project Fund Revenue and Expenditures increased $2,083,000 from $1,460,120
to $3,543,120.
The Utility Capital Project Fund Revenue reflects a $2,083,000 NCDEQ 20 year zero interest loan and
expenditures for design and construction of Gallimore Road Sewer Basin Rehabilitation Project.

RECOMMENDATION: Approve FY20 Budget Amendment No. Three Ordinance. (Attached)
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ORDINANCE NO. 2020-XX
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE FY2019-2020 BUDGET
AMENDMENT NO. THREE
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Brevard previously approved the Annual Budget
(Ordinance No. 2019-14); Budget Ordinance No. 1 (Ordinance No. 2019-XX); Budget Ordinance No.
2 (Ordinance No. 2019-xx) and
WHEREAS, it is necessary to make amendments to the budgets to reflect additional revenue and
expenditures for Fiscal Year 2019-2020.
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BREVARD,
NORTH CAROLINA THAT:
SECTION 01) General Fund Revenue is hereby increased $100,000 from $11,129,457 to
$11,229,457 as shown as follows:
Interest Earned on Investment
Increased Sales Tax
TOTAL REVENUES

$ 50,000
$ 50,000
$ 100,000

SECTION 02) General Fund Expenditures are hereby increased $100,000 from $11,129,457 to
$11,229,457 as shown as follows:
Planning Department Professional Services
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

$ 100,000
$ 100,000

SECTION 05) Utility Capital Project Fund Revenues are hereby increased $2,083,000 from
$1,460,120 to $3,543,120 as shown as follows:
NCDEQ Revolving Fund Loan
TOTAL REVENUES

$2,083,000
$2,083,000

SECTION 06) Utility Capital Project Fund Expenditures are hereby increased $2,083,000 from
$1,460,120 to $3,543,120 as shown as follows:
Gallimore Road Sewer Basin Rebab Project
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

$2,083,000
$2,083,000

SECTION 33) That Revenues and Expenditures Section 1 through Section 32 of the Ordinance
Amendment have increased $2,183,000 from $24,992,569 to $27,175,569 as follows:

General Fund
Water & Sewer Utility Fund
Utility Capital Projects Fund
Capital Reserve Fund
Fire District Fund
Terrell L. Scruggs Scholarship Fund
Bjerg Fund
Other Post-Employment Benefits Fund
Health Insurance Fund
Heart of Brevard MSD Fund
Housing Trust Fund
Multi-use Paths Fund
Wayfinding Project Fund
911 Communications Fund
Narcotics Task Force Fund
Rosenwald Revitalization Fund
Downtown Master Plan Fund
TOTAL BUDGET APPROPRIATIONS

Page 242 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Budget
11,229,457
6,415,167
3,543,120
80,000
1,471,468
22,000
6,500
30,000
1,520,300
157,000
2,820
1,018,234
7,702
56,972
59,100
800,000
755,729
27,175,569

January 21, 2020

Ordinance No. 2020-XX
January 21, 2020
Page 2 of 2

Adopted and approved this 21st day of January 2020.

Jimmy Harris
Mayor
ATTEST:

Jill Murray, CMC
City Clerk

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Michael K. Pratt
City Attorney
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MINUTES

City Council Parks, Trails, & Recreation Committee
Wednesday, October 16, 2019, 3:30 PM
Administrative Conference Room at City Hall

Members Present:

Gary Daniel, Chair, Council Member
Maureen Copelof, Vice-Chair, Council Member
Jim Fatland, City Manager
David Lutz, Public Works Director
Paul Ray, Interim Planning Director
Keenan Smith, Citizen Member
Nancy DePippo, Citizen Member

Absent:

Ryan Olson, Citizen Member
Jared Mull, County Representative, Ex Officio

Staff Present:

Aaron Bland, Planning Department
Denise Hodsdon, Executive Assistant

Guests:

Torry Nergart, Conserving Carolina
Geraldine Dinkins, Tannery Skate Park Task Force
Kevin Smith, Tannery Skate Park Task Force
George Peterson, Tannery Skate Park Task Force
Diane Daniel, Citizen

Media:

Matt McGregor, Transylvania Times

A. Welcome & Call to Order
Committee Chair Gary Daniel welcomed all in attendance and called the meeting to
order at 3:30 PM.
B. Certification of Quorum
Quorum was certified by Executive Assistant Denise Hodsdon.
C. Approval of Agenda
Motion by Ms. Copelof, seconded by Mr. Smith to approve the agenda as presented.
Motion carried unanimously.
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D. Approval of Minutes from August 21, 2019 Meeting
Ms. Copelof noted that there was an error in the date for the next regular meeting. The
minutes will be amended to reflect that the next regular meeting was scheduled for
September 18, 2019. Motion by Mr. Smith, seconded by Ms. Copelof to approve the
minutes of the August 21, 2019 meeting as amended. Motion carried unanimously.
E. Update Pedestrian Plan Maps
Aaron Bland explained that the North Carolina Department of Transportation (NCDOT)
has adopted a new Complete Streets Policy. The updated policy includes a new cost
share structure for incorporating bicycle and pedestrian infrastructure into NCDOT
projects. Mr. Bland noted that the most important change is that bicycle and pedestrian
facilities that appear in an adopted transportation plan will be included as part of the
NCDOT roadway projects. Previously these facilities required an 80/20 cost-share
between NCDOT and the City, but under the new policy, anything identified in the plan
will be 100% funded by NCDOT.
To take advantage of this new Complete Streets policy, Staff has suggested several
additions to the multi-use path and sidewalk priority maps along state-maintained
roads within the City. Following review and discussion of the proposed maps (attached
as Exhibit A), Ms. Copelof moved and Mr. Smith seconded to forward the new sidewalk
and multi-use path priorities to City Council and recommend approval of the maps as
presented. The motion carried unanimously.
F. Skate Park Options
Mr. Fatland reported that following notification that the North Carolina League of
Municipalities (NCLM) would not insure the current skate park structure in its present
condition, Staff met with members of the Tannery Skate Park Task Force to discuss
options for the park, including possibly moving the structure to a private site and
building a new concrete park. The City must decide if it will accept or reject dedication
of the current structure and is seeking input from this Committee. In order to facilitate
discussion, Interim Planning Director Paul Ray presented a Staff Report (copy attached
as Exhibit B) outlining 1) liability issues with the current structure; 2) preliminary
research regarding design and cost of a concrete skate park; and 3) options for going
forward. Mr. Daniel said he was happy that Staff is researching options and not just
shutting down the structure.
Mr. Ray’s report referenced an article titled “Design Disasters” found in the Public Skate
Park Development Guide endorsed by the International Association of Skateboard
Companies and the Tony Hawk Foundation. The article indicates that Skatelite, the
material used as the surface for the ramps, is deemed inappropriate for municipal use.
Mr. Daniel noted that his interpretation of the article is that Skatelite is inappropriate
for municipal use not because it is unsafe, but because it does not last. Keenan Smith
added that the lifespan of Skatelite may not be an issue if it will be replaced with a
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concrete park in the near future. He asked if the Tony Hawk Foundation could provide
guidance. Tannery Skate Park Task Force member George Peterson said there are
Skatelite parks all over the place and he believes that the article was written by people
trying to promote concrete skate parks. Task Force member Kevin Smith added the
Tony Hawk Foundation exclusively funds concrete skate parks. Mr. Daniel said he
would like to have clarification on why Skatelite is inappropriate for municipal use. Is it
because it doesn’t last a long time or is there some other problem that makes it
dangerous, and if we can’t fix this, should we just go straight to a concrete skate park?
Ms. Copelof said the real issue is liability. Mr. Ray’s report referenced the North
Carolina statute “Hazardous Recreation Parks Safety and Liability”, which does not limit
liability for an act of gross negligence by the government entity or public employee that
is the proximate cause of the injury. The Town of Swansboro, NC built their skate park
out of metal, a material that was also listed as inappropriate for municipal use, and a
child was badly injured. The City’s Attorney has advised that opening the wooden skate
park, with forewarning of the material, could present a legal problem for the City if a
gross negligence lawsuit was filed. Mr. Ray reported that NCLM has indicated that they
would be willing to insure the current skate park if the items on their punch list were
corrected, but it would be basic liability. Ms. Copelof said if we can’t have full liability
insurance then we have a big problem. Task Force member Geraldine Dinkins asked if
the City had looked into other insurance companies. Mr. Daniel noted that the City can
get insurance on the park, but the issue is that gross negligence is not covered.
Ms. Dinkins said she wanted to remind everyone of the terrible optics if these ramps are
taken down and go somewhere for private use on private land after people gave us
$73,000 and 500 hours of volunteer work went into it. She said we owe it to the people
to open these ramps and because steps were missed, it is now going to cost more to
keep them going for a few years while we get our act together and get the concrete park
going. Mr. Daniel said the City respects the work that has gone into the project and
acknowledged that some steps had been missed, but that doesn’t change were we are.
Ms. Dinkins agreed, but said it does put the weight of making this work going forward
into the City’s lap and she still feels like this is aiming to be a talk about the ramps
coming down or being sold off. Mr. Daniel said that possibility is part of the discussion
but it is not his preferred option. His preferred option is if we can open this, we will,
and then get on to the concrete skate park as soon as possible. However, he said he
cannot in good faith as a City Council member vote to open the skate park without the
proper insurance coverage because it puts the City and the taxpayer at risk. He
explained that is why he raised the question about this article and would like
clarification on what would allow us to proceed.
Mr. Fatland said Planning and Public Works Staff would quantify the cost to get the park
to pass muster. He said Staff would also like to give information on a concrete skate
park and could come back next month with costs for both. Mr. Ray reported that he has
reached out to Pillar Design Studios, a company that builds concrete skate parks,
including the one in Cherokee, NC. He said the cost would vary depending on size and
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EXHIBIT B

STAFF REPORT
Parks & Trails Committee, October 16, 2019
Title:

Brevard Skatepark
The Parks and Trails Committee will take into consideration the following
information on skateparks.

Speaker:

Paul C. Ray, CZO, Interim Planning Director

From:
Paul Ray, CZO, Interim Planning Director
Prepared by: Paul Ray, CZO, Interim Planning Director
Approved by: Jim Fatland, City Manager
Background
A wooden skatepark structure was built by volunteers on a portion of Tannery Park with
the understanding that it would be dedicated to the City upon completion and opened to
the public. The structure is substantially complete with approximately $8,000 left in the
account, but is not currently insurable or safe for public use. At a future date, the City must
decide if it will accept or reject the dedication of the wooden skate structure. The purpose
of this report is to help facilitate that discussion with the Parks and Trails Committee using
facts and personal observations by NCLM, Brown Consultants and City Staff.
SKATELITE PRO STRUCTURE

Staff Comments & Observations
1. Skatelite material was deemed, “inappropriate for municipal use” in The Public Skatepark
Development Guide, endorsed by IASC, Skaters for Public Skateparks, and the Tony Hawk
Foundation in an article titled “Design Disasters.” Wood and steel were also listed as
inappropriate.
2. North Carolina General Statute 99E-21 to 25 "Hazardous Recreation Parks Safety and Liability"
does not limit liability for an act of gross negligence by the government entity or public
employee that is the proximate cause of the injury.” The Town of Swansboro, NC built their
skatepark out of metal, a material listed as inappropriate for municipal use, and a child was
badly injured. The correlation here is that Skatelite is also listed as inappropriate for municipal
use and is showing signs of bulging, decaying, separating and other surface problems.
3. Obtaining insurance on the wooden skatepark is not the sole consideration or the deciding
factor on whether the structure is safe for public use. This decision should be made by the City
using all available resources. The City’s Attorney recognizes the Public Skatepark Development
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Guide as a reliable source of information and believes that opening the wooden skatepark, with
forewarning of the material, would not only pose an unnecessary risk of injury but could present
a significant legal problem for the City, and potentially individual Staff members, if a gross
negligence lawsuit was filed.
4. City staff will provide regular safety inspections on any skatepark structure, regardless of its
composition, but a wooden structure with Skatelite material would require significantly more
maintenance, material and specialized training.
5. Numerous deficiencies currently exist. See Attachments C and D for photos taken by Staff on
October 11, 2019.
NCLM Comments & Observations
1. Protruding edges ▪ sharp edges ▪ sharp corners ▪ gaps in surface ▪ unguarded edges.
2. Angle iron railing protrudes outward creating an impalement hazard and rough surface.
3. Gap in surfacing presents fall hazard for users.
4. Skating surfacing already showing signs of damage.
5. Concrete pad should be 10 feet on either end of half pipes to allow for skaters to maneuver
from one half pipe to the other. More concrete is needed.
6. A fence must be installed around the entire perimeter of the skatepark to limit the hours of
operation. The price for the fence with installation is $25,753.
Brown’s Technical Memorandum Comments & Observations
1. Staff commissioned a civil engineering report since no plans and specs were prepared.
2. Concrete slab was poured to 3000 psi, whereas Brevard’s standard is 4,000 psi. ▪ No
strengthening fiber added to concrete ▪ reinforcing wire is at the bottom of the slab ▪ Surface
cracks in concrete are already forming.
3. No transferable warranty.
4. Ramps were constructed flat and therefore hold standing rainwater. The recommended slope is
1% to 2% according to the previously referenced Guide for Developing Public Skateparks. The
standing water will shorten the life of the material and require more maintenance.
5. Empty screw holes need to be filled ▪ sharp edges mitigated ▪ buckling skate panels repaired or
replaced.
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CONCRETE STRUCTURE
Staff Preliminary Research – Design & Cost
1. Cost - A custom, mix-terrain concrete skatepark varies in cost depending on size and features.
The gray area in Attachment A is about 2,500 square feet and would cost about $75,000. The
red and blue could be additional phases. Construction cost ranges from $30 to $45 per square
foot. If half-pipes are the desired feature instead of or in addition to mixed-terrain, final design
is the customer’s choice.
2. Specifications - Concrete is poured at 4,000 psi with added strengthening fibers and expansion
joints; drains are installed where needed.
3. Warranty - 1-year full warranty. 2-years can be negotiated.
4. Maintenance – Typically concrete facilities have little maintenance see Attachment B for
maintenance schedule. Weekly inspections are recommended, durability is very long.
5. Miscellaneous – Concrete skateparks are said to be quiet compared to any other material.
Options:
1. Decide on the best way to handle the removal of the wooden skatepark ramps due to the
inappropriateness of the material for municipal use and based on the potential for injury and
gross negligence.
2. Direct Staff to return in November with more information about the cost of repairing the
wooden skatepark, the ongoing maintenance and how it relates to the overall feasibility.
3. Direct Staff to return in November with more information about the cost of building a concrete
skatepark, the ongoing maintenance and how it relates to the overall feasibility.
4. Direct Staff to return in November with more information about the cost of moving the wooden
skatepark to privately owned land.
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MINUTES

City Council Parks, Trails, & Recreation Committee
Wednesday, November 20, 2019, 3:30 PM
Administrative Conference Room at City Hall

Members Present:

Gary Daniel, Chair, Council Member
Maureen Copelof, Vice-Chair, Council Member
Jim Fatland, City Manager
Paul Ray, Interim Planning Director
Ryan Olson, Citizen Member
Nancy DePippo, Citizen Member
Nicola Karesh, Citizen Member
Jimmy Harris, Mayor, Ex Officio

Absent:

David Lutz, Public Works Director
Keenan Smith, Citizen Member
Jared Mull, County Representative, Ex Officio

Staff Present:

Aaron Bland, Planning Department
Denise Hodsdon, Executive Assistant

Guests:

Geraldine Dinkins, Tannery Skate Park Task Force Member
Kevin Smith, Tannery Skate Park Task Force Member
George Peterson, Tannery Skate Park Task Force Member
John Carrico, Citizen
Daryl Rock, Citizen
Janessa Glover, Citizen
Christopher Reeves, Citizen
Tom Sweeney, Citizen

Media:

Matt McGregor, Transylvania Times

A. Welcome & Call to Order
Committee Chair Gary Daniel welcomed all in attendance and called the meeting to
order at 3:31 PM.
B. Certification of Quorum
Quorum was certified by Executive Assistant Denise Hodsdon.
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C. Approval of Agenda
Motion by Ms. DePippo, seconded by Ms. Copelof to approve the agenda as presented.
Motion carried unanimously.
D. Approval of Minutes from October 16, 2019 Meeting
Motion by Ms. Copelof, seconded by Mr. Fatland to approve the minutes of the October
16, 2019 meeting as presented. Motion carried unanimously.
E. Skate Park Options
Mr. Fatland felt that there was a good healthy discussion at the last meeting about the
skate park constructed by the Task Force and possibly looking at a permanent facility
when the time comes. He said Planning Director Paul Ray has looked at these options
and he asked him to give his report (a copy attached as Exhibit A). Mr. Ray explained
that this is a continuation of staff’s research on skate parks and a feasibility study on
repairing and modifying the existing ramps for safety and insurability compared to
building a concrete skate park. The purpose of the research was to expand on
information and ideas that were discussed at the last meeting and to find a path
forward.
Mr. Ray’s report references the North Carolina General Statute regarding hazardous
recreation parks safety and liability and noted that the City Attorney has advised that
the City would likely be found negligent if it were to open the park in light of the
information that we currently have. Mr. Ray reported that in order to obtain real cost
estimates for repairing or modifying the existing Skatelite Pro structure, staff hired
Carolina Specialties Construction. Staff had previously hired Brown Consultants to
provide an engineering report. Staff also consulted with Pillar Design Studios which is a
turn-key architectural firm that specializes in action sports design/build for concrete
skate parks. He noted that this company was chosen because of its affiliation with the
Tony Hawk Foundation and it has design-built dozens of skate parks in North Carolina
and across the United States.
Mr. Ray reported that the proposal from Carolina Specialties for repairing the existing
structure to address the safety and liability concerns is $62,457, which would include
changing the handrails, adding more concrete to the ends of the ramps, adding
additional wood framing to support Skatelite manufacturer specifications and replacing
all the Skatelite sheathing. Their proposal is included in the attached report and
includes information regarding installation notes for Skatelite and reasons for a voided
warranty on the existing Skatelite. Mr. Daniel noted that the installation notes includes
the sentence “Please accept this information as well-intended advice, but not as specific
direction" and he and Mr. Olson agreed that that statement makes this whole thing
meaningless.
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Ms. Copelof commented that we’re saying that all of the Skatelite has to be replaced
because of this list of things which voids the warranty. She asked if we were willing to
use it without a warranty, would we still have to fix all these things? Mr. Ray said you
would be going against the City Attorney’s advice that the City would be liable for gross
negligence. Ms. Copelof said if you don’t have a warranty on the material and
something happens, you’d have to pay for the new materials, and that’s different than
the liability concern so we should still be able to get liability insurance on the ramp
itself. Mr. Olson asked if there was an option to reuse some of the existing material and
go back and make the adjustments based on the recommendations as noted in the
installation notes. Mr. Ray noted that we wouldn’t have a warranty anyway because the
warranty runs with the person who purchased the material.
Mr. Daniel said after our last meeting he contacted the Tony Hawk Foundation and after
that conversation, he believes that the reference that is being made about metal and
Skatelite materials not being appropriate for municipal use is somewhat misleading. He
said the person he spoke with agreed that metal is inherently a hazardous material for
skateparks but there is a different reason that Skatelite is not appropriate for municipal
purposes in that it is temporary. It will decay over time, it requires a certain amount of
maintenance and if it doesn’t receive the maintenance, it will deteriorate faster.
Therefore, it is not a good use of municipal funds for skateparks. He added that the City
is not paying for this; it is already paid for but it would require us to maintain it. Mr.
Daniel has discussed this with the City Attorney and he said that is different than his
initial understanding. Ms. Copelof wondered if the company would be willing to put in
writing that the reason it is not appropriate for municipal use is because of the short life
span. She thought that would go a long way towards reducing any potential liability
concerns and suggested that the City Attorney speak with them and ask for that
clarification in writing. Mr. Daniel thought they should be able to say that Skatelite is
safe without saying that it is an appropriate expenditure of municipal funds. Mr.
Fatland added that it might just be a clarification where gross negligence on Skatelite
materials only kicks in if you use that skate park for several years and did not maintain
it. Mr. Daniel said he thinks there needs to be further conversation with the City
Attorney.
Mr. Ray noted that when we’re talking about costs, the handrails will cost $12,150 and
the fencing is $25,000. Mr. Daniel said he did talk to the County inspection department
and met them over there today. He said the handrails do not pass code and is the most
obvious non-compliant aspect, but they can be fixed instead of replaced. He noted that
at the last meeting, Skate Park Task Force members said they were waiting for the go
ahead to make repairs. Kevin Smith said they have questions about some of the aspects,
like having a fully enclosed fence, which definitely differentiates this project
specification from any other park we have seen. Mr. Daniel said I don’t think that we
necessarily have to have a fence. Mr. Fatland suggested that we go back to the
insurance company to see if they are willing to remove that and ask about the handrails.
Mr. Daniel said he assumed the funding for that comes back to the Skate Park Task
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Force as there is still money available from their fundraising. Kevin Smith confirmed
that their request was “let us know what it would take.”
Kevin Smith said that several people have approached Task Force members about other
options for insuring the skate park. Mr. Daniel said he thinks we can get insurance, but
the things that need to be fixed are not only requirements of this insurance company,
but for the Transylvania County Inspection Department as well. Mr. Olson said
assuming that there was some funding that could go to necessary improvements and
that there is a good faith effort on the part of the Task Force to get the ramp in
condition to get insurance, I am asking the City to seriously consider what it would take,
not asking this group to go back and raise another dollar. I want the City to move
forward in a good faith effort to make right of a situation that should have been
prevented and I would ask the City to put a timeline on transitioning towards a concrete
park. Mr. Daniel said I think there are many skate parks in this country that use
Skatelite and that has to be easily resolved, but we are at a point where the skate park,
as it is, is not complete. The understanding was that we would receive a complete ready
to roll skate park and there are things that have to be done that I would expect the
Skate Park Task Force to provide.
Mr. Daniel said it my understanding from this conversation, Skatelite is not inherently
dangerous, but it will become if it is not maintained. The voided warranty stuff from
these guys is not based on wording that would be accepted by any authoritative
organization I am familiar with. They clearly said it is meant as well-intentioned advice,
not as specific direction, we are not experts. Ms. Copelof said but we know the
warranty is void the minute the City accepts it so that is a moot point. We know we will
not have a warranty on the Skatelite material. Mr. Olson asked if there has been any
effort to talk to Skatelite about the transfer of that warranty given that this has never
been open for use. Mr. Fatland explained that the person who buys the material gets
the warranty and added that traditionally if the City had hired a contractor to build this
thing, we would have a one-year warranty. There is no warranty being provided to the
City. Mr. Daniel said in his conversation with Mike Owen today, he mentioned that we
don’t have a warranty. Mr. Owen said it was built by a licensed contractor so you have a
one-year warranty by North Carolina law. If you are a licensed contractor and you want
to maintain your license, you have to provide a one-year warranty for any project.
Discussion then moved to the concrete park. Mr. Ray reviewed the concrete skatepark
portion of his report. He noted that Pillar Design Studios would handle public input
sessions with the skating community. They are confident that a 2500 square foot
custom mix-terrain concrete skate park can be built for around $75,000 to $100,000 or
about $30 to $40 per square foot. Mr. Ray said he did tell them that if we wanted to get
more skate park for our money that maybe Public Works could do some of the grading
and sitework to offset that cost and they said sure, we do that all the time. Ms. Dinkins
said she thinks we need to go around to other municipalities that have concrete skate
parks of comparable size and ask them what their parks have cost because I think it
would easily double.
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Mr. Ray said staff has been studying alternate locations for a concrete skate park. We
have been looking at other areas because of the soil at Tannery Park, which is heavy
wet soil with heavy organic matter and poor compaction. There is also floodplain and
wetlands and Environmental Management Plan due to lead and arsenic contaminations.
Mr. Ray said the City Sports Complex on Ecusta Road appears to be the most suitable
area we have studied so far. It is already a public park with five baseball fields and one
soccer field and has a parking lot and public restrooms. There are three suitable
locations at the Sports Complex that would be big enough for the skate park feature. He
said one concept to consider is a 3-phase progressive skate park system with pockets of
skate park features connected by a skating path with street elements throughout. The
cost for this concept could be spread out over time.
Mr. Olson said what he loved about the existing park is the neighborhood in which it is
located. He said when this was just an early concept there was the thought of bringing
connectivity between communities and the opportunity to bring it close to the City to
make it more of a true City amenity. He said he views the Sports Complex property as
City-owned property out in the County and he thinks that is how most would view it.
John Carrico noted that Patten Park in Hendersonville brings in community members
who normally would not be exposed to or go see a skate park. It brings those people
who are on the walking path and opens their eyes to that. It has created more of a
community sense, rather than being a lone feature by itself, and it seems to work really
well over there. Mr. Olson said his thought for Tannery Park was that it was going to be
that. This would not be a lone park; that it was going to be a series of things that were
really drawing the community there, but maybe it’s not anymore. Ms. Dinkins said it
was a stated goal of the Task Force, granted a lot has changed since, but we were really
happy with the proposed location in Tannery Park because we felt strongly that the
Rosenwald Community deserved a facility that would bring people from other
neighborhoods to the Rosenwald Community. They would have a thing that nobody
else had, so this kind of shifts all that back out to the expected locations. Mr. Ray
explained that the soil contamination makes it tricky to fully utilize Tannery Park for
anything more than just a bike path. Mr. Daniel said, as a member of the Mary C. Jenkins
Community Center Task Force, that the City has done a lot for Rosenwald and
Rosenwald is doing a lot for the City. We have a very cooperative relationship and there
is a lot going on in Rosenwald between that community and the City that is very
positive. I think they are pretty excited and I don’t think that moving the skate park is
going to be taking something away from the Rosenwald Community considering what is
being added. Ms. Karesh said if there was some skatable feature down the bike path,
that would be awesome. If there is a concrete park somewhere else that is not going to
be easy for them to get to, perhaps there could be some elements that remain within
walking distance that they could enjoy. Daryl Rock said he is a skateboarder who gets
out on the bike path frequently and has often thought it would be an awesome and sort
of novel thing to have these features intermittently along the bike path. Things like a
mini ramp, kind of a small version of what we have built over at Tannery Park, and little
Minutes—Council Parks, Trails, & Recreation Committee Meeting—November 20, 2019
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multi-stage investments along the bike path that make it really interesting for
skateboarders.
Mr. Ray showed some examples of skate parks in the $75,000 range as well as a few
examples of elements that could be built along a pathway system (copies of all
examples are included in his report).
Ms. Dinkins presented a slideshow of images on behalf of the Task Force. She said I
think the pictures tell the story, but I want to be the person who speaks for the ramps
that are there right now. She said I am really appreciative of the tone around the room
today because I feel like there is still a little bit of a disconnect in what will be done. I
think these cost comparisons do not take into account the money we will have to return
if these ramps are not opened. Some of those donors are not going to be happy with
you. Right now we are keeping them at bay, but they have written big checks and they
are getting nothing for it. She had photos of some City facilities and said when we talk
about gross negligence, it is pretty easy to find stuff out there. When you look at it,
gross negligence is something that we have to fight every day and maintenance is part
of the game of being a municipality and I believe the skate park would fit right in there
too. She finished with photos of the ramps and said they are beautiful; they are not
finished; we did stop because we got very unclear directions as to how to move along
with them. There is plenty room for improvement. She reminded everybody that 500
volunteer hours went into these ramps and added that she wants to be the person from
the Task Force that leaves everybody with the images of the $100,000+ facility that is
currently languishing because of things that were not done right.
Mr. Fatland informed the Committee that when the hospital was sold to HCA, Pisgah
Health Foundation retained ownership of 12 acres adjacent to the Allison Hawthorne
neighborhood that they want to make into a community park. They don’t have the
means to maintain that so they would like to entertain a long-term lease with the City
and they have asked for ideas to put on that. One of the ideas could be some of these
skate ramp features. They want to raise the money through sponsorships and make
this park happen very soon.
Mr. Fatland presented a motion consisting of three parts:
First, City to work with North Carolina League of Municipalities (Insurance Carrier for
Brevard) to refine punch list, remove perimeter fence as a requirement, and request a
re-inspection to open facility as temporary until a concrete skate park opens;
Second, City pursue a concrete skate facility to be built by a design/build contractor at
the Sports Complex; and
Third, to recommend to the Pisgah Health Foundation to consider small skate ramp
amenities along the multi-use path at their proposed 12-acre community park adjacent
to the Transylvania Regional Hospital.
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Transylvania County Building Department
City 12/01/2019 thru 12/31/2019
Permits
Issued

Construction
Value

Permit
Fees

Misc. Sales
Fees

Credit Card
Fees

Total of
All Fees

Residential
New House
Additions/Alterations

6

Elec/Plumb/Mech

25

70,500

575.00

0.00

225.00

800.00

375.00

0.00

1,575.00

1,950.00

250.00

0.00

563.00

813.00

0.00

0.00

225.00

225.00

HRF/County

0.00

0.00

2.00

2.00

HRF/State

0.00

0.00

18.00

18.00

184.00

0.00

112.50

296.50

1,384.00

0.00

2,720.50

4,104.50

Mobile Home

Commercial
New Commercial
Additions/Alterations

2

Elec/Plumb/Mech

3

90,000

Miscellaneous
Signs

Other

Totals:

36

160,500

Less HRF Refundable to State:

(18.00)

Less Cancelled Permits:

0.00

Total Fees Collected:

4,086.50

Mike Owen - Building Director
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Transylvania County Building Department
County 12/01/2019 thru 12/31/2019
Permits
Issued

Construction
Value

Permit
Fees

Misc. Sales
Fees

Credit Card
Fees

Total of
All Fees

Residential
New House

6

3,337,567

6,696.00

0.00

0.00

6,696.00

Additions/Alterations

14

624,552

3,440.00

0.00

75.00

3,515.00

Elec/Plumb/Mech

51

225.00

0.00

3,750.00

3,975.00

Mobile Home

6

625.00

0.00

350.00

975.00

0.00

0.00

375.00

375.00

HRF/County

0.00

13.00

1.00

14.00

HRF/State

0.00

117.00

9.00

126.00

845.00

0.00

2,121.00

2,966.00

11,831.00

130.00

6,681.00

18,642.00

401,614

Commercial
New Commercial
Additions/Alterations
Elec/Plumb/Mech

5

Miscellaneous
Signs

Other

Totals:

82

4,363,733

Less HRF Refundable to State:

(126.00)

Less Cancelled Permits:

0.00

Total Fees Collected:

18,516.00

Mike Owen - Building Director
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Commercial Additions and Alterations
1/1/2015 - 12/31/2019

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

2015

2

2

6

4

7

9

3

4

7

5

3

3

2016

4

9

9

7

1

2

4

4

4

6

6

2

2017

5

6

6

7

9

5

2

3

2

2

6

5

2018

5

4

7

5

3

3

2

4

8

3

10

1

2019

5

10

11

3

3

4

6

3

4

4

5

2

Jan $

$447,109

Apr $

$150,000

Jul $ $442,175

Oct $

$167,000

Feb $

$2,012,845

May $

$490,900

Aug $ $113,009

Nov $

$2,820,000

2015

$6,068,189

Mar $

$2,123,617

Jun $

$752,572

Sep $ $154,350

Dec $

$90,000

2016

$22,440,963

2017

$6,026,593

2018

$5,917,874

2019

$9,763,577
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Commercial Additions and Alterations (Cumulative)
1/1/2015 - 12/31/2019

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

2015

2

4

10

14

21

30

33

37

44

49

52

55

2016

4

13

22

29

30

32

36

40

44

50

56

58

2017

5

11

17

24

33

38

40

43

45

47

53

58

2018

5

9

16

21

24

27

29

33

41

44

54

55

2019

5

15

26

29

32

36

42

45

49

53

58

60
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New Commercial Permits
1/1/2015 - 12/31/2019

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

2015

1

2

0

0

3

1

1

1

3

0

0

0

2016

0

0

0

0

1

3

1

2

1

5

1

1

2017

2

1

3

1

1

2

0

0

1

4

1

3

2018

0

0

2

0

1

0

0

2

2

1

1

0

2019

1

1

2

1

3

0

3

3

1

2

2

0

Jan $

$4,200,000

Apr $

$285,000

Jul $ $1,592,072

Oct $

$2,075,000

Feb $

$520,978

May $

$2,215,000

Aug $ $2,957,883

Nov $

$1,520,000

2015

$12,102,119

Mar $

$2,300,000

Jun $

$0

Sep $ $185,000

Dec $

$0

2016

$11,316,412

2017

$15,140,266

2018

$13,528,000

2019

$17,850,933
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New Commercial Permits (Cumulative)
1/1/2015 - 12/31/2019

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

2015

1

3

3

3

6

7

8

9

12

12

12

12

2016

0

0

0

0

1

4

5

7

8

13

14

15

2017

2

3

6

7

8

10

10

10

11

15

16

19

2018

0

0

2

2

3

3

3

5

7

8

9

9

2019

1

2

4

5

8

8

11

14

15

17

19

19
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Residential Additions and Alterations
1/1/2015 - 12/31/2019

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

2015

25

12

31

24

25

26

23

16

27

22

17

17

2016

18

25

32

26

24

29

22

18

32

24

27

12

2017

25

26

39

27

28

29

23

34

25

33

43

30

2018

29

32

37

37

20

37

28

42

29

44

36

22

2019

46

32

33

25

35

29

32

32

39

42

25

20

Jan $

$3,270,600

Apr $

$691,848

Jul $ $2,253,269

Oct $

$2,052,367

Feb $

$1,473,940

May $

$1,401,347

Aug $ $1,797,953

Nov $

$1,638,000

2015

$14,101,402

Mar $

$2,880,536

Jun $

$1,350,643

Sep $ $2,369,695

Dec $

$695,052

2016

$19,291,660

2017

$19,560,553

2018

$26,548,888

2019

$21,875,250
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Residential Additions and Alterations (Cumulative)
1/1/2015 - 12/31/2019

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

2015

25

37

68

92

117

143

166

182

209

231

248

265

2016

18

43

75

101

125

154

176

194

226

250

277

289

2017

25

51

90

117

145

174

197

231

256

289

332

362

2018

29

61

98

135

155

192

220

262

291

335

371

393

2019

46

78

111

136

171

200

232

264

303

345

370

390
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Single Family Residential Permits
1/1/2015 - 12/31/2019

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

2015

8

3

6

7

4

9

9

6

5

8

7

10

2016

1

9

10

14

7

11

9

10

8

6

10

9

2017

2

13

13

9

6

14

15

8

8

8

7

9

2018

8

18

9

10

12

12

8

10

10

10

7

6

2019

10

5

10

13

15

13

10

8

7

11

10

6

Jan $

$3,871,768

Apr $

$4,270,008

Feb $

$2,444,437

May $

$6,475,078

Mar $

$4,641,692

Jun $

$6,664,396
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Jul $ $10,204,534

Oct $

$4,042,862

Aug $ $2,718,807

Nov $

$4,099,000

2015

$31,917,639

Sep $ $2,476,438

Dec $

$3,337,567

2016

$39,648,514

2017

$39,911,798

2018

$48,962,587

2019

$55,246,587
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Single Family Residential Permits (Cumulative)
1/1/2015 - 12/31/2019

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

2015

8

11

17

24

28

37

46

52

57

65

72

82

2016

1

10

20

34

41

52

61

71

79

85

95

104

2017

2

15

28

37

43

57

72

80

88

96

103

112

2018

8

26

35

45

57

69

77

87

97

107

114

120

2019

10

15

25

38

53

66

76

84

91

102

112

118
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Single Trade Permits
1/1/2015 - 12/31/2019

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

2015

60

60

71

82

80

91

93

87

77

92

63

87

2016

70

69

65

77

88

108

121

96

82

96

65

69

2017

82

62

74

66

78

109

89

98

222

215

102

83

2018

83

65

85

100

114

110

134

111

113

186

127

75

2019

113

102

114

119

137

139

135

123

107

133

96

84
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Save the Date

Save the Date

ARTS IN MARCH

ARTS IN MARCH

Celebrating Art & Culture in Downtown Brevard

Celebrating Art & Culture in Downtown Brevard

March 27 & 28, 2020

March 27 & 28, 2020

friday 5

to

8pm, saturday 10am

to

6pm

friday 5

to

8pm, saturday 10am

to

Artist Demos, Open Houses,
Food, Music & More

Artist Demos, Open Houses,
Food, Music & More

visit brevardnc.orG

visit brevardnc.orG

PHOTOS BY LEEANN SEYMOUR
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STAFF REPORT
January 21, 2020 Council Meeting

Date:

January 13, 2020

Title:

Certificate of Sufficiency and Resolution Fixing a Date of Public Hearing
Transylvania County Historical Society, Inc. – Petition for Voluntary
Contiguous Annexation

Prepared by:
Approved by:

Jill Murray, City Clerk
Jim Fatland, City Manager and Finance Director

Executive Summary: Council will consider accepting a Certificate of Sufficiency on the
voluntary contiguous annexation petition submitted by the Transylvania County Historical
Society, Inc. and, adoption of Resolution No. 2020-XX Fixing a Date of Public Hearing on the
Question of Annexation.
Background: On September 12, 2019, the Transylvania County Historical Society, Inc.,
submitted a Petition for Voluntary Contiguous Annexation of their property located at 2753
Asheville Highway, Pisgah Forest, NC 28768, consisting of 3.787 acres. Transylvania County
Property Identification Number: 8597-56-4170-000.
Discussion: Council directed the Clerk to investigate the sufficiency on October 21, 2019, by
Resolution No. 2019-25. The City Clerk has investigated, and consulted with the City Attorney, and
found the petition is signed by all owners of real property lying in the area described therein, in
accordance with NCGS 160A-31. The matter also went in front of the Planning Board on November
19, 2019 and was approved.
Fiscal Impact: None
Policy Impact: None
Staff Recommendation: Staff recommends Council take action by motion to (a) accept the
Certificate of Sufficiency; and (b) adopt the drafted Resolution No. 2020-XX Fixing a Date of
(February 17, 2020) for the Public Hearing on the Question of Annexation.
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Certificate of Sufficiency
I, Jill Murray, City Clerk, do hereby certify that I have investigated the petition
submitted by Transylvania County Historical Society, Inc., PIN 8597-56-4170-000
containing 3.787 acres more or less, and have found as a fact that said petition is
signed by all owners of real property lying in the area described therein, in accordance
with NCGS 160-A-31.
In witness whereof, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of the City of
Brevard this 21st day of January, 2020.

(Seal)
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RESOLUTION NO. 2020-XX
A RESOLUTION FIXING A DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING
ON THE QUESTION OF ANNEXATION PURSUANT TO
NCGS 160A-31, AS AMENDED
WHEREAS, a petition was received on September 12, 2019, requesting the
annexation of a contiguous area described in said Petition as the Transylvania County
Historical Society, Inc., property located at 2753 Asheville Highway, Pisgah Forest, NC,
28768, consisting of 3.787 acres, be annexed into the City of Brevard. (Tax Property
Identification Number: 8597-56-4170-000); and,
WHEREAS, the Brevard City Council has by Resolution No. 2019-25 directed the City
Clerk to investigate the sufficiency thereof; and
WHEREAS, certification by the City Clerk as to the sufficiency of said petition has
been made.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
BREVARD, NORTH CAROLINA:
Section 1. That a public hearing on the question of annexation of the contiguous
area described below as requested by the Transylvania County Historical Society, Inc., will
be held at Brevard City Hall at 7:00 P.M. on the 17th day of February, 2020.
Section 2. The area proposed for annexation is described as follows:
Location: 2753 Asheville Highway, Pisgah Forest, NC 28768. Transylvania County
Tax Property Identification Number 8597-56-4170-000.
Metes and Bounds Property Description:
BEGINNING at an iron pin with an aluminum cap set at the back of the curb in the northwest
margin of North Carolina Highway 280, said iron pin being located North 53 deg. 24 min.
East 26.45 feet from the center of the back edge of a catch basin and also being located
North 14 deg. 31 min. 43 sec. East 902.90 feet from N.C. Geodetic Survey Station “Meany”
said iron pin also being located in the northeast property line of a tract of land conveyed to
Owen in a deed recorded in Book 184, Page 620, Records of Deeds for Transylvania County,
and runs thence along the property line of Owen the following two calls: North 36 deg. 11
min. 50 sec. West 145.54 feet to an aluminum monument set in place of a ¼ inch steel rod
and chestnut post and North 54 deg. 12 min. 05 sec. West 78.36 feet to an iron pin with an
aluminum cap located North 53 deg. West 13.2 feet from the center of a branch and South
54 deg. 12 min. 05 sec. East 10.35 feet from a ¼ inch steel rod found, said steel rod being
the northwest corner of Owen; thence leaving the property line of Owen and along the
property line of a tract of land conveyed to Gibbs in a deed recorded in Book 101, page 168,
Records of Deeds for Transylvania County, the following calls: North 16 deg. 35 min. 07 sec.
East 133.15 feet to an iron pin with an aluminum cap set in a branch; North 04 deg. 24 min.
53 sec. West 79.00 feet to an iron pin with an aluminum cap set in said branch; North 26
deg. 50 min. 07 sec. East 114.00 feet to an iron pin with an aluminum cap set at a fence (said
iron pin being located North 51 deg. East 4.1 feet from a seven-inch maple in said fence
marked as a witness); North 53 deg, 20 min. 07 sec. East 152.00 feet to an iron pin with an
aluminum cap set in place of a rusty one-inch iron pin found located South 68 deg. East 2.15
feet from a corner post of said fence, said iron pin being the southwest corner of Lot 2 and
the northwest corner of Lot 1 of Block B of Rolling Acres Subdivision as show on a plat
thereof recorded in Plat Book 2, page 39, Records of Plats for Transylvania County in the
office of the Register of Deeds for Transylvania County; thence leaving the property line of
Gibbs and along the property line of a tract of land conveyed to Mann in a deed recorded in
Book 212, page 289, Records of Deed for Transylvania County; South 51 deg. 54 min. 53
sec. East 433.39 feet to an iron pin with an aluminum cap set at the back of the curb in the
northwest margin of North Carolina Highway 280, said iron pin being located South 55 deg.
East 17.4 feet from a power pole, South 66 deg. East 11.8 feet from a corner fence post and
North 61 deg. 30 min. East 71.34 feet from the center of a catch basin; thence leaving the
property line of Mann and along the curb of said highway, South 53 deg. 23 min. 48 sec.
West 494.44 feet to the BEGINNING. Containing 3.787 acres, more or less, as surveyed by
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Resolution No. 2020-XX
January 21, 2020
Page 2 of 2

Robert E. Parker, RLS, on January 19, 1987, and as shown on an unrecorded plat designated
as Drawing No. 87310-B1.
This conveyance is made subject to the right-of-way any portion of the right-of-way of
North Carolina Highway 280 which may presently traverse the property, to all rights-of-way
for public utilities presently appearing of record and to the rights-of-way of all utility lines
which may presently traverse the property.
Being all of the same described in a deed from Thelma Bryson, et al, to Charles M. Morgan
Co., dated June 9, 1987, and recorded in Book 296, page 74, Records of Deeds for
Transylvania County, North Carolina.

Section 3. Notice of said public hearing shall be published in the Transylvania
Times, a newspaper having general circulation in the City of Brevard, at least ten (10) days
prior to the date of said public hearing.
Section 4. This Resolution shall become effective upon its adoption and approval.
Adopted and approved this the 21st day of January, 2020.

Jimmy Harris
Mayor

ATTEST:

Jill Murray, CMC
City Clerk
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STAFF REPORT
City Council, Tuesday, January 21, 2020
Title:

Brevard Skatepark

Speaker:

Paul C. Ray, CZO, Planning Director

From:
Prepared by:
Approved by:

Paul Ray, CZO, Planning Director
Paul Ray, CZO, Planning Director
Jim Fatland, City Manager

Background
On October 8, 2018, the City Council adopted resolution number 2018-23 (Attachment A)
authorizing the construction of the Tannery skate park through volunteer donations and
labor. The ramps were substantially completed last summer, but the North Carolina
League of Municipalities withheld their recommendation to underwriters until a list of
safety concerns were addressed.

Discussion
The Tannery Skate Park Taskforce built the wooden ramps clad in Skatelite Pro, a material
deemed, “inappropriate for municipal use” in The Public Skatepark Development Guide,
endorsed by IASC, Skaters for Public Skateparks, and the Tony Hawk Foundation in an
article titled “Design Disasters.” This article most likely refers to permanent municipal
skateparks, which should be durable and made of concrete. The Skatepark Taskforce has
reiterated the fact that the Tannery Skatepark was always intended to be temporary in
nature until a concrete skatepark could be constructed.

The NCLM will insure the temporary skatepark if all of their punch-list items, dated July 23,
2019, are completed and upon passing a final inspection by NCLM and the Transylvania
County Inspections Department. As a condition, NCLM will do frequent inspections of the
facility to ensure its compliance as an insurable structure. The City will have to do
frequent, perhaps as often as daily, inspections of the ramps to ensure their integrity and
safety.
Staff has drafted a “Letter of Understanding” between the City of Brevard and the
Skatepark Taskforce dated December 18, 2019 (see Attachment B). The document
specifies the responsibilities of each party in order to perform the necessary repairs for
opening, and to maintain it to an insurable condition. The document was provided to the
Skatepark Taskforce on December 18, 2019, but has not yet been executed.

On November 20, 2019, the Parks and Trails Committee unanimously passed a three-part
motion to:

Page 362 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

1. Instruct Staff to work with NCLM to refine their punch list, remove perimeter fence as

a requirement, and request a re-inspection to open facility as temporary until a
concrete skatepark opens.
2. City pursues a concrete skate facility to be built by a design/build contractor at the
Sports Complex.
3. Recommend to the Pisgah Health Foundation to consider small skate ramp
amenities along the multi-use path at their proposed 12-acre community park
adjacent to the Transylvania Regional Hospital.

At the following meeting, on December 18, 2019, the Parks and Trails Committee
unanimously approved another three-part motion to:
1. Proceed with the temporary skatepark facility.
2. Get the punch list taken care of by the Skatepark Task Force
3. The City do the additional concrete and provide the sign.

Staff has been consulting with Pillar Design Studios, LLC on building a concrete skatepark.
Public input from the skating community is recommended and offered as part of their
services and should be done prior to deciding on a particular skatepark design. Pillar
Design Studios would base their conceptual designs on a fixed budget. The size and design
of a custom skatepark depends on in-kind donations, which is part of their provided
services. Based on their experience, Pillar Design Studios is reasonably sure that a custom,
mix-terrain concrete skatepark of around 2,500 sq. feet can be built for $75,000 - $100,000
at a suitable location in Brevard, which is $30 to $40 per square foot. However, in-kind
donations can reduce the cost even further allowing the City to build a larger skatepark
with more features depending on the partnerships we form. (See Attachment C In-Kind
Donations)
Roanoke Rapids, NC had a budget of $150,000 and wanted a large, quality skatepark. They
worked with Pillar Design Studios on in-kind donations to build a 8,000 square foot
skatepark for $16.67 per square foot. In their case, the Public Works Department offset
much of the cost by providing labor during construction, such as rough/fine grading,
importing fill material and installing storm drain infrastructure and more.

Rodanthe, NC had a budget of $300,000 and built a 7,500 square foot skatepark. They had
unique conditions and requests. Their skatepark location had a high-water table and
historic gravestones from the 1800’s. They also wanted the vertical back of a large skating
feature to face the community open space so it could double as a movie screen to show
skate videos and movies to be played for their community. Rodanthe did not have as many
in-kind donations, but used alternate materials such as EPS Foam, which is an expanded
polystyrene insulation which reduced weight and cost without compromising quality.
(Additional examples included as Attachment D)
Staff has been studying the Brevard Sports Complex, on Ecusta Road, as an alternate
location for a permanent concrete skatepark, which appears to have more favorable soil
conditions than Tannery Park. Based on studies by the geotechnical engineering firm
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S&ME, Tannery Park has wet soil with heavy organic matter and poor compaction. There is
also floodplain, wetlands and an Environment Management Plan due to lead and arsenic
contamination on the property. The Sports Complex is a successful public park with five
baseball/softball fields and one soccer field. It has a parking lot and public restrooms.
There is no known soil contamination or special flood hazard areas at the chosen locations.

There are three potential locations at the Sports Complex suitable for a skatepark (see
Attachment E). The largest area is labeled “A”, and is approximately 18,470 square feet and
is located off the parking lot. Area “B” is about 8,960 square feet and area “C” is 13,750
square feet. There is a 10-foot-wide asphalt path connecting areas B and C. One idea is to
consider a 3-phase progressive skatepark system. Each phase would be connected by a
skating path and/or greenway trail. A multiphase development would allow the City to
open the largest phase first, but plan for future expansion based on a growing interest from
the community and would allow the City to spread the cost out over time.
Policy Analysis
The City’s 2015 Comprehensive Plan recognizes the need for additional trails and
pedestrian amenities throughout the community. Specifically, within Element 4: Livable
Communities:

Objective 4.3: Creation of new opportunities for citizens and visitors to experience
recreation and nature.
Policy 4.3.A: Expand the City’s greenway system to connect with the French
Broad River, Davidson River, Kings Creek, and other mountain streams that
travel through Brevard.
Policy 4.3.F: See opportunities to create additional connections with Pisgah
National Forest.
Policy 4.3.G: Create small parks within neighborhoods that provide all citizens
opportunities to connect with and experience the natural world.
Recommendations
Staff recommends instructing Staff to repair the Tannery Skatepark for a temporary
opening while hiring Pillar Design Studios to design and build a new, permanent concrete
skatepark at the Brevard Sports Complex.

Fiscal Impact
Staff requests a budget of $20,000 to expand the concrete pad at the Tannery Park and to
pave a handicap accessible sidewalk and ramp. The handicap parking and all of the
concrete at Tannery Park can be repurposed for a passive recreational park once the
temporary skatepark is no longer needed.
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Staff requests that Council authorize Staff to prepare a budget amendment for $100,000 to
design and build a concrete skatepark at the Sports Complex. Pillar Design Studio will
handle getting public input from the skating community on the design and features of the
skatepark.
Attachments
A. Resolution 2018-23
B. Letter of Understanding
C. In-Kind Donations Explanation
D. Park Examples
E. Map of Possible Locations at Sports Complex
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Attachment B

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING
BETWEEN
Brevard Skatepark Taskforce
And
City of Brevard
Presented on the 18th day of December, 2019 at the Parks & Trails Committee meeting.
The following agreement between the Brevard Skatepark Taskforce and the City of Brevard to facilitate
the expeditious opening of the Tannery Skatepark located at 200 Silversteen Drive.
The following conditions have been agreed upon:
The Brevard Skatepark Taskforce:
1. Agrees to complete the construction of, and any modifications to, the temporary skatepark
structure except for those items the City has agreed to complete, which are specified in this
document, to a level where it will pass final inspection by the Transylvania County Inspections
Department. The Transylvania County Inspections Department must actually final the permit.
2. Agrees to complete the construction of, and any modifications to, the temporary skatepark
structure, except for those items the City has agreed to complete, which are specified in this
document, to a level that shall pass final inspection by the North Carolina League of
Municipalities thereby making it insurable for the City of Brevard. NCLM must actually insure
the facility.
3. Agrees to pay for said punch list repairs and present a completed temporary skatepark structure
to the City of Brevard for acceptance and dedication.
4. Agrees to guarantee the structural integrity of the temporary skatepark structure by agreeing to
make any structural repairs to the internal framing, unsafe handrails due to workmanship, and
the skating surface due to original installation workmanship while the temporary skatepark
structure is in operation, not to exceed one year from the time of opening. Failure to make such
repairs will result in the closing of the skatepark until such time the temporary structure can be
made safe for public use.
The City of Brevard:
1. Agrees to install concrete pads on either end of the half pipes, to the satisfaction of NCLM,
providing 10 feet of clearance for skaters to exit ramps and avoid collision.
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Page 2 - Letter of Understanding
Brevard Skatepark Taskforce
2. Agrees to make a parking space and route of travel to the skatepark structure wheelchair
accessible.
3. Agrees to provide all signage as required by NCLM.
4. Agrees to work with the skatepark taskforce to obtain the names of all donors who shall be
recognized on a sign or placard and install such signage at the skatepark.
5. Agrees to accept the dedication and shall open the Tannery Skatepark upon completion of all
punch list items and repairs with confirmation that it is insured through NCLM as a temporary
facility.
6. Agrees to pursue the approval for and completion of a permanent concrete skatepark on City
parkland.
7. Agrees to close the temporary skatepark when a permanent skatepark is open, or after one
year, whichever shall come first, due to the temporary nature of the structure with increased
risk of injury and maintenance costs over time.
8. Agrees to perform regular maintenance and upkeep on the temporary skatepark structure while
it is open to the public and keep a maintenance journal as required by NCLM.
The execution of this document binds the parties to the agreement as stated above. This is _______ day
of December, 2019.
Brevard Skatepark Taskforce
By:________________________________(SEAL) Date______
Jacob Dinkins
By:________________________________(SEAL) Date______
Geraldine Dinkins
By:________________________________(SEAL) Date ______
Kevin Smith
By:________________________________(SEAL) Date ______
George Peterson
City of Brevard
By:__________________________________(SEAL) Date______
James R. Fatland, City Manager
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Attachment C

IN-KIND DONATION ALLOCATION
We have an exceptional track record when it comes to cost estimating and value engineering. All design
staff are educated on the proper construction techniques and standards as well as have hands on
experience in Skatepark Construction. Before finalizing the final design, we make certain we will meet
the project budget without any change orders. Our past experience not only provides examples of cost
control, but we have also developed many programs that can dramatically reduce the overall
construction cost and or add Skate-able square footage without any additional cost to for our Clients.
We use the given site to the project advantage, maximizing skate-able square footage and minimizing
cost. For example, in Enfield, CT – the given site for the Green Manor Skatepark was located on an old
handball court. Instead of demoing the concrete wall, we incorporated that element into the design. In
Raleigh, NC – the Geo-Technical report showed copious amounts of granite throughout the site. Instead
of removing the granite from site which would have been very costly, our team incorporate them into
the final design –showing homage to the local area.
Our team has extensive experience in working with in-kind donations, we have completed over 30.
Skateparks using our in-kind donation allocation program. We work with our clients, the local
community and business owners and incorporate in-kind donations. These donations can be in the form
of funds, services, materials or even discounts. We provide all the necessary information to our clients
and aid them during this step of the project. Then after all in-kind donations are received, we work that
cost out of the total project budget. This enables our clients to get a larger park, incorporate materials,
colors etc. that wouldn’t have been possible with their original budget. We are happy to discuss in-kind
donation allocation further, please feel free to reach out with any questions.
Bar Harbor, ME Size: 4,000 sq. ft. Budget: $65,000 Value: $120,000
MDI Skatepark, Bar Harbor, ME - Katie Churchill, Skate Committee
P] 207.664.3016, knc@myfairpoint.net
Saranac Lake, NY Size: 5,000 sq. ft. Budget: $143,000
Value: $280,000
Saranac Lake Skatepark, Saranac Lake, NC – Rich Shapiro, Skate Advocate
P] 518.891.1869, rich@gtgtandems.com
Roanoke Rapids, NC
Size: 8,000 sq.ft. Budget: $150,000
Value: $320,000
Roanoke Rapids Skatepark, Roanoke Rapids, NC - John Simeon, Director of Parks
P] 252.533.2847, jsimeon@roanokerapidsnc.com
Nashua, NH
Size: 20,000 sq. ft.
Budget: $550,000
Value: $880,000
David W. Deane Skatepark, Nashua, NH - Thomas Galligani, Jr., Economic Development Director
P] 603.589.3260, galliganit@nashuanh.gov

Feel free to contact Nicole Licari Robertson at nicole@pillardesignstudios.com for more information.

Page 370 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Attachment D

Page 371 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 372 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 373 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 374 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 375 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 376 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 377 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 378 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 379 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Attachment E

"
 TRGU

#

$

 TRGU
 TRGU

Page 380 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

STAFF REPORT
City Council, Tuesday, January 21, 2020
Title:

Robinson Junk Vehicle Appeal

Speaker:

Paul C. Ray, CZO, Planning Director

From:
Prepared by:
Approved by:

Paul Ray, CZO, Planning Director
Paul Ray, CZO, Planning Director
Jim Fatland, City Manager

Background
On December 12, 2019, the City of Brevard’s Planning Director posted a pre-towing notice
sticker on two vehicles parked on private property located at 106 Carver Street. The
vehicles met the definition of “junked motor vehicles” as defined by Chapter 38, Division 5
of the City’s Code of Ordinance because they did not display a valid licenses plate and they
appeared to be non-operational with flat tires and heavy debris. The owner of the vehicles,
William W. Robinson III, has filed a written appeal (Attachment A) under Section 38-156(b)
disputing the vehicles are “junk motor vehicles,” and/or requesting an extension of time.

Discussion
Staff responded to a citizen’s complaint about numerous “junk vehicles” at various
locations on Carver Street and Mills Avenue. Staff tagged a dozen vehicles in total that day
on properties along the two streets. The vehicles belonging to Mr. Robinson are located at
106 Carver Street, a vacant house belonging to Mr. Robinson’s Grandmother. One of the
vehicles is a red and white, late model Ford F-150 with an expired license plate, number
RVW-4636. The second vehicle is a late model, gold colored Chevrolet Corvette with an
expired license plate, number WNC-5013. According to the Brevard Police Department,
both license plates and vehicle identification numbers were too old to be in the North
Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles central database, so registered owner information
was unobtainable.

The notification requirements in Section 38-156(a) of the Code of Ordinance were properly
followed by Staff. An orange pre-towing sticker was fastened to both vehicles, and a PreTowing Notice, (Attachment B) was mailed to the property owner of record, Lloyd Klonda
& Frances L. Robinson. The notice was sent by First Class and Certified U.S. Mail to 1346
Everett Road, Pisgah Forest, NC 28768.
On December 9, 2019, William Robinson called Staff to discuss the subject vehicles on his
Grandmother’s property. Mr. Robinson told Paul Ray, the Planning Director, that both
vehicles have not run in some time and are not currently registered with the DMV. Mr.
Robinson further explained that he does not have room for extra vehicles at his residence
on Everett Road and would like to defer this matter to the end of April. The Planning
Director denied his request believing it to be an excessive amount of time for removing two
Page 381 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

vehicles, and after determining that the aesthetic benefits of removing these vehicles does
not outweigh the burdens imposed on the private property owner.

Policy Analysis
Section 38-152 “Junked Motor Vehicle.” As authorized and defined in G.S. 160A-303.2, the
term "junked motor vehicle" means a vehicle that does not display a current license plate
lawfully upon that vehicle and that: (1) Is partially dismantled or wrecked; (2) Cannot be
self-propelled or moved in the manner in which it originally was intended to move; or (3)
Is more than five years old and appears to be worth less than $100.00.
Section 38-155(a) of the Code of Ordinance states: “It shall be unlawful for the registered
owner or person entitled to the possession of a junked motor vehicle, or for the owner,
lessee or occupant of the real property upon which a junked motor vehicle is located, to
leave or allow the vehicle to remain on the property after the vehicle has been ordered
removed.

Section 38-155(b) of the Code of Ordinance states: “The city zoning administrator may
order the removal of a junked motor vehicle as defined in this division after finding in
writing that the aesthetic benefits of removing the vehicle outweigh the burdens imposed
on the private property owner. Such finding shall be based on a balancing of the monetary
loss of the apparent owner against the corresponding gain to the public by promoting or
enhancing community, neighborhood or area appearance. The following, among other
relevant factors, may be considered: (1) Protection of property values; (2) Promotion of
tourism and other economic development opportunities; (3) Indirect protection of public
health and safety; (4) Preservation of the character and integrity of the community; and (5)
Promotion of the comfort, happiness and emotional stability of area residents.
Recommendations
Staff recommends City Council find the Ford F-150 and the Chevrolet Corvette to be
“junked motor vehicles” as defined by ordinance, and order Staff to cause the removal of
said vehicles as authorized in Section 38-158 of the Code of Ordinance. City Council may
consider the owners request to defer the removal of the vehicles to a later date.
Fiscal Impact
None

Attachments
A. Written Appeal
B. Pre-Towing Notice
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Attachment A

December 10, 2019
Mr. Paul Ray
City of Brevard
95 W. Main Street
Brevard, NC 28712
The reason for this letter is to dispute the claim that the two vehicles that I currently have
parked at 106 Carver Street in Brevard are abandoned or junk vehicles, and I would like to
appeal the decision that they are junk and abandoned.
The two vehicles in question were recently transferred to me from my Mother's estate which was
recently closed over the summer, and the property where the vehicles are currently located is my
Grandmother's house who is currently in an assisted living facility. Dealing with my Mom's final
affairs and the responsibility of my Grandmother's business now; in addition, to being enrolled in
Real Estate school over the summer and getting prepared for the current tax year I just ran out of
time and had little money to do anything with the vehicles.
Start of tax season for me is January 6, 2020 with tax season ending on April 15, 2020 and
somewhere in between this time frame I will be starting as a Real Estate broker. So, looks like I
have another busy year ahead of me. If the appeal process turns out to be unsuccessful I would
like to ask for the end of tax season to give me time to sale the corvette and time to save some
funds for the truck to be fixed. During this time I am happy to do anything to quiet the
complaints of the disgruntled neighbor who is the source of the complaint that was filed.
Sincerely,

William W. Robinson III
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PRE-TOWING NOTICE
DATE: 12/06/2019
LOCATION: 106 CARVER ST
COMPLIANCE DATE: 2019-12-12
DEAR PROPERTY OWNER: Lloyd Klonda & Robinson Frances L
ADDRESS: 1346 Everett Road, Pisgah Forest, NC 28768
VEHICLE INFORMATION:
MAKE: Ford

MODEL: F150

YEAR: ????

VIN: 1FTFF14N1RNA38563

LICENSE: RVW-4636

REGISTERED OWNER: Unknown

VEHICLE COLOR: Red

ADDRESS: Unknown
VEHICLE INFORMATION:
MAKE: Chevrolet

MODEL: Corvette

YEAR: ????

VIN: 1G1YY078XG511249

LICENSE: WNC-5013

REGISTERED OWNER: Unknown

VEHICLE COLOR: Silver

ADDRESS: Unknown
The above described vehicle(s) has been determined by the City of Brevard Planning Department to be in violation of Chapter 38,
Division 5 of the City’s Code of Ordinances as an abandoned, junk and or nuisance motor vehicle. The city zoning administrator may
order the removal of an abandoned, nuisance or junked motor. It shall be unlawful for the registered owner or person entitled to
possession of a vehicle to cause or allow such vehicle to be abandoned (Sec. 38-153) or to allow a vehicle to remain on the property
after it has been declared a nuisance vehicle (Sec. 38-154) or a junked motor vehicle (Sec. 38-155) as the term is defined in this
division:
Abandoned Vehicle: As authorized and defined in G.S. 160A-303, an abandoned motor vehicle is one that: (1) Is left upon a public
street or highway in violation of a law or ordinance prohibiting parking; (2) Is left on a public street or highway for longer than seven
days; (3) Is left on property owned or operated by the city for longer than 24 hours; or (4) Is left on private property, without the
consent of the owner, occupant or lessee thereof, forlonger than two hours.
Junked Vehicle: As authorized and defined in G.S. 160A-303.2, the term "junked motor vehicle" means a vehicle that does not
display a current license plate lawfully upon that vehicle and that: (1) Is partially dismantled or wrecked; (2) Cannot be self-propelled
or moved in the manner in which it originally was intended to move; or (3) Is more than five years old and appears to be worth less
than $100.00.
Nuisance Vehicle: A vehicle on public or private property that is determined and declared to be a health or safety hazard, a public
nuisance, and unlawful, including a vehicle found to be: (1) A breeding ground or harbor for mosquitoes, other insects, rats or other
pests; (2) A point of heavy growth of weeds or other noxious vegetation over eight inches in height; (3) A point of collection of pools
or ponds of water; (4) A point of concentration of quantities of gasoline, oil or other flammable or explosive materials as evidenced by
odor; (5) One which has areas of confinement which cannot be operated from the inside, such as trunks, hoods, etc.; (6) So situated
or located that there is a danger of it falling or turning over (7) One which is a point of collection of garbage, food waste, animal
waste, or any other rotten or putrescible matter of any kind; (8) One which has sharp parts thereof which are jagged or contain sharp
edges of metal or glass; or (9) Any other vehicle specifically declared a health and safety hazard and a public nuisance by the city
council.
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IMPORTANT! Unless this vehicle is removed from the premises or brought into compliance by the seven (7) day “compliance date” listed above, the
vehicle may be towed and stored at the owner’s expense.To discuss this violation, you may contact the above-named official, before the compliance
date at (828) 885-5630.

RIGHT TO AN APPEAL
Sec. 38-156(b) Appeals.
With respect to abandoned vehicles on private property, nuisance vehicles and junked motor vehicles for which notice is required to be given, if the
registered owner or person entitled to possession does not remove the vehicle but chooses to appeal the determination that the vehicle is abandoned
or a nuisance vehicle or, in the case of a junked motor vehicle, that the aesthetic benefits of removing the vehicle outweigh the burdens, such appeal
shall be made to the city council in writing, and heard at the next regularly scheduled meeting of the city council, and further proceedings to remove
the vehicle shall be stayed until the appeal is heard and decided.
Photo Date: December 5, 2019
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STAFF REPORT
January 21, 2020 Council Meeting

Date:

January 13, 2020

Title:

Board Appointments
Council will consider making appointments to the ABC Board, Parks,
Trails and Recreation Committee and the Planning Board

Prepared by:

Jill Murray, City Clerk

Background / Discussion:
ABC Board – Currently the committee has one vacancy. Kevin Jones, Rachel Hall and J. Ron
Brener have submitted applications to be on the Board. If appointed, the appointee will be
replacing the unexpired term of Geraldine Dinkins and his/her term will expire in July, 2021.
Parks, Trails and Recreation Committee – Currently the committee has two vacancies. One is
for a Council Appointed Citizen Member and one is for a Council Appointed At-Large Member.
Howie Granat has submitted an application for a Citizen Member. If appointed, his term will
expire in May, 2021.
Planning Board – Currently the committee has one vacancy. Greg Hunter has submitted an
application to be on the Board. If appointed, he will be replacing the unexpired term of Keenan
Smith and his term will expire in September, 2021.
Fiscal Impact: None
Policy Impact: None
Staff Recommendation: Council consider appointments to the ABC Board, Parks, Trails and
Recreation Board and the Planning Board.

Page 386 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 387 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 388 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 389 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 390 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 391 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 392 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 393 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

Page 394 of 395

Agenda Packet-Brevard City Council Meeting

January 21, 2020

North Carolina General Statute 143-318.11 Closed Sessions.
(a) Permitted Purposes. – It is the Policy of the State that closed sessions shall be held
only when required to permit a public body to act in the public interest as permitted in
this section. A public body may hold a closed session and exclude the public only when
a closed session is required.
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